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Chairman’s statement
FEHRESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Litu Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to present to
you the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, the gross domestic product (GDP) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) increased by 5.2% compared
to the previous year, and was higher than the increase of 3.0%
in 2022 and the growth target of around 5.0% at the beginning
of the year. In 2023, the GDP per capita of the PRC reached
RMB89,358.

In 2023, PRC cigarette production increased by 0.44% year-
on-year. However, given the decrease in tendering price under
the mandatory tendering policy in effect for the cigarette
industry and the increase in raw material prices, the Group
was subject to considerable operating pressure under
intensifying industry competition. Since December 2020, the
unsuccessful bid in the tender of some customers for the
orders in the coming years has and is expected in the coming
years to have an adverse financial impact on the overall
revenue and profitability of the Group. Total revenue from
continuing operation of the Group decreased by 22.8% from
approximately HK$928.5 million in 2022 to approximately
HK$716.7 million in 2023.

Under the pressure of the fall of tender prices, the Group has
implemented a series of measures in order to cope with the
challenges to the profitability of the Group. The measures
included simplifying the management structure in order to
increase the efficiency of decision making to match with the
fast changing market demand, enhancing the inventory
management to control the inventory at an appropriate level
and implementing tendering system for the purchase of raw
materials to increase the bargaining power on the purchase
price in order to reduce and control the purchase cost.
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Chairman’s statement

EFRHEE

In addition, in order to meet the increasingly stringent
environmental protection requirements and to improve
production efficiency, the Group focused its resources and
productions on Bengbu Jinhuangshan Rotogravure Printing
Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
established in the PRC, to achieve centralised management
and production. The Board believes that the centralisation of
production line of the Group would allow improved cost
control and production efficiency, as well as reduced
administrative burden on the Group to comply with the
environmental protection requirements across different
production subsidiaries and therefore improving the return for
the shareholders of the Company.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$163.9 million, as compared to
the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$6.2 million in 2022. Basic losses per share
was approximately HK16.3 cents (2022: basic earnings per
share was approximately HKO.4 cents).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK4
cents per share).

PROSPECTS

With the further relaxation of COVID-19 control policies in the
PRC in December 2022 and the orderly issue of various
policies and measures to help PRC’s economy to stabilise and
recover in 2023, the global economy and the PRC’s economic
outlook remain uncertain due to global inflation, intensifying
competition between the United States and the PRC on
various fronts, the downturn of the property market in the
PRC, the ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine and the
uncertainty of the impact of the monetary policies of the U.S.
Federal Reserve, all of which might have had an adverse effect
on the PRC’s economy and the Group’s operating
environment in 2024.
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Chairman’s statement
FEHRESE

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to rely on paper
packaging as a solid foundation for the Group’s development
and seek to maximising income from investment properties.
The Group will continue to increase its participation in tenders,
while actively expanding into other packaging markets, and will
continue to reduce the pressure of decreasing gross profit
through measures such as cost control, efficiency boosting
and resource consolidation.

The Group’s corporate mission is to continue to develop ways
to improve financial performance, provide growth drivers for
the Group and broaden revenue streams within acceptable
risk levels.

The Group will continue to optimise its asset portfolio and
focus on developing core businesses through disposal of non-
core assets and businesses. The Group will also continue to
explore the possibility of acquisition of new investment,
disposal of subsidiary or associate or diversification into other
profitable businesses in the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, with a view to achieving sustainable
growth, improving profitability and ultimately maximising
returns for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would also like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of
the Group for their efforts and contributions, and all our
shareholders and partners for their support.

Huang Wanru
Chairman
28 March 2024
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Management discussion and analysis

SRR

REVENUE

The Group recorded revenue from continuing operation of
approximately HK$716.7 million in 2023, representing a
decrease of 22.8% as compared to approximately HK$928.5
million in 2022. The revenue from continuing operation was
generated from two business segments: (i) the printing and
manufacturing of paper packages and related materials of
approximately HK$683.6 million (2022: HK$890.6 million) and
(i) leasing of investment properties of approximately HK$33.1
million (2022: HK$37.9 million). The revenue from the printing
and manufacturing of paper packages and related materials
segment accounted for approximately 95.4% of the total
revenue for 2023 (2022: 95.9%). The decrease in total revenue
from continuing operation was mainly attributable to the
decrease in business volume of printing and manufacturing of
paper packages and related materials as a result of the failure
of one of the subsidiaries of the Company to bid its tender for
orders from some of its major customers. In addition, the
depreciation of average rate of RMB against HKD of roughly
4.8% comparing with the corresponding period of 2022 has
increased such downside effect.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit from continuing operation increased by 27.6%
from approximately HK$99.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$127.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The increase of gross profit
margin was mainly due to the decrease of amortization of
intangible assets of approximately HK$22.4 million and the
improvement of cost control and production efficiency through
the centralization of production line of the Group.

OTHER INCOME

Other income from continuing operation decreased by 29.3%
from approximately HK$32.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$23.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in various government grants by approximately
HK$13.9 million.
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Management discussion and analysis

EEENmE DN

OTHER NET GAINS AND LOSSES

Other losses from continuing operations for the year ended
31 December 2023 was HK$167.5 million when compared
with other gains of HK$15.9 million for the corresponding year
in 2022. The losses were mainly attributable to the recognition
of impairment losses on interest in an associate of
approximately HK$66.4 million and impairment losses on
goodwill of approximately HK$84.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised
impairment losses on goodwill of approximately HK$92.7
million (HK$84.6 million for continuing operations and HK$8.1
million for discontinued operations) for various cash-generating
units as their recoverable amount was lesser than the carrying
amount. The recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023 is
decreased due to the downturn and restructuring of business
of the related subsidiaries and taking into account the
consideration in the disposal agreement entered into by the
Group for the disposal of Jiangsu HY Link Science &
Technology Co., Ltd. (T & BB FEHE AR A R]) (“Jiangsu
HY Link”). For the details of the disposal of Jiangsu HY Link,
please refer to the page 15 of this annual report.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses from continuing
operations decreased by 22.4% from approximately HK$22.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$17.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 which
was primarily attributable to reduction of transportation
expenses and entertainment expenses.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses from continuing operations
decreased by 36.0% from approximately HK$109.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$70.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
salaries and other benefits, contractual termination benefit and
legal and professional fee.
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Management discussion and analysis

SRR

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs from continuing operations decreased by
57.7% from approximately HK$10.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$4.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The decrease was mainly due to decrease in the average bank
borrowings rate and average bank borrowings balance in
2023. The Group has early repaid its bank borrowing
denominated in HK$ with floating borrowing rate in February
2023 and has implemented plans to improve its bank loan
portfolio by the replacement of existing facilities with new bank
loan with lower interest rate.

SHARE OF RESULT OF ASSOCIATES

The share of result of associates turned from share of profits of
approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to share of losses of approximately HK$30.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 due to the deterioration in
profitability of the Group’s major associate namely Changde
Gold Roc Printing Co., Ltd. (“Changde Gold Roc”). Changde
Gold Roc is principally engaged in the provision of cigarette
printing package services. The Group beneficially owns
RMB50,546,120 of its paid up capital, representing 31% of
the total paid up capital of RMB163,052,000. The carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Changde Gold Roc was
approximately HK$182.5 million as at 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately HK$335.5 million). The decrease in
carrying amount was mainly due to the net effect of the Group
receiving dividend of approximately HK$39.7 million (2022:
HK$87.1 million) from Changde Gold Roc, the depreciation of
the closing rate of RMB against HKD of roughly 2.8%
comparing with the corresponding period of 2022 and the
deterioration of operation results of Changde Gold Roc and
impairment loss of approximately HK$66.4 million.
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Management discussion and analysis

EEENmE DN

The Group’s investment in Changde Gold Roc was first
acquired with the investment objectives of stable earnings and
dividend income in view of its stable business with the local
customers. However, taking into consideration the continuingly
dwindling financial performance of the Changde Gold Roc and
after reviewing its business and operation status, including the
operation duration up to 27 April 2024, the Board considered
that it would be appropriate for the Group to consider
divestment before the further decline of the operation results of
the Changde Gold Roc and the expiry of its operation duration.
In view of this, the Group has entered into a framework
agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) effective on
28 December 2023 to dispose of all the equity interests held
by the Group in Changde Gold Roc to the existing shareholder
holding approximately 69% of the entire equity interests of
Changde Gold Roc (the “Disposal”). Details of the Framework
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 28 December 2023. The parties to the Framework
Agreement are in the process of negotiating the terms of the
Disposal and the Company will make further announcement(s)
as and when appropriate if there is any development regarding
the potential Disposal.

Save for Changde Gold Roc, there were no significant
investments held by the Group with a value of 5% or more of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.

TAXATION

The taxation from continuing operations increased by 89.3%
from approximately HK$8.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$16.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The increase of taxation was
mainly due to the increase of profit from the major subsidiary
and the absence of one time preferential tax policy for the tax
credit of the newly purchased machineries.
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Management discussion and analysis

SRR

LOSS/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$163.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, as compared to the profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$6.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was primarily
attributable to: (i) the decline in share of result of an associate
of approximately HK$32.0 million; (i) the recognition of
impairment loss on interest in an associate of approximately
HK$66.4 million; and (i) the recognition of impairment loss on
goodwill of approximately HK$92.7 million.

OTHER PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The following table sets forth other performance indicators of
the Group as at the dates or for the years indicated:

AR AREFERSE EF

BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HLFE 'K
N A A A FEAS B 18 49 /& 163,900,000 7
T MBE_E-_—_F+-A=+—HIF
ERIAARRRHEA AL EFI# 6,200,000
BT

RARIHEBABEBEEEZESRR : ()oh—
fEIHE & A~ |) ZE 48R 4 %9 32,000,000 7 7T (i)
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66,400,000 7T : K (i) R B E & B
#792,700,00078 7T °

HinEM =R
TREFIAEBRAUR B R F B R4S

MIEHR

As at or for the year ended
31 December

R+t=—A=+—A8A=

BZEZALFE

2023 2022
=l — = S =

Current Ratio (Note 1) TRENLE R (BIaE1) 2.2 times 1.5 times
2.21% 1.515
Quick Ratio (Note 2) RB)L R (KIFE2) 2.0 times 1.3 times
2.01% 1.31&
Return on equity (Note 3) e NEEE( ) -7.2% 0.2%
Return on total assets (Note 4) REERWE (H:E4) -5.5% 0.2%

Notes:

(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets of the Group
divided by total current liabilities of the Group as at the end of the
respective year.

2) Quick ratio is calculated based on total current assets of the Group less
inventories of the Group divided by total current liabilities of the Group
as at the end of the respective year.

©)) Return on equity is calculated by dividing profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year by the arithmetic mean of the opening and
closing balance of total equity attributable to owners of the Company.

(4) Return on total assets is calculated by dividing profit attributable to

owners of the Company for the year by the arithmetic mean of the
opening and closing balance of total assets of the Group.
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Management discussion and analysis

EEENmE DN

Current ratio and quick ratio

The Group’s current ratio and quick ratio as at 31 December
2023 improved and were at 2.2 times (2022: 1.5 times) and
2.0 times (2022: 1.3 times), respectively.

Return on equity and return on total assets

The Group’s return on equity decreased from 0.2% in 2022 to
-7.2% in 20283. The Group’s return on total assets decreased
from 0.2% in 2022 to -5.5% in 2023. The decrease of the
Group’s return on equity was primarily due to the occurrence
of the loss attributable to owners of the Company for 2023 as
compared to that of profit attributable to owners of the
Company for 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial position remains solid and the Group
possessed sufficient cash to meet its commitments and
working capital requirements. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$577.7
million (2022: approximately HK$321.1 million) of which bank
balances and cash were approximately HK$345.8 million
(2022: approximately HK$313.3 million) and were
denominated in RMB, US$, GBP and HK$ as at 31 December
2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding bank
borrowings of approximately HK$131.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$266.6 million). The Group is with net cash
of approximately HK$236.1 million (2022: approximately
HK$137.9 million). The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023
was —10.9% (2022: -5.6%), which is calculated by dividing the
net cash by the total equity. For the details of the calculation,
please refer to the page 203 of this annual report. No financial
instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were there
any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments during the year.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits with gross carrying
amounts of approximately HK$21.8 million (31 December
2022: HK$104.5 million) were pledged to banks for bank
facilities of bills payables granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank loan facilities granted to
the Group were secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying value of approximately HK$177.6
million, investment properties with carrying value of
approximately HK$37.8 million and corporate guarantee
issued by the Company and certain subsidiaries (2022:
property, plant and equipment with carrying value of
approximately HK$147.2 million, investment properties with
carrying value of approximately HK$77.4 million and corporate
guarantee issued by the Company).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provided a corporate
guarantee to a bank for banking facilities granted to a third
party in the amount of approximately HK$11.0 million
(81 December 2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitment
amounted to approximately HK$39.6 million (31 December
2022: approximately HK$7.4 million) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated financial statements and was
mainly related to the development of industrial park.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year of 2023. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its existing customers from time to time. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIALS INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save for Changde Gold Roc, the particulars of which are
disclosed in the above section headed “Share of result of
associates”, and as disclosed below, there were no significant
investments representing more than 5% of the total assets of
the Group held, and no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 29 May 2023, Right Tech (China) Limited, being a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as the vendor entered into
a disposal agreement with Changsha Yingxin Semitech Limited
as the purchaser and Jiangsu HY Link Science & Technology
Co., Ltd.# (/L & Bt 18 ¥ F B £ B R 2 7)) (the “Disposal
Company”), a company established in the PRC and a
70%-owned subsidiary of the Company prior to completion, in
relation to the disposal of the 70% of the equity interest in the
Disposal Company at the cash consideration of RMB51.1
million. Upon completion of the disposal, the Company will
cease to have any interest in the Disposal Company and the
Disposal Company will cease to be a subsidiary of the
Company. Details of the disposal are set out in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 29 May
2023 and 26 July 2023 respectively. As at the date of this
report, the disposal has not yet been completed.

As disclosed in the above section headed “Share of result of
associates”, the Group has entered into the Framework
Agreement effective on 28 December 2023 to dispose of all
the equity interests held by the Group in Changde Gold Roc to
the existing shareholder holding approximately 69% of the
entire equity interests of Changde Gold Roc. Taking into
consideration the continuingly dwindling financial performance
of the Changde Gold Roc and after reviewing its business and
operation status, including the operation duration up to
27 April 2024, the Board considered that it would be
appropriate for the Group to proceed with the Disposal before
the further decline of the operation results of the Changde
Gold Roc and the expiry of its operation duration.
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The Framework Agreement forms the basis of the Disposal
between the Group and the purchaser, and the entering into of
any definitive sale and purchase agreement is subject to further
negotiations between the Group and the purchaser. The
transactions contemplated under the definitive sale and purchase
agreement, if materialised, is expected to constitute a notifiable
transaction for the Company under the Rules Governing the
Listing of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Further announcement(s) will be
made by the Company to comply with the applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules as and when necessary.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no plan authorised
by the Board for other material investments or additions of
capital assets as at the date of this report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 582 employees
(2022: 663). The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$84.8 million (2022: approximately HK$127.3 million). The
Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual merits. The Group
participates in a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ base
salaries. The Group also made contributions to provident
funds, elderly insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance and work-related injury insurance in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the future development of the Group’s
business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 5 to 7 of this annual report. Financial and
business performance analysis is disclosed in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to
16. The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the Group’s
results and business can be found in notes 4, 38 to 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The PRC cigarette industry is closely monitored and controlled
by the PRC government and our customers are concentrated
on a limited number of state-owned cigarette manufacturers.
The Group’s success depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise shareholders, regulators,
customers, employees, local communities and business
partners etc. and we have maintained good and strong
business relationship with our customers through joint venture
and other co-operations. During the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, we have
complied with all the relevant rules, laws and regulations in the
PRC that have a significant impact on the Group. Further
details about the environmental and social responsibility will be
published in separate report to be uploaded on the websites
of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 66 to 67. The
Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK4 cents per
share).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 66.7% of the Group’s
total revenue and sales to the Group’s largest customer was
approximately 48.2% of the Group’s total revenue. During the
year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 29.3% of the
Group’s total purchases, and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier was approximately 10.5% of the
Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$6,222.3 million.
Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. Details of the
movements in reserves of the Group and the Company are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to its shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the last
five financial years and of its consolidated assets and liabilities
as at the end of the last five financial years is set out on pages
229 to 230.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 March 2009, the shareholders of the Company had
approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which was expired on 3 March 2019.

No option under the Share Option Scheme has been granted
by the Board and there was no outstanding option.
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ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the date of this
report are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group has not made charitable and other
donations (2022: HK$0.018 million).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a provident fund scheme as defined
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme was a defined contribution scheme and the
assets of the MPF Scheme were managed by a trustee.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 64
and with at least 60 days of service under the employment of
the Group in Hong Kong. Contributions were made by the
Group at 5% based on the staff’s relevant income. The
maximum relevant income for contribution purpose is
HK$30,000 per month. Staff members were entitled to 100%
of the Group’s contributions together with accrued returns
irrespective of their length of service with the Group, but the
benefits were required by law to be preserved until the
retirement age of 65. No forfeited contributions are available to
offset future employers’ contributions under the MPF Scheme.
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The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to
fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all
existing and future retired employees of these subsidiaries.
The only obligation of these subsidiaries with respect to the
central pension scheme are to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

The Group’s cost for the schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$5.0 million (2022: HK$7.0 million).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Huang Wanru
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu
(resigned with effective from 29 January 2024)
Mr. Deng Wei Chao
(appointed with effective from 29 January 2024 and
resigned with effect from 16 April 2024)
Ms. Chen Lin Lin Caddie
(appointed with effect from 16 April 2024)

Non-Executive Director:
Ms. Li Li

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy

Mr. Lui Tin Nang

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Every newly appointed director of the Company will receive a
briefing by a qualified professional on the general and specific
duties of a director under legal and regulatory requirements.
Mr. Deng Wei Chao and Ms. Chen Lin Lin Caddie obtained the
legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on
29 January 2024 and 10 April 2024, respectively. Each of Mr.
Deng Wei Chao and Ms. Chen Lin Lin Caddie has confirmed
that he/she understood his/her obligations as a director of the
Company.
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According to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at the annual general meeting of
the Company but shall then be eligible for re-election.
According to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting.

Details of the Directors subject to rotation and re-election are
contained in the circular despatched together with this annual
report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the Board currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of
the Board. Pursuant to paragraph 12B of Appendix D2 of the
Listing Rules, each of the independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed by annual confirmation that he has complied
with the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all three
independent non-executive Directors are independent under
these independence criteria and are capable to effectively
exercise independent judgement.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 49 to 54.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Li Li has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
22 July 2021, and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party. Each of Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon has renewed their appointment for a
fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2021.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE HONG KONG
LISTING RULES

The Company has been informed by Mr. Siu Man Ho Simon,
an independent non-executive Director, that he has resigned
as an independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1706), with effect
from 25 August 2023.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
20283.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Details of the related party transactions entered into during the
year were disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements in which purchase of printing and packing
machineries was exempted continuing connected transaction
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, details of which are
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party
Transactions” below. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the above-mentioned transaction. Save as the
transactions aforementioned, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or in which a
Director, an entity connected with a Director or the controlling
shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year, and there was no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates, has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest
with the Group during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director and other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified by
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur in the execution and discharge of his or her duties
or in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and remained
in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has also taken out and maintained liability
insurance for Directors and officers throughout the year.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the following Directors or the chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”)) (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (i) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in the Listing Rules:

EERFTETHRAEREAQAFTRH
MBEENRG  HEROIES
B RS RX R
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HREEEPIEXVEE 7 R8N EEME AR
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25 352 & A R0 A 2 6 AT it & R0 it A A 25 380 0%
B SR ERE ETARIE LT A RE
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EARRNF R ZFTHER IR R

The Company XA F]
Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage
underlying of issued
Name of Director Capacity shares held Position share capital
P,/ HERTRAE
Esg 5% HEROHE #2 N d
Mr. Huang Wanru Beneficial owner 1,735,204 Long 0.11%
EHIMEE EnEBA e
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu Beneficial owner 2,000,000 Long 0.13%
BBt ExfEAA e
Ms. Li Li Interest of controlled corporation 250,551,964 Long 15.98%
FHRHE X AR R e
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, the following persons (not
being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed to have, interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2

TERROERR KR

BARAEEREBTRABHNM K2
—=E+=A=+—8 UFALQEEA
AREERFETRAR) WAL ARG
HEBIRR 5 R B SR A RIS A R
S IGEI5E XV BB 2 ]2 35 B EX AR AR E
HENRSLAE -

and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage of
underlying issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held Position capital
FrisRRen,/ HEBITRA
RREE BB g4 HEROBE #®=B BABEA
Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David Mete ) Interest of controlled 901,456,892 Long 57.50%
corporation
BRRERR S A4 (D Rt EE s )
Profitcharm Limited Mot 7 Beneficial owner 274,325,278  Long 17.50%
Bl AR AR MED BEREAA S5}
Sinorise International Limited Mete™ Beneficial owner 627,131,614 Long 40.00%
REBR AR AT HED BEREAA )
Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. Note2) Interest of controlled 250,551,964 Long 15.98%
corporation
RERKEREERRD BRAQ R HE2 Rzt EEE R o)
Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited Mete2 Beneficial owner 250,551,964 Long 15.98%
REBKMH (FH) BR QR =2 EREBA sy}
Tianjin Dehou Investment Interest of controlled 103,555,231 Long 6.60%

Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
Tianjin Dehou Investment
Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David (“Mr. Cai”) beneficially owns the entire share
capital of Profitcharm Limited and Sinorise International Limited. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Cai is deemed to be interested in a total of
901,456,892 shares held by Profitcharm Limited and Sinorise
International Limited.

2) Masterwork Group Co. Ltd. (“Masterwork”) beneficially owns the entire
share capital of Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited. By virtue of the
SFO, Masterwork is deemed to be interested in 250,551,964 shares
held by Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the “Purchase of printing and packing materials” and
“Disposal of printing and packaging machineries” during the
year as shown in note 43(a) to the consolidated financial
statements which constituted exempted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, all other related party transactions as shown in note 43
are not connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY FUND RAISING

There was no equity fund raising by the Company during the
year, nor were there any proceeds brought forward from any
issue of equity securities made in previous financial years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
section set out on pages 29 to 48.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 December 2023, there were revolving loan facilities
available to the Group from a bank in the aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$270.0 million. Under the terms of
these facilities (the availability of which are generally subject to
bank’s periodic review), the Company has undertaken, among
other matters, that Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David shall maintain at
least 50% beneficial shareholding interest in or remain as the
single largest shareholder of the Company at all times during
the life of the above banking facilities (the “Undertaking”). The
breach of such Undertaking may result in the loan becoming
immediately due and repayable.

AUDITOR

Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 17 August 2021 to fill
the vacancy arising from the resignation of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and audited the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023.

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the

Company. Save as disclosed, there was no other change of
auditor of the Company in the last three years.

On behalf of the Board
Litu Holdings Limited

Huang Wanru
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Corporate governance report
TPEERRETE

OVERVIEW

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as
to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company and considers that the Company’s corporate culture
is aligned. The Group is committed to investing in the cigarette
package printing industry, creating value for consumers, and
to delivering attractive and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing operating
environment, the Group places strong emphasis on workplace
safety, employee relations and the efficient use of materials,
energy and resources, promoting a culture of ethical conduct
and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is important to good
corporate governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable
long-term success of the Group.

The Company is committed to ensuring that its business affairs
and operations are conducted in accordance with its corporate
and governance culture and values of integrity, excellence,
teamwork, continuity and high ethical standards, which form a
coherent set of principles that are promoted across the
businesses of the Group. This reflects the corporate belief that,
it is imperative for a company to act with probity, transparency
and accountability in achieving excellence and sustainability in
its business. The Company strongly believes in its corporate
purpose, strategy and culture and strives to conduct its
business with these in mind while maximising shareholder
value in the long run.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of
corporate development’s impact on the environment and
society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and
reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance of the
Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular review
of the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered, among
others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of those relating
to Group’s ESG performance and reporting; (i) the changes,
since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of
significant ESG risks (if any); and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of ESG risks. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company has complied in general with the Code, except code
provisions B.2.4(b), C.1.6 and C.2.1 of the Code.

Under code provision B.2.4(b) of the Code, where all the
independent non-executive directors of an issuer have served
more than nine years on the board, the issuer should appoint
a new independent non-executive director on the board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Each of Mr. Lam Ying
Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon has
served as an independent non-executive Director for more
than 9 years. The Company considers that the diverse
background of the existing independent non-executive
Directors, their past or current positions and offices at other
companies and organisations as well as their ongoing
professional development and training would still enable them
to bring new independent ideas and perspectives to the Board
despite the length of their tenure. At the same time, the
Company is using its best endeavours to identify a suitable
candidate who have a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Company will make further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Under code provision C.1.6 of the Code, independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon (the chairman of nomination committee of the Company
and an independent non-executive Director) was unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
9 June 2023 due to his other business engagement.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Following
the resignation of Mr. Chen Xiao Liang as an executive
Director, chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 22 April 2022, Mr. Huang Wanru was re-
designated as the chairman of the Company in place of Mr.
Chen Xiao Liang on the same date, but the Company has not
yet appointed an individual to take up the vacancy of the chief
executive officer, and the roles and functions of the chief
executive officer have been performed by all the executive
Directors collectively since 22 April 2022.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TEER

ARAREHEMETRAMERC1E =25 AT
HEEERTA(FA)) - HEZZT==F
+ZA=+—RHIEFE ' AAR—REESF
PR MESFRIEB.2.4(D)  C.1.6 2C.2.1 1§
SFRIMESTER AN o

RIS RIS B.2.4(b) 5 5F AN - 37T A
MABBIFATESEESSERBBN
FoRABTAZREERRBEFRAG LZE
— BB IEMITERTMAEESE - MR
BREL - AREEERBEXRAEEHDEE
BIYFATESTEIF - ARRRAR - BF
RENEHRRE  ERABULIFRATEEN
ZHAEER WEBEFIBRENEM AR R
AR BRAL S BB TS - AR IR B R B
REIBIREREFDESESTSH ARG
VRUENEH o R AAREREEZAL
he BB ARRIEBAEHNRE &
BEEZTBRNEBIREA - KRAHR
BERRAITHER -

R ST RIS CA.6 15T AR - BILIFATT
EENEMIFNTESREFERERERRE @ X
HERRWERELH RENTH - BXF
EE(ARAIRABZE ST ERBIULIERT
EX)ABEMABRIEMARELEARART
RZZB_=ZFRANBRTHRRAFAK

= o
=

BIESFRIZE C.2.1 {&-FRAMEST « £ ERITH
BEMARESY  TEHE— AEE- £
fERATEREE 2 MR E 5 TREREE I
NEBERASL - BRREEER =T ==
FUNA-—+—HEBETIARTWTES * £
BERATHABEEGE  s80xERRBH
EAARRB)EFEARRERELE - AR
AMARZEERIA BT AT
THREZNACKEBEE T -__FWEA
Tt HEREEBRTEEERET -



Corporate governance report
TPEERRETE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities
transactions by Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries of all the Directors and all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall
business strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitoring the performance of the senior
management. The management is responsible for the daily
operations of the Group under the leadership of the Chief
Executive Officer. The Directors have the responsibility to act
objectively in the interests of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised six Directors,
including two executive Directors namely Mr. Huang Wanru
and Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu, one non-executive Director namely
Ms. Li Li, and three independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr.
Siu Man Ho, Simon. There is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship between any of the
Directors. The names and biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section entitled “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report.

In compliance of Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Board
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. Pursuant to
paragraph 12B of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules, each of
the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed by
annual confirmation that he has complied with the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Directors consider that all three independent non-
executive Directors are independent under these
independence criteria and are capable to effectively exercise
independent judgement. Amongst the three independent non-
executive Directors, both Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy and Mr.
Lui Tin Nang have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees including the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). Further details of these committees are set out
below.

BOARD MEETINGS

Six Board meetings were held during the year ended
31 December 2023. Ad-hoc meetings will also be convened if
necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of
Board meeting was sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior
to a regular board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given
to the Directors for ad-hoc board meetings. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of
communications.

All relevant materials were sent to all the Directors relating to
the matters brought before the meetings. All the Directors
have been provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors will
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. Details of individual attendance of the
Directors in Board meetings are set out in the table on page
39 of this annual report.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract or appointment letter with the Company for a specific
term of three years. All of their appointments are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.

All of the independent non-executive Directors and the non-
executive Director were appointed for a term of three years,
and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors is delegated to the Nomination
Committee but the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors of the Company rests with the entire
Board. In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, among other things, the following criteria will be
considered:

e  Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under
the board diversity policy that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or the
Board Committee(s).

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of directors and succession planning.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board will evaluate the
candidates based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidates are qualified for directorship. The
Nomination Committee will also consider recommendations for
candidates made by shareholders of the Company.
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Regular reviews will be conducted by the Nomination
Committee on the structure, size and composition of the
Board, the policy on nomination of Directors of the Company
and the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and
inputs are available to the Board and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee will make recommendations on
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and business needs.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Following
the resignation of Mr. Chen Xiao Liang as an executive
Director, chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 22 April 2022, Mr. Huang Wanru was re-
designed as the chairman of the Company in place of Mr.
Chen Xiao Liang on the same date, but the Company has not
yet appointed an individual to take up the vacancy of the chief
executive officer, and the roles and functions of the chief
executive officer have been performed by all the executive
Directors collectively since 22 April 2022.

Training for Directors

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments and changes to the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements and provides training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The
Company also provides Directors with monthly updates on the
performance, position and prospects of the Company.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has prepared a training
record in order to assist the Directors to record the training
undergone by each of them.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

REZEEKTHENESTSNRE BB
KRR AABESRABRANBERES
SAESEUEMLEROES  YEEE
BATMEERZEERIESTSEDIRLER
BiE - LR ARRMNEERBERERS

ERERITHAR

BIESFAIEC2.116 TR RITHBEDN A
BRESY - TEAR— AEE - £ERITE
B FANBES TREPET W IAEZER
A7 - BERRREER ST =-__FWA
T+ ZARBEARRRMITES - ERRIT
BR@BBEE  S80EERRBRAETAR
NRAEREABRRBRRRE AL - AR FH K
ZAIEPIATERBITRARNTE - 1THRAE
FZWACKkBEE T _—_FMHA=-+=H
BEHEEBNTESSRBRET -

B
AREERESREAR MR EM
EREERENSNEREN - WERHEAE
AR K R B S H) KA RE ° AR R]JR
RMESREREEAARRRE MR KATRE
FBHEHMEH -

AESBEF2NFEERER - IEEY
EREEHHBNRE - AREEHEHE
i U ESFTHEREFEBRINE

Al o



Corporate governance report
TPEERRETE

The company secretary reports from time to time the latest
changes and development of the Listing Rules and other
corporate governance requirements with written materials.
Individual Director had also attended seminars and/or
conferences or workshops or forums relevant to his profession
and duties as directors. All Directors have provided the
Company with their respective training records in compliance
with Code C.1.4 of the Code.

Below is a summary of the training the directors had received
during the year:

Name of Directors

NEWE N ER EHHRRREMEEER
RENSHEPRER WM EEMEF -
BEREZFC2MEEEEXRMEZRBEH
ERENR/ NEEXTIEIRwE - AEE
=P EFFRIECAAIRAARR RAIRERK
FZBMEIIREE

FR - ESEIEIWBELT

Type of trainings

EEpE IR
Mr. Huang Wanru B
BEEINSLE

Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu B
FEyESbted

Ms. Li Li A
FHZ L

Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy A&B
IR A

Mr. Lui Tin Nang A
=P N

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon B
LR e

A: Attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums

B: Reading journals/updates/articles/materials

A HERE & TEY Wi

B: BETM BER,XE/ MK
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ng Wing Ching
(“Mr. Ng”) was the company secretary of the Company. Mr.
Ng is a full time staff of the Group and is responsible for
ensuring and advising the Board on compliance of all policies
and procedures in connection with the applicable rules and
regulations.

The biographical details of Mr. Ng are set out under the
section headed “Profile of directors and senior management”.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ng received not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his knowledge and skills.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee which consists
of the three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li, and
Mr. Lui Tin Nang is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other
matters, to review and monitor the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management of the Group, and to
report to the Board on matters relating to the corporate
governance as stated in the Code. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held two meetings to
review, among others, the financial results, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, appointment and scope of work of
external auditors and formulate, monitor and oversee
compliance with the anti-bribery, anti-corruption and whistle-
blowing policies. The Board has not taken a different view from
that of the Audit Committee regarding the selections,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are disclosed
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee which
consists of five members (including the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy,
Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Huang Wanru) and Mr. Lam Ying Hung,
Andy is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among
other matters, to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration to
assess performance of executive directors, to approve the
terms of executive directors’ service contracts, and to review
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based
on the merit, qualifications and competence of the individuals.
The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings and reviewed the remuneration
policy, assessed performance of executive Directors and
approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

The remuneration of directors and senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 13 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee which
consists of five members (including the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy,
Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li and Mr. Huang Wanru, an
executive Director) and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are, among other matters, to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis, to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, and to make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

According to the board diversity policy adopted by the
Nomination Committee, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The
final decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board
consists of both male and female members. The Nomination
Committee and the Board recognises the importance and
benefits of gender diversity at the Board level. Our Board
currently has two female Directors out of six Directors, and the
Company is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Company will
continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels
over time with the ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity,
such that there is a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board in the future.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meetings to make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and discussed and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are 12E£ZE €M BESEC NA D 7 LB AT
disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock  HYAILEEEE -
Exchange.

Attendance of meetings BRHERE

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings, Board W-_ZT-=FF FEENAQRFEEEE
Committees meetings and general meetings of the Company # - - E=ZE8€ez2MRBEAESNHEBR
for the year 2023 is set out below: (N

Attendance out of number of meetings

HHERMANLERE
General
Audit Remuneration Nomination meeting

Name of director Board Committee Committee Committee (Note 1)

EIN-
BENE 38 ENZES FWzEg REZES GE)
Executive Directors HITEE
Huang Wanru HEM 6/6 - 2/2 11 11
Jiang Xiang Yu BHm 6/6 - - - 1/1
Non-Executive Director HHITEE
LiLi I 5/6 212 2/2 11 11
Independent Non-Executive BV FE#77EE

Directors

Lam Ying Hung, Andy MHEE 6/6 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1
Lui Tin Nang EPN:1Z 5/6 2/2 2/2 11 11
Siu Man Ho, Simon YR 2/6 1/2 02 01 01
Note: B -
1. The annual general meeting was held on 9 June 2023. 1. REBERGN _ZE_=FANBET-
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS FROM DIRECTORS

During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. Taking
into account the following channels, the Nomination
Committee considered that the Company had in place
mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board. To ensure independent
views and input from any Director, the following mechanism is
established by the Board:

1. Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall
provide a written annual confirmation of independence to
the Company on their compliance with the independence
requirements as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee shall assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors
upon appointment and annually to ensure they can
continually exercise independent judgement.

2. Composition of Board

Currently, approximately 33.3% of the Board members
are executive Directors while approximately 16.7% and
50.0% of the Board members are non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors respectively,
which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules that
at least one-third of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors.

3. Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ formal notice of regular Board and
Board Committee Meetings will be given to all Directors,
and all Directors are invited to include any matters for
discussion in the agenda. By at least three business days
in advance of every regular Board and Board Committee
Meeting, Directors are provided with the meeting agenda
and the relevant board papers containing complete,
adequate and timely information to enable full deliberation
on the issues to be considered at the respective
meetings.
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All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be
considered at the meetings and, where appropriate, they
are required to abstain from voting on any Board
resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all
regular meetings of the Board and Board Committees on
which they serve. They should also attend general
meetings of the Company to acquire understanding of
the views of the shareholders.

Remuneration of Independent Non-executive
Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s)
for their role as members of the Board and Board
Committees and no equity-based or incentive based
compensation program is granted to independent non-
executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their
decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence.

Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date
Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board.
Such program would familiarise the newly appointed
Director with the nature of the business, the corporation’s
strategy, the internal control and corporate governance
practices and policies, and directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Subsequent information packages are
regularly provided to the Directors to keep them abreast
of their responsibilities and infuse them with new
knowledge relevant to the Group’s current business and
operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from the
Company Secretary as well as from independent
professional advisers at the expense of the Company.

EREFHERRENER LEFER
MEAEBRRSRNEER FHER
@A) EREE BN T ARER
HAESERZRNERE -

BYFATEFTRERESTGREM
REEEZZESNMAEHEH - ®
EMEHFERRBBRAS - AT #
BRERER -

B FHITESHH M

BUFATEFTHEEREFERE
EZEeREBRRETEHRE B E
FEMYIFATEER TERNRERE
RERNFBET S RERILENKSE
FEERRLEREFBEN B -

ESEXZRRREHMER

NAMERNEFTSMATABAER
HABSE I R BIFIERE - BRAR
BESHEZTES THAEKIEE
NAEREE - REEBIREREETER
ERBRAREERE - &K E R
EERHEENE  USHMEHEE
REGARASEEAMEBRELER
FARREHT A -

ARREZABBTEERE  2BES
(BREBMIFNTES) ERESKAF
WMERBUEEBENER - E%m
RRNEEE -

2023FFH{ HEERARA

41



42

Corporate governance report
TEERRETE

6. Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and

Valued

During the Board and Board Committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an
open and candid manner. The Chairman also encourages
questions and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their comments
and concerns are closely followed up by the
management.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman schedules a
meeting annually with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to
discuss the affairs of the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes
that record not only the decision reached but any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by
Directors. Draft versions of the minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and confirmation before it
is finalised for records. Minutes of all Board and Board
Committee Meetings are available for Directors’
inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms have been reviewed by the Boards on an annual
basis and the Boards believe these measures would allow
Directors to contribute effectively and independent views and
input are available to the Boards and Board Committees.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. We
encourage reporting of concerns and actual or suspected
misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts (e.g. corruption)
by any of our staff and/or external parties in any matter related
to the Group.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy which aims
to enable the Company’s employees and those who deal with
the Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the audit committee about possible improprieties in
matters related to the Company, in order to help detect and
deter misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts in the
Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all
forms of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing
and upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its business
dealings at all times. We strictly prohibit any form of fraud or
bribery, and are committed to prevention, deterrence,
detection, reporting and investigation of all forms of fraud and
bribery.

The Group has established an anti-corruption policy which
sets out the basic standard of conduct which applies to all
directors, officers and employees of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. It also provides guidance to all
employees on acceptance of advantage and handling of
conflict of interest when dealing with the Company’s business.
The Company also encourages and expects our business
partners including suppliers, contractors and clients to abide
by the principles of the policy.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s acknowledgement

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each
financial year, which should give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
results and cash flow for that year in compliance with relevant
laws and applicable accounting standards.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have adopted
appropriate and consistent accounting policies and made
prudent and reasonable judgments and estimations.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been prepared on a going-concern
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an
independent opinion, based on their audit, on those
consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared by
the Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A
statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited in respect of audit and
non-audit services is summarised as follows:
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and for reviewing their
effectiveness. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to safeguard assets against misappropriation and unauthorized
disposition and to manage operational risks. These systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Internal control and risk management
systems are reviewed annually to ensure its continuous
effectiveness. The Group has in place a risk management
framework which has the following five components: risk
identification, risk assessment, risk treatment, reporting and
monitoring.

A review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control for the year covering all key controls, including financial,
operational and compliance and risk management controls, is
conducted by rotation and performed annually. The
examination consisted of enquiry, discussion and validation
through observation and inspection. The result of the review
has been reported to the Audit Committee and the Board and
areas of improvement, if any, have been identified and
appropriate measures have been put in place to manage the
risks. The Company’s internal audit department independently
reviews the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, in the key activities of the Company’s business and
submits a report at least once a year to the Board for its review
and monitors the effectiveness of the system of internal control
and risk management of the Group.

For the year of 2023, no significant control failings,
weaknesses, risk or critical internal control issues have been
identified. Based on the reports from the Group’s internal audit
department, the Audit Committee and the Board consider the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective and the Group has complied with the
provisions on risk management and internal controls as set out
in the Code.
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The Company has procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The Group
strictly prohibits unauthorised use of inside information. The
Group strives to identify inside information and any information
which may potentially constitute inside information at the
earliest opportunity. Such information is then assessed and
handed to the Board for decision on the need for disclosure.
Inside information and other information which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the SFO will be
disclosed in accordance with all applicable requirements in
due course. Inside information would be kept strictly
confidential until such disclosure.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The constitutional documents of the Company are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

With effect from 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules were
amended which requires, among others, listed issuers to
adopt a uniform set of 14 “Core Standards” for shareholder
protections for issuers set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing
Rules. As such, the Company approved the consequential
amendments to the existing amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association (the “Existing M&A”)
of the Company (the “Proposed Amendments”) and adopted
the second amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company in substitution for and to the
exclusion of the Existing M&A on 9 June 2023 after the
relevant resolutions were passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on the same date. Details of the amendments
are disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 28 April
2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value. There is no pre-determined dividend payout
ratio and the declaration and distribution of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board taking into
account, among others, the financial results, cashflow
situation, future operations and earnings, capital requirements
and expenditure plans and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution
of dividends shall also be subject to the articles of association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations. The
Board will review the policy from time to time and make
relevant amendments as necessary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims to maintain regular, effective and fair
communication with shareholders and is committed to
conveying important and relevant information to shareholders
on a timely basis. In compliance with the Listing Rules, at least
21 days’ notice will be given to the shareholders for annual
general meeting and at least 14 days’ notice will be given for
all other meetings. All general meetings of the Company have
been conducted by way of poll and detailed procedures for
conducting a poll were explained at the commencement of the
meeting. Results on all general meetings will be published by
way of an announcement immediately following the relevant
general meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which sets out various
communication channels for establishing a twoway relationship
and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders. The policy is reviewed on an annual basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company maintains a website as
a communication platform for shareholders and investors,
where information and updates on the Group’s business
developments and operations, financial information and other
information are available for public access. Shareholders and
investors may write directly to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.

The Board considers that general meetings of the Company
provide an important channel for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as
the chairmen and/or other members of the Board Committees
have endeavored to be available to answer questions raised
by the shareholders.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy through discussions amongst Board
members during board meetings. The Company has reviewed
communication activities and engagement with Shareholders
conducted in 2023 and was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
which allowed Shareholders to engage actively with the
Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with Article 58 of the articles of association of
the Company, one or more shareholders of the Company
holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionists by the Company.

If a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to be elected as
a Director, the following documents must be validly served to
the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F, 38 On Lok
Mun Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling, New Territories, Hong
Kong: (i) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution at
the general meeting; and (ii) a notice executed by the
nominated candidate of his/her willingness to be appointed
together with his/her information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, within the period
commencing on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and ending on the
date falling seven days after the dispatch of the said notice of
the general meeting.

Any Shareholder may direct their enquires and proposal by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F, 38
On Lok Mun Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

Shareholders should direct any questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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Profile of directors and senior management

ESRENEEERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Wanru (Z& 1), aged 55, was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 31 March 2020. He was appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 21
January 2022. He was appointed as a vice president of the
Group in October 2011 and resumed the same position in
March 2020 when he rejoined the Group after brief departure
from the Group in June 2018 for other business engagements.
With effect from 22 April 2022, he has been re-designated as
the Chairman of the Company. With years of extensive working
experience in the finance field, Mr. Huang has been
responsible for the financial and management information
system of the Group. Since he joined the Group in May 1998,
he has been serving in various subsidiary companies of the
Group in various roles such as cost accounting, finance
manager and finance controller. Since March 2008, he has
been appointed as the financial controller of the Group. He
was also appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Deng Wei Chao (B {£i#), aged 52, has been the Southern
China regional deputy general manager of the Group since
August 2023. He first joined the Group in September 1993 after
graduating from Wuhan University in China with an associate
degree in printing, graphics and text information processing. He
has served the Group in the roles of general manager of logistic
department, operation development department and audit
department, and in the roles of resource management and cost
control director of the Group. He has over 31 years of experience
in the cigarette packaging industry. He is currently also the
executive director and/or general manager of various subsidiaries
of the Company.
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ESRENEEERE

Non-Executive Director

Ms. LI Li (Z2%]), aged 52, was appointed as an non-executive
Director on 22 July 2015. Ms. Li is a Chairman of the board of
directors of Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. (K ERZRI £ H
MDA IR A A]) (“Masterwork” together with its subsidiaries,
the “Masterwork Group”), a company whose issued shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock code:
300195). She is also an executive director of certain
subsidiaries of the Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. and Tianjin
Ming Xuan Investment Limited Company* (XZZE L E AR
2 a]). She has been appointed as a member of the supervisory
board of Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG, a company listed
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, since 25 July 2019. Ms. Liis
qualified as a senior economist in the People’s Republic of
China. She has extensive management experience in the
printing and packaging companies.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LAM Ying Hung, Andy (M %J§), aged 59, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009.
Mr. Lam is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam has over 25 years of
experience in accounting, banking and finance sectors. Mr.
Lam is the Managing Consultant of Lontreprise Consulting
Limited. Mr. Lam is an associate member of various
professional organisations, namely The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and The Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers. Mr. Lam is also a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Public
Accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Lam is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited and
Synertone Communication Corporation and Weiye Holdings
Limited, all of them are companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam received his Master of
Professional Accounting and Master of Science in
E-commerce for Executives both from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

*

The English name is not an official name and is provided for
identification purpose only
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ESRENEEERE

Mr. LUI Tin Nang (& X §£), aged 66 was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009. Mr. Lui
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Lui has a Bachelor degree in Science from
the University of Leeds, a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Bradford in United
Kingdom and a Postgraduate Diploma in insolvency from
HKICPA. He is a fellow member of the HKICPA (Practicing),
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, and The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. He is also a member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountant, Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in Australia and the Certified Tax
Adviser. He has years of experience in accounting, auditing,
taxation, corporate finance and business advisory. Mr. Lui was
publicly censured by the Stock Exchange on 15 July 2019 for
certain breaches and he was reprimanded by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants on 2 November 2020
for failure to comply with certain rules and practice note.
Details of the above are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 9 August 2019 and 21 April 2021.
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ESRENEEERE

Mr. SIU Man Ho, Simon (X %), aged 50, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009.
Mr. Siu is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws
degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a
partner of a Hong Kong law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong &
Shum Solicitors. Mr. Siu is also a China Appointed Attesting
Officer appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. His
areas of practice include corporate finance, capital markets,
securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-
executive director of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (stock code 897) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock
code 1726), all of which are companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Moreover, he was appointed as
the independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun
Holdings Limited (stock code 1706) in October 2017 and
resigned from the position with effect from 25 August 20283.
He also actively participates in charitable and social services in
Hong Kong. He was previously appointed as the director of
Hong Kong Pok Oi Hospital. He is acting as the legal adviser
for United Hearts Youth Foundation and VQ Foundation as
well as the school manager of The Association of Directors
and Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Ltd. Leung Sing Tak
College. He is also a member of the Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in Yangjiang City of
Guangdong Province, the PRC.
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Profile of directors and senior management

ESENSHNEEEBRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Shujun (ZRE), aged 47, has been the Human Resource
Director of the Group since May 2022. He first joined the
Group in June 1998 and has worked for the Group in the roles
of deputy general manager, office manager and operation
management manager in various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Li has over 24 years of experience in the cigarette package
industry. He is currently the deputy general manager, executive
director and/or general manager of four subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Li obtained his qualification as printing
technology senior engineer in November 2015 and he has
been a member of the Packaging and Printing Subcommittee
of the Printing Standardisation Technical Committee in the
PRC since March 2022. Mr. Li was also awarded the
Certificate for High-Level Professional in Shenzhen by the
Human Resources and Social Security Administration of the
Shenzhen Municipality of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) for the period of April 2021 to March 2026 and the
Certificate for High-Level Talent in Shenzhen Pingshan by the
Organisation Department of Communist Party of China
Pingshan District Committee of Shenzhen Municipality of the
PRC for the period of January 2022 to December 2027. He
was also appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. DU Chuan Hui (1), aged 40, has been the financial
controller of the Group since May 2022. He first joined the
Group in 2008 and has worked in the roles of financial
controller, finance manager and accountant in Shenzhen Kecai
Printing Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Du is
graduated from Anhui University of finance and Economics in
2008 and holds a bachelor’'s degree of Business
Administration. He is a non-practising member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was also
appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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ESRENEEERE

Mr. ZHANG Jian Ping (5R# ¥ ), aged 47, was appointed as
general manager of the Research and Development Center of
the Group since January 2024. He joined the Group in April
2007 and rejoined the Group in April 2023 after the departure
from the Group in September 2016 for other business
engagements. He has been serving in various subsidiaries of
the Group in the roles of technical technology manager,
technology director and marketing director. He has over 26
years of experience in the cigarette packaging industry. He is
currently the deputy general manager of various subsidiaries
and the general manager of Research and Development
Center of the Group. Mr. Zhang obtained his qualification as
printing technology assistant engineer in September 2020 and
printing technique engineer in November 2015.

He obtained the Certificate for Growing Talent in Ping Shan New
Area, Shenzhen from the Organization and Personnel Bureau of
Ping Shan New Area, Shenzhen Municipality in 2014 and the China
packing & printing achievement award from China packing
federating packaging & printing committee in 2015. In addition, Mr.
Zhang participated in the research and development of various
patents in PRC. He is one of the inventors of the two patents
named “Gravure printing method of laser resisting slot” and
“Solvent-based light oil suitable for offset press”.

Mr. NG Wing Ching (52 7k#8), aged 44, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Ng joined the
Group in July 2021. He holds a bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration (Accounting) from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has nearly twenty years of experience
in auditing, accounting and corporate governance.
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

m

To the members of Litu Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Litu
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 228, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Mazars CPA Limited
hERIR(ER) FAEHMERAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

ERETEE L185ﬁ¢iaJ§im—42ff§
Tel E&E: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {#H: (852) 2810 0032

Email BE: info@mazars.hk

Website 4914 www.mazars.hk
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

BAEETEH
BRENEELRETSOERNN - RE
HABMG AN BREROERREENS
o %S ERDRESHENREBESIBR
REHABREER - EETRYRSER
REEENER -

on these matters.

Key audit matter

REETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEEENTREBRETSENT A

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB ER L

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

BRI EEHRENE19

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill as a key audit matter due to significant
judgements and estimations exercised by the
Group’s management in impairment assessment.
EEINEBERENGABERETFE RE
7 BEEERERETRENGRAELERY
i K {5t -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s goodwill
amounted to approximately HK$615,939,000 (net
of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$426,826,000) relating to the business
combinations in previous years which are subject to
impairment assessment in accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 “/mpairment of
Assets” issued by the HKICPA.
R_ZE_=F+_A=+—H ' EXEENEEAR
#1615,939,0007% ;T( M kx R & W E B B 4
426,826,000 7T) * WRIBEFENRBEH - A
BREBESAMASEMNEEG LR E 365
[ &R | EITRER A -
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Our key procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
EERBBRENGETHEIERFBEE

o Discussing with the Group’s management on
their approach to impairment assessment and
understand their key controls over the
impairment assessment process;

B SEEEEEMNMAETENTERT R
HEDRUERT(ARAZ A0 = 292

o Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuers’ competence, capabilities and objectivity;
AEBVEERBEGEMPOBEYN Kk
BEM

o Reviewing the valuation reports provided by the
independent qualified professional valuers and
assessing its reasonableness;

e HHBUYSERIBXEMEMMEHRNMGEER
T WAHEERR AR



Independent auditor’s report

B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

BRFISHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEENTRERREITSEANTE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

BB ER M (E)

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

24 B HREM T 19 ()

As detailed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining whether goodwill is
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has
been allocated. Significant judgements, estimations
and assumptions were required by management of
the Group in assessing the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs.

WA E M mANT 19N  BEEHNERES
BEAGFIRESEE - AR EER LD SK 4N
BoiimBReELEN((ReEAEM])ME
RAEEMETNREE - £ EReEEEMA
WEleEER - BESETEEAELERNHE - &
B EEE

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
approaches and checking their mathematical
accuracy;

AHASET ZEE R ELREHFERE

Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge and
understanding of the industry and market;
BREBEESHTENTSNME N THFHEE

BREBARE :

Checking, on a sample basis, the completeness,
reliability, accuracy and relevance of the input
data used by management and the independent
qualified professional valuers; and
MEREERERBE IS EREEMERMA
WABBEETE - A5k - ERLAR &

Reviewing the sensitivity analyses performed by
the management to evaluate the potential
impacts on the recoverable amount and
impairment.

EHHREREBETHBRREDN - UAHEE A
WEERE MRENBELE -
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B M BED RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FARETEE

BRFISH@E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEBTTREFRETTENS E

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment of trade receivables

BZRURERMFESR (AU EEEE] M

Refer to notes 23 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements

REELR A B IR K M2t 23 K& 39

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s trade
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$242,576,000 (net of allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$2,461,000). A reversal of loss
allowance amounting to approximately
HK$1,172,000 from continuing operations has been
recognised during the year.
RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H BEXENEIE
W FKIB B #1242,576,000 78 L (KR TEHEEEE
BB #92,461,000/87T) » FBREEBHEIRRE
R 491,172,000 BT E R AFEHR o

We consider this matter as a key audit matter
because of their significant judgement and
estimations exercised by the Group’s management
in the ECL assessment of trade receivables.

HR BESEEEREENEZEWFRRREESE
FHER TR ERHE R EE > EERLEERAE
FErFER -
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Our key procedures in relation to the ECL
assessment of trade receivables included:
EERBESRWIERMEE BRI GETNEER
B eE -

° Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss
allowance for trade receivables;

e THEBENAMGTESRUIBEEEEERE S
B ZHEH

o Evaluating the independent professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and

objectivity;
e MEBUYBXEMGHERMMNBEN EHLEE
/|\£_'E o

o Reviewing the ECL assessment prepared by
management and ECL valuation report issued
by the independent professional valuer;

s FHRERERENEHGEEERBENMLBELZE
EMEMZELOTEREEBERT RS

e Assessing whether there is evidence of
management bias on impairment assessment of
trade receivables by evaluating the consistency
of judgement made by the management year on
year through discussion with the management
to understand their rationale;

o  EBEEIREmIABRMEIRE S FTIEHE

ZRE - HERRHABRS 2 KmtEE
BEEBRBRREERERHEE S R WGIR 2/
BEREERR
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B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RRETER

BRFISHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHEENTEERREITSTENSE

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment of trade receivables (continued)

EZRWKARMCESE (RBEEHE ] ME (&)

Refer to notes 23 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

DERAR B TE AT E 23 K 39 ()

Management assessed the allowance for ECL of
trade receivables based on probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of
these receivables and where there are any events or
changes in circumstances indicate a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
trade receivables.

EIR BN ERYGRIATA BN R A EA =K
BRI CBRREE SRYGIAMKTRARRERER
AN ER - BIBREEBBREEIEGTEE
SEWFIATAREEEEEE -

Testing settlement of trade receivables
throughout the year, on a sample basis, to
ensure the reliability of past collection history
for management’s recoverability assessment;
MEAIAESRUFEREEFE 2/FER
S NERBEERRELER S - UNEEERE
A& AT U 1

Assessing whether items in trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with the relevant
sales invoices on a sample basis;

FETELL B8 5 FE WO IE BR e SR 5 (N E 5118 B
HAAMHERER  SMERBEANBTEBRSE
DREEE AR

Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies and critical judgements made
by management leading to the conclusion of
the recoverability assessment;
FHMEER B AT R TR AR R
IEH s AE R D EE

Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables with reference to credit
history including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements
and ageing analysis; and

2BBRIGEBE R - B ELSE - BEBEM
ARERSTEEELH - FHHE S EKGIA
ZAKEMELREE &

Evaluating the judgements made by
management over the expectation of
occurrence of the impairment event against the
evidence available.
HEFBRE  TEEREEHBERBESHZ
TAEAVEL 2 HIER -
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B M BED RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FARETEE

BRFISH@E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEBTTREFRETTENS E

Impairment assessment of investment in an associate classified as assets held for sale

DERFEHEEEN —HBE QX ARENBERNE

Refer to notes 21 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements

DERAR B TE AT 21 K 35()

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment
in an associate classified as assets held for sale
amounted to approximately HK$182,464,000 (net
of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$66,400,000) which are measured at the lower
of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell at the end of reporting period in accordance
with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations” issued by the HKICPA.
RZEBEZ=F+ZA=+—H ' ESESERF
EREEER —RHBE R AR E RK 182,464, ooo
78 7T (HBR R 518 {8 &5 18 966,400,000 7T )
BREEEE quEﬂi“Aﬁﬁ%ﬁmiﬁlﬁﬁﬁx#&%ﬁE'J%5
S FFEH EMERBEERBRIULERE] T
HEREAREERA L BERLE SR ANRE
HETE -
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Our key procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of investment in an associate classified
as assets held for sale included:
EERSBERFELEZEEN —HBMEQATREN
REMGETHNEZRFBIE

° Discussing with the Group’s management on
their approach to fair value assessment and
understand their key controls over the fair value
assessment process;

e H FEFEEEEMNRAAEBEMGENITERT
rES AR BEMERIZN T ZES

° Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e MEABUEEREXMEMNBENE EIKE
B

o Reviewing the valuation report provided by the
independent qualified professional valuer and
assessing its reasonableness;

s FHBUSERBEXMEMARHNMBERS -
WetEERR &R

° Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
approaches and checking their mathematical
accuracy;

o HMERBENTEREERENBREBTFTERE



Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) HRETEEE)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETSE EERETPRERRETSENSE

Impairment assessment of investment in an associate classified as assets held for sale (continued)

PEAFFEHEEEN —HBRE QX RARENBERNL(E)

Refer to notes 21 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
BRE A BT HAN 21 K& 35(b) (&)

Significant judgements, estimations and e  Assessing the reasonableness of the key

assumptions were required by management of the assumptions based on our knowledge and
Group in assessing the amount of fair value less understanding of the industry and market;

costs to sell of the associate classified as assets ¢ REBESZZEHTERTESENAZL TRIHEER
held for sale. BRERERE
EEEEREENTHOERARELEEENBER

AMAREBERNEKASRERBELEANHE - o  Checking, on a sample basis, the completeness,
et R - reliability, accuracy and relevance of the input

data used by management and the independent
qualified professional valuer; and

e HMERREEBERBUSEREREMGEMMARE
ABUER A TE - AI5 - EHNAEH &

° Reviewing the sensitivity analyses performed by
the management to evaluate the potential
impacts on fair value less costs to sell amount
and impairment.

e FHAEBEETHNERESN  UTHHELIA
BEREEXNNSHELRENEELE -
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Independent auditor’s report

B M BED RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2023 annual report of the Company, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BRBEHRERGS M BERRARE
HEE

EENERRAERTERAAMERRERM
ETEFERNIGFERMEMNEKNE
MR - W ABRESFER N ZBAN R
o ARERBEEFWHENZTRIGRA B
TERER)EL » BRIt 2N EE M
& o BEFM AR ARENATEERMEMA
TERSARERSE-

BEEEESERNZE - EREEEE
ERETHEZ TETEREREREMTT
FERERBRIRAL o #5RER A AT R EKGF 3k iR
REL - HERRERESERRABERATA
T EERERESE VB RRIEL LR
ER - RIBAR BB AR REUL -

ERBERBRAERETETEES &
EREXRHAE  REBXRRREE - BF

&
=
7h -

Bl B 5P A e 0 BREE BK 85 BR 1 2 BUAR
EMBBRFEERERRANER -
Rt RBITEFEF AEEZE AR
ANRERFTRMEENELRE @ F
REFERNERN - ARNEGEFRIREY
RER BE FEER ERRM
HEREABEZNER - B REE
3R AR T 8 2 A B K88 RR R ) R
RERAREHRFNERMERNEAXN
$H SR Rt ey g

EAHEBER AR TE - ARRE

igi 3=
BENESEF EXIFEEYE B
SEAMEENERMERER -

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]

63



64

Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai
Practising Certificate number: P05708

BRBEHRERGS M BERRARE
HEE (4)

BEFEREEN (A BE) Bt et 8%
# - va'%z%?ﬁ&éji%ﬂr%*iﬁ%%_ FPR RS
REEESEETBIET R NARBEEIEN
Eﬂikﬁ%‘i

BEENMMREEELER  BHHEFETA

ﬁﬁﬁiﬁmﬁﬁkﬁﬁx I EL I & R
AR A ERAESY ETS B I ENTER

1%&Hﬁﬂ$ﬂ DA R 7% H R BB T SREREY 1T
kAR ke (WER)

REDSIBEBRNEIET  BEEETHAH
F‘aﬁ%m:lEﬁi‘%#&i’%ﬁ’]%friﬁ%éﬂﬂ’]%lﬁ =
miBKERERIE - TEEREATREHR
MlZEEIE - BRIDEERSVER T AT LR
BEZEE  FEBHFELNELT @ HE
BEREESEREPEBEZEENNER
BREHEEN AR NG - AIFESRETIE
ERETREEZEE -

TERR(EB)EHMNEERERQE
-]

HE —F-MFE=/—+/\H
HEARNBY B RS cERRBESES
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HEZZRS - PO5708
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

SeEZEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-=F T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P5E FET TET
(Re-presented)
(e&E7)
Continuing operations FEREEK
Revenue g 5 716,658 928,475
Cost of sales SHE KA (589,519) (828,810)
Gross profit EF 127,139 99,665
Other income HAagA 7 23,146 32,743
Other net gains and losses Huh s R EEF5E 8 (167,493) 15,892
Selling and distribution expenses  $4%& ko #HMAX (17,688) (22,795)
Administrative expenses THAX (70,258) (109,759)
Finance costs A B A 10 (4,229) (10,006)
Share of result of an associate G — & A R EE 21 (30,401) 1,573
Share of result of a joint venture D —RI& L2 E — 38
(Loss) Profit before taxation FRBEAT (B518) & F 11 (139,784) 7351
Taxation i1 12 (16,359) (8,641)
Loss for the year from BFEREXEBNFEREE
continuing operations (156,143) (1,290)
Discontinued operations BRI EEK
(Loss) Profit for the year from PRI SR FE
discontinued operations (B8) = F) 35 (7,556) 10,705
(Loss) Profit for the year FE (BR)RF (163,699) 9,415
(Loss) Profit for the year DT ATEMEE (BHE)
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company RARER A
— Continuing operations — B (156,143) (1,290)
— Discontinued operations — BRIECEER (7,738) 7,494
(163,881) 6,204
Non-controlling interests FEVERR A 2
— Discontinued operations — BRI T 182 3,211
(Loss) Profit for the year FE(EHEB)EF (163,699) 9,415
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

SeTERER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —EF-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
hE=s FAET TET
(Re-presented)
(#eE75)
Other comprehensive loss Hih2mEER
Iltems that will not be reclassified to R EIE AT & E# 745 %
profit or loss in subsequent BmaEE -
periods:
— Exchange differences arising ~ — EiE 2| EET
on translation to presentation EAERZE%
currency (75,897) (171,120)
— Share of other comprehensive  — 55 —EEE4 A TR
loss of an associate Hib2mEEE 21 (16,171) (34,805)
Total other comprehensive loss FREEMEEEBARE
for the year (92,068) (205,925)
Total comprehensive loss FEZHEBBEAR
for the year (255,767) (196,510)
Total comprehensive (loss) LT ATEMAZE(GE) kS
income attributable to: 4EE
Owners of the Company RARER A (255,617) (197,000)
Non-controlling interests SRR (150) 490
(255,767) (196,510)
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Basic and diluted (losses) BREAKREE
earnings per share (BE)BF 14
— Continuing operations — BB E R (0.100) (0.001)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEEEED (0.005) 0.005
Total continuing operations and FEICEEB R
discontinued operations BRI R ¥ 1a58 (0.105) 0.004
2023FFH HEFRBERAA
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Consolidated statement of financial position

e BRIR R

At 31 December 2023 RA-—ZE-=F+-F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FERT FHEIT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B MK 16 735,007 914,396
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 71,273 86,100
Investment properties "EYE 18 168,599 145,148
Goodwill RS 19 615,939 728,704
Intangible assets mEE 20 467 2,231
Interest in an associate R —EEE A A R 21 - 335,495
Deferred tax assets RIEF IR E E 33 6,457 15,223
Prepayments and rental and FENFIEARENEE R
other deposits paid HEMize 25 42,608 5,848
1,640,350 2,233,145
Current assets RENEE
Inventories EN= 22 72,486 102,683
Trade receivables =S 23 242,576 363,892
Contract assets BHEE 24 50,836 33,799
Other receivables, prepayments HubpEdhskiE - FERIB
and refundable deposits KAlRESF] & 25 32,276 33,791
Tax recoverable G QB - 6,918
Structured deposits EB TR - 2,629
Pledged bank deposits BIEERITIER 26 21,832 104,512
Bank balances and cash WITER KRS 26 345,798 313,292
765,804 961,516
Assets classified as held for sale 9D A IEHENEE 35 307,373 -
1,073,177 961,516
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Consolidated statement of financial position

e B RIR R

At 31 December 2023 A-—ZE-_=F+=-F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= T
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables Z S EN 8 27 189,418 243,182
Other payables and accruals H b fER F0E K FEET B A 28 92,256 120,336
Deposit received for disposal HE—FNBARNEKIZS
a subsidiary 35(a) 30,748 -
Lease liabilities HESE 29 138 =
Amount due to a non-controlling B — B R 7l IEE A%
interest of a subsidiary ST 30 - 4,233
Bank borrowings RITIEE 31 131,550 266,633
Income tax payable JETFTISHR 8,307 6,064
452,417 640,448
Liabilities associated with assets  Ei 48 AiF{EEEHR
classified as held for sale BEMBANEE 35 43,044 =
495,461 640,448
Net current assets REBEEFEE 577,716 321,068
Total assets less current HEERRBAERSE
liabilities 2,218,066 2,554,213

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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Consolidated statement of financial position
e RBARRE

At 31 December 2023 R —E-=F+=-HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= g
Note HK$°000 HK$’'000
ihE=g FERT FHT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Government grants BT B & 32 19,652 22,058
Lease liabilities HESE 29 361 —
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEBE 33 41,398 57,018
61,411 79,076
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,156,655 2,475,137
Capital and reserves EXR S
Share capital A AN 34 7,839 7,839
Reserves F1E 2,144,504 2,442,048
Amounts recognised in other HOERBIELENEENH
comprehensive income and HEEREERARAERE
accumulated in equity relatingto  tAY & %8
assets classified as held for sale (20,788) -
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHE NGRS
of the Company 2,131,555 2,449,887
Non-controlling interests e IR M 2 25,100 25,250
TOTAL EQUITY RS 2,156,655 2475, (87

These consolidated financial statements on pages 66 t0 228 $66E228B MG A EHRERE N -
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Z—ME=A=-+ \BEEESHERFEE

Directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by i WA TIALTREREE :
Mr. Huang Wanru Mr. Deng Wei Chao
BEBEWMELE WEBLE
Director Director
EF EFE
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
MERaRBEX

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ2 —ZF —

=F+ZHA=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Gompany

NG N
Reserves
e
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Dividend  Exchange  Retained Total controling Total
capta  premum  reseve  reserves  feserve  reseve  eamings  reserves Totdl  interests equity
R ROEE EEHE EfEE RSEE EXER RERN RREE G EERER RREE
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
Thr Tén Thr TEnr  Thr TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEn
(Note@) ~ (Noteb) ~ (Notec) (Note d)
(Wa)  (Wb) (Mo (FtzEd)
At 1 January 2022 W-2--%-F-H 7839 4936913 189,880 (2,907,725 - 50801 360,179 2639048 2646887 26,693 2673580
Proft for the year Egaf = = = - - - 604 6204 624 3211 9415
Other comprehensive loss for the year £ X2 &R
— Exchange diferences arisng from ~ ~RAEN & ERA
translation from functional SHERMEL
currency to presentation currency D‘é%%ﬁ = - - - - (168,3%9) - (168,399 (168399)  (2721) (171,120
— Share of other comprehensive M- E AT
loss of an associate E2EER - - - - - (34,809 - (34805 (34,809) - (34,809
Total other comprehensive loss EREM2EEEER
forthe year - - - - - B2 S pB 0BNY ) (205.95)
Total comprehensive (0ss) income FELE(BR) hELE
forthe year . - - - SpB20 B204 (1970000 (197000 490 (196510
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTTTRE - - 894 - - - (8%4) - - - -
Transactions with owners: BEEARS
Contrbutions and distrbutions RERAE
Final dividend for 2022 proposed “ECCEEERARE
note 15) (3£ 15) - - = - 875 - 671 = . 7 -
Dividends paid to non-controling M2 ENBARN
interests of a non-wholy owned EERERRARS
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (1,939 (1,983
= z - - Bi5 - e - -1y (9%
At 31 December 2022 R=Z-=%+t-A=1-A 7839 4936913 190,774 (907,725 62715 (143408 302,774 2442048 2,449,887 26,250 2,475,137
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERAELR
Reserves
it
Equity
relating to
assets
classified Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Dividend Exchange  Retained Total  asheld controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserves  reserve  reserve  earnings  reserves  for sale Total interests equity
Lk
BRELE
HWEEEE
Bk ROGE ZeBE EtEE RSEE  ERXBE  RERAN  BBEE nEs & FeRER EREE
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TEx TEr TEn  TEx  TEr TEx  TEx  TEr  TEn  TEx  TEn
(Notea) ~ (Noteb)  (Notec) (Note d) (Note e)
(Wita)  (W&b)  (Hiko) (Hitd) (GED)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-H-H 7839 4936913 190,774 (2,907,725 62,715 (143403) 302,774 2,442,048 - 2449881 25,50 2,475,137
(Loss) Proft for the year £ (BR) & = = = = = - (163881)  (163,881) - (163,881) 182 (163,69%9)
Other comprehensive loss for the year £ E {2 EIB1E
— Exchange diferences arising from -BRENEELR
transiation from functional EREEMEE
curtency to presentation currency EizE = = = = - (75569 - (15569 - (75569 (332)  (15.807)
— Share of other compreensive - AlE-FRERAH
loss of an associate Lh2EEE - - - = - (1617 - (16171 - (1617 - (161n)
Total other comprehensive loss FEEMREGFRLE
for the year - - - - - (91,736) - (91,736) - (91,736) (332) (92,068
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ £E2ESRAE = = = = - (o1,7%6) (163,881  (255617) - (255617) (150)  (285,767)
Transactions with owners: EEEARS:
Contributions and distributions RERA R
Final dvidend payment for 2022 “ECCERERERT
(note 15) (H3k15) = = = - (621 = - (62719 - (621 - (271
Transfer to eqity relating to assets BREENVEARELEN
classffiec as held for sale BEBBNES - - - - - 2788 - 018 (20789 - - -
- - - - (62,715) 20,788 - (#1921 (20788 (62,715 - (62,715)
At31 December 2023 H-g-zE-pzi-p T80 496913 10074 (2007,725) - MM 1883 214504 (0789 2131585 25100 215665
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For th

Notes:

(@)

e year ended 31 December 2023 i Z —FT-_=F+-_A=1+—HIFE

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds or
consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares over their par
value. The application of the share premium accounts is governed by
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriation to
such reserve is made out of profit after taxation as reflected in the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amounts
and allocation basis are decided by its board of directors annually. The
appropriation to statutory surplus reserve may cease if the balance of
the statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the PRC subsidiaries’
registered capital. The statutory reserve can be used to make up prior
year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by
means of capitalisation issue.

Other reserves comprised () the merger reserve which arose from the
difference between the nominal value and premium of shares of merged
subsidiaries over the nominal value of the shares issued by the
Company in exchange thereof; (i) issue of shares of the Company to
the former controlling shareholder of the Company in exchange of his
entire equity interests in the subsidiary; and (iii) reserve resulting from
the transactions with non-controlling interests in relation to the change
of equity interests in the subsidiaries in prior years.

Exchange reserve comprises the translation differences between the
Group’s net assets in functional currency to the Group’s presentation
currency.

Equity relating to assets classified as held for sale represents amounts
recognised in other comprehensive income/losses and accumulated in
equity relating to assets held for sale.

GEE

(@

BinmBRRBEITAR AR AEHRBFEKA
ERLEEENRD - RDEERNAEZHE
HERRANEEE -

RESHHHEARKNME(HE]) EENB@E
BRROERATRTE » AR AR B E R BARYL
EERE - PEEZRENBERDETEKER
AVREM SRR MR BRLEN BN > MEBK
DEEFEREZEEFRE - WETRRRER
EARBEEDP BB AR EMEARNS0% - AIF]
TBEREATERHBHEE  AEREN BERRS
E—FENEER(WNE)  TAERENMCETE

HitFEREBE()AHRE  DEEARHNER
AR EERRERERARBAETHRR
BHORMOEENZRE (| ARRRZBRIBA
A2 BR A T A AN X B AT AR AR CR B AT RO AR
K (i) 38 15 5 J ot Y I8 2 ) PR 4 2 B B SE PR PR
R ZATE LRI o

EXREERAREEEFERERRERES
AEE 2N EHRE =5 -

HEOBAREHENEEGRMNEEARNEAM
EEWEBIRER RN AR ENEERRM
S RETEE -
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P5E FET TET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
(Loss) Profit before taxation BrFi AT (B8 ) & 7
— Continuing operations — BELEXED (139,784) 7,351
— Discontinued operations — BRI EER (8,498) 11,523
(148,282) 18,874
Adjustments for: R
Share of result of associates DMEHE N RIEE 21 30,401 (1,573)
Share of result of a joint venture SE—FEAEELEER - (38)
Finance costs BhE A 4,229 10,199
Amortisation of intangible assets A 20 2,143 23,740
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — W BENEE 16 93,144 104,186
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 17 2,471 2,480
— investment properties — REYE 18 13,652 6,834
Impairment losses on goodwill B REEE 19 92,693 -
Impairment losses on interest in BESFELHENEER
an associate upon transfer to R—EEE R a8
assets held for sale R EE 18 21 66,400 T
Impairment losses on property, Y - BB K&
plant and equipment REREEE 16 3,955 u
Reversal of loss allowance on B 5 & H At FE I GRIE LA 2
trade and other receivables BREERIBRE
and contract assets, net e JEIpae 9 (1,191) (74)
Interest income FEKA 7 (5,683) (3,940)
Gain from changes in fair value BARBER ABL
of financial assets at fair value ([HEAREBERTA
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) Bml)MEemEE
AREBEZH K 8 (13) (784)
Loss (Gain) on disposal of HEME - KER
property, plant and equipment R EE () 8 11,645 (4,879)
Gain on disposal of HEREEEENRE
intangible assets 8 — (39)
Gain arising from early termination 2RI IEFHEA A
of lease contracts EENRES = 22)
Government grants for WHEMZE - BB K&
acquisition of property, RENBT A2
plant and equipment 7 (1,792) (1,882)
Loss on deregistration e EhE
of a joint venture HE1R 8 - 801
Loss on deregistration of TR B A AR ES R
subsidiaries 8 1,367 =
Recognition of write-down on R ET S MUR
obsolete inventories 11 4,364 6,037
Unrealised exchange (gains) KA P 3
losses, net (Yzs) B8 558 (15,056) a4
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

o 3 =
mEBEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE
2023 2022
—E-=E —EF-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
hE=s FAET TET
Changes in working capital: LIEEREE
Inventories FE (47,086) 381
Trade receivables 2 5 W KIE 81,882 (36,596)
Contract assets BREE (19,222) 96,979
Other receivables, prepayments Hub U FRIE - FEN B
and refundable deposits SEEEYH G (4,568) 16,469
Trade payables Z 5N FRIE (38,392) 7,208
Other payables and accruals HihER RIB R ETE R 19,152 (2,622)
Cash generated from operations SEEERS 146,213 260,917
Income taxes paid EFEH (11,735) (11,321)
Net cash from operating RETHEERESTFHE
activities 134,478 249,596
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received B U F & 5,683 3,940
Dividend received from an B — R & A AUER AR B
associate, net of withholding tax (FBRFEHEL) 36,877 82,914
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B — R B A A — (233,274)
Acquisition of property, U B2 = B ikt
plant and equipment 16 (38,042) (67,719)
Purchase of intangible assets REBEVEE 20 (387) -
Deposits received for disposal of a gt H & — KB A 71U ALY
subsidiary e 35(a) 30,748 -
Prepayment of acquisition of WM - BB &
property, plant and equipment BRI T A IE (37,125) —
Proceeds from deregistration = Rl =3
of a joint venture FriS k18 - 8,105
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BE NERE
property, plant and equipment FT1S 50R 22,116 8,799
Proceeds from disposal HEBPEEERN
of intangible assets - 5,981
Placement of pledged bank FEBIRIFRITFER
deposits - (107,308)
Withdrawal of pledged bank REE EIRIRITF
deposits - 10,867
Purchase of structured deposits B EEEER 39 (5,513) (230,128)
Redemption from structured HE [B] 4 1 115 30
deposits 39 8,096 228,213
2023FFH HEERERAF
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

AN o —1
A= iﬁﬁ)ﬂb%ﬂs’%
For the year ended 31 December 2028 HIZE —E_=F+_HA=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FET FHET
Net cash from (used in) investing #&;E8ES (£H)
activities HE T8 22,453 (289,610)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Dividends paid B E 15 (62,715) —
Interest paid BEfF A (4,229) (10,372)
New bank borrowings raised IR ITEE 154,372 363,673
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (198,959) (415,911)
Repayment of principal portion of EEHEaEASHD
lease liabilities (66) -
Prepayment of amount due to a P — M B A IR
non-controlling interest of a W 2= B IR B 5RIB
subsidiary (4,233) -
Net cash used in financing REEEFEAR ST
activities 36(a) (115,830) (62,610)
Net increase (decrease) incash EEREELZEIEH
and cash equivalents #inGRd) B5 41,101 (102,624)
Cash and cash equivalents at BREMUORERES
the beginning of the reporting £EEHE
period 313,292 440,350
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEE [ R S Bl )
changes (8,595) (24,434)
Cash and cash equivalents at HEHKRAESRESEE
the end of the reporting period 1EH 26(b) 345,798 313,292

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IRk

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

GENERAL

Litu Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 11 November 2008 as an
exempted company with its shares listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Cai
Xiao Ming, David (the “Controlling Shareholder”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the 2023 annual report of the
Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are engaged in
provision of printing of cigarette packages, manufacturing
of paper packaging materials, manufacturing of laminated
papers, sales of radio frequency identification (“RFID”)
products, printing of packages and decoration matters,
research and development on printing technology,
wholesale, import and export of the packaging products
and other related services and leasing of investment
properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the
Company'’s functional currency of Renminbi (“RMB”). The
directors of the Company adopted HK$ as presentation
currency. For the convenience of the consolidated
financial statements users, the consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, as the Company’s
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

—REH
HEZEEBERAR (AR DR =-F
ENF+—A+—HBRRASHESEM
PRI RERRRTR  ERORN BB
BXZHERAR (B ERE
™o HRARIERTT SEBRATE(E
PRARER D) » A RRIAIEM M EE N T
BEXWARMANRARR —F =
FERAFEH —ERKE -

ARBBREEBR AT - ARmRE
MEAR(SEAIAEENEEE
BRENBESKINR - 2UEREK
M SUEEESH - SHEST SRR ([ 5
SRR DEMR - BEFFRENRmENR -
IRt s Rk pA % » BREMAH
BIGEH O R EMEERBARKE

REMBHBRRABT(ET 25
BRIRARBHEEEARE (A
R¥D - ARRAESRMWETRZET
B RTBREREMBERRERSE
FAEMBRRABITZEY  RESAK
NEIR B FT £
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2022 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following

new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS

17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the
consolidated financial statements. Management has
reviewed the disclosure of accounting policy information
and considered it is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes
in accounting estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that, on recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12: International Tax
Reform— Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary relief
from accounting for deferred taxes arising from the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development’s Pillar Two model rules. The Amendments
also introduce targeted disclosure requirements to help
investors understand an entity’s exposure to income
taxes arising from the rules.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance
contracts issued. It also requires similar principles to be
applied to reinsurance contracts held and investment
contracts with discretionary participation features issued.

The core of HKFRS 17 is the general measurement
model where estimates are re-measured each reporting
period. Under the model, contracts are measured based
on discounted probability-weighted cash flows, an
explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk, and a
contractual service margin representing the unearned
profit of the contract which is recognised as revenue over
the coverage period.

An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is
permitted for certain types of contracts, such as short
duration contracts.

There is a modification of the general measurement
model called the ‘variable fee approach’ for certain
contracts such as those with direct participation features.
When applying the variable fee approach, the entity’s
share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is
included in the contractual service margin.

The adoption of HKFRS 17 does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 17: Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information

The amendment is a transition option relating to
comparative information about financial assets presented
on initial application of HKFRS 17. The amendment is
aimed at helping entities to avoid temporary accounting
mismatches between financial assets and insurance
contract liabilities, and therefore improve the usefulness
of comparative information for users of financial
statements.

The adoption of the amendment does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost except
for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (if
any) which are measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and within equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event
of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or
at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis
is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at
fair value, unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest even if this
results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest determined at the date when control is lost and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any
amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture
or others as appropriate from the date when control is
lost.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale
is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is
available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification. Assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group
that comprises operations and cash flows that can be
clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial
reporting purposes, from the rest of the Group. It
represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less accumulated impairment loss. The carrying amount
of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable
amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control of those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is
an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint
control. Joint control is a contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The
Group reassesses whether it has joint control of an
arrangement and whether the type of joint arrangement
in which it is involved has changed, if facts and
circumstances change.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

The Group’s investments in associates or joint venture
are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment or a portion
thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses when the Group’s share of losses of the investee
equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in
the investee, which includes any long term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the investee.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a
joint venture is measured as the excess of the cost of
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired
associate or joint venture. Such goodwill is included in
interests in associates or joint ventures. On the other
hand, any excess of the Group’s share of its net fair value
of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
an income.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
measured at the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if applicable) over the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed of the acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a
separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”). An
impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date
amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable) and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain
purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the
previously held equity interests in the acquiree at the
acquisition-date fair value is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress, over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on
which they are available for use and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum.
When parts of an property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the items is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciation
separately:

Buildings Over the shorter of
the term of lease or

26-30 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2.

TESTBE )

M - BERRE

WE - BB R&E(ERTIRERIN T
BRASRE Rt T & LB EBEARK
—EYWE - BELEREERE ZKAE
EEBEERISEEEESHERFR
MMEETEHHEERER R T
MEZRRERAE - FRBIERREE
ARNELFEERETLR o

FEDEME  BEMRE(ERTRE
BRON) RIEE R BHIE - R X&ES 2
B % 2 fh et AT A F A ME A AN B
BMEBFREEE  WABLERAT
FREEXRFARFEZAEFRBREER
RERE - WYX BEERESS
DZAERFEHLAER - RIZFR
B ZRAS ARG EER D B (E
RIITE

BF sk 26 =

S0FREEH
MERE 3%
5 N i 25 5ZE20%
EIVNE NS gk= o=
R AZ5E

REE  HEITHRRAEMEZNY
KRR A EM S HERBERED
R NABEEEEEDEHRRE
ERERTEND ARREEMBENN
ENGHMERELEMNERKAN - X
RABREEMS  EXRAHER
BASENGFTBRRMENE - bt
BERREAMYEEERREL
EEEEINERTERERMARTE



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment” up
to the date of change in use, and the cost and
accumulated depreciation of that item at the date of
transfer are transferred to investment property for
subsequent measurement and disclosure purposes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held by
owner or lessee, to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include properties held for a currently
undetermined future use.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method, at the following rate
per annum:

Buildings
Leasehold land

26-30 years
29-45 years

If an item of investment property becomes owner-
occupied property because its use has changed as
evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the
cost and accumulated depreciation of that item at the
date of transfer are transferred to property, plant and
equipment for subsequent measurement and disclosure
puUrposes.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —Z =

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from
the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the
financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset,
or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but
it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to

pay.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such
trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction
price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”); (i) equity investment measured at
FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting
period following the change in the business model.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a
host is an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated from the host. Instead, the entire hybrid
contract is assessed for classification.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

(1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(@ it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

(b) its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising
from impairment, derecognition or through the
amortisation process are recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost
include trade receivables, other receivables and
refundable rental deposits, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

@

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are
not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL,
financial assets resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial
assets that are otherwise required to be measured
at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss,
which includes any interest earned on the financial
assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it
is:

(@ acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term;

(b) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(c) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured
at FVPL include structured deposits.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —ZE —=F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue
of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, amount due to a non-
controlling interest of a subsidiary and bank borrowings.
All financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at
FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at
cost.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost and contract assets to
which the impairment requirements apply in accordance
with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as
detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an
amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
(i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on the following
one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(@) past due information

(b) nature of instrument

(c) size and industry of debtors

(d) length of customer relationship

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in
the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any
of the following criteria.

(@ information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group); or

(b) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if:

(@) it has a low risk of default;

(b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(c) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The
Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing off
the gross carrying amount based on historical experience
of recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no
significant recovery from the amount written off. However,
financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal
advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised
when the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis
over the lease term. Variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate are initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date and
subsequently adjusted when such index or rate changes.
Such payments are recognised as income on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable
lease payments are recognised as income in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15

The Group is engaged in printing and manufacturing of
paper packages and related materials and sales of RFID
products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as
a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood (or a bundle of goods) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods that are substantially the
same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.

A good that is promised to a customer is distinct if both
of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good to the
customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good
(i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when
(or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from the printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of laminated papers with no alternative
use are recognised over time.

Revenue from the sales of RFID products and
manufacturing of paper packaging materials are
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the distinct goods or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT— =

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation can
be reasonably measured, the Group applies the input
method (i.e. based on the proportion of the actual inputs
deployed to date as compared to the estimated total
inputs) to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation because there
is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs and
the transfer of control of goods or services to the
customers and reliable information is available to the
Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of
the performance obligation.

The principal input applied in the input method for printing
of cigarette packages and manufacturing of laminated
papers is costs incurred.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, the contract is presented as a
contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a
contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the
Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —Z =

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (the “foreign currency”) are
recorded in the respective functional currency(ies) (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT— =

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency HK$ are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, other costs that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition, is calculated using the weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets may be impaired or impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. CGU).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or CGU that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as
income in profit or loss immediately.

The accounting policy for recognition of the impairment
loss for goodwill is stated in the accounting policy for
goodwill in the earlier part of this note.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income
on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings,
that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group would purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Government grants relating to compensation
of expenses are deducted from the related expenses,
other government grants are presented under “other
income” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the
total consideration that is allocated to the separately
identified components of the contract.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to
the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of
the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying
asset) as follows:

Over the term of lease
3 years

Leasehold lands
Leased properties

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@)

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
arate;

amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount
rate when there are changes to the lease payments
arising from a change in the lease term or the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease
if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2.

TESTBE )

HE (&)

EREBEA(E)

Hig BARNE@EARREESR
ERF X BB EREEARBKRE
IHMBEBAMTIERERE -

EHEMELR LA ERTIEREER
EERAERTETEREEEEMS
BHENRBELERE - HEREE
RIMFTIREBHFTERERE -

fMEZRLEATER - BIEOERER
BEENEEARK

(@) fEHBBIBANER —HIA LR
HEAEENENABAHE D
B &

b) TR B 1 0% 58 SIS INOE B
B 3T (B A T Y ST (et
AEAEURBZLA D2 R4
1 -



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(@ the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of
the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease and
recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or
full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by
making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-
use asset.

If the leasehold land portion of a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such
leasehold land portion in accordance with the policy
stated under “Leases” up to the date of change in use,
and the cost and accumulated depreciation of that item
at the date of transfer are transferred to investment
property for subsequent measurement and disclosure
pUrposes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date of the
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately from non-lease
components of the contract. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component
on a relative stand-alone price basis.

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease
receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments
for the new lease.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund are recognised as
expenses when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restructuring costs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses
and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —ZE —=F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @a member of the key management personnel
of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each holding
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

(o) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes

subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”) for the purpose of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

3.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Future changes in HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-

current !
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants !
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 21

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback '
Lack of Exchangeability 2

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
g The effective date to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the

new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any
material impact on the results of the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
They affect the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed
on an on-going basis and are based on experience and
relevant factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of
revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION 4,
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Under HKFRS 15, control is transferred over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. Significant judgement is required in determining
whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers in relation to printing of cigarette packages
and manufacturing of laminated papers with no
alternative use create an enforceable right to payment for
the Group. The Group has considered the relevant local
laws that apply to those relevant contracts and opinion
from external legal counsel. Based on the assessment of
the Group’s management, the relevant sales contracts
create an enforceable right to payment after taking into
consideration the legal opinion, contract laws and the
legal and regulatory environment in the PRC. Accordingly,
contracts relating to printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of laminated papers with no alternative
use is considered to be performance obligation satisfied
over time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT— =

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment assessment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate certain assumptions, including the discount rate,
terminal growth rate, gross margin and sales growth rate
in order to derive the net present value of the discounted
future cash flow model. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may
arise. The fair value less costs of disposal requires the
Group to estimate certain assumptions and adoption of
appropriate valuation methodology. Owing to inherent
risk associated with estimations in the timing and
magnitude of the future cash flows and fair value less
costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount of
the CGUs may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and profit or loss could be affected by accuracy
of the estimations.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$615,939,000 (2022: HK$728,704,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment
loss on goodwill of HK$92,693,000 (2022: Nil) has been
made. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Loss allowance for ECL

The measurement of loss allowance for trade and other
receivables and contract assets under HKFRS 9 requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, such as risks of default,
losses given default, changes in which can result in
different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculation on trade and other
receivables and contract assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and losses given
default. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculations, based on credit risks of the debtors or
comparable companies in the market, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. It has been the Group’s
policy to regularly review its models in the context of
actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables amounted to HK$242,576,000
(2022: HK$363,892,000) (after net of loss allowance of
HK$2,461,000 (2022: HK$6,353,000)). Further details,
including the key assumptions and inputs used for
impairment calculation of the Group’s trade receivables
are set out in notes 23 and 39 to the consolidated
financial statements. If the ECL rates on the trade
receivables with internal credit rating of P3 as defined in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements had
been 1% higher (lower) at the end of the reporting period,
with other assumptions held constant, the loss allowance
would have been HK$195,000 (2022: approximately
HK$393,000) higher (lower).
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Allowance for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the condition of
inventories, as stated in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements, at the end of each reporting period,
and makes allowance for inventories that are identified as
obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The
Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by-
product basis and makes allowances by reference to the
latest market prices and current market conditions.

Impairment assessment of assets (and disposal
groups) classified as held for sale

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. The fair value less
costs to sell requires the Group to estimate certain
assumptions and adoption of appropriate valuation
methodology. Owing to inherent risk associated with
estimations in the timing and magnitude of the future
cash flows, the estimated fair value less costs to sell
amounts of the assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and profit or loss could be affected by accuracy
of the estimations.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets
classified as held for sale and liabilities associated with
assets classified as held for sale was HK$307,373,000
(2022: n/a) and HK$43,044,000 (2022: n/a) respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment
loss on interest in an associate upon transfer to assets
(and disposal groups) classified as held for sale of
HK$66,400,000 (2022: n/a) has been recognised to profit
or loss. No (2022: n/a) further impairment loss on assets
(and disposal groups) classified as held for sale has been
recognised during the year. Further details of
discontinued operation and assets held for sale are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

E_T_=F+_A=1+—HILFE

5. REVENUE 5. Wz
An analysis of revenue of the Group is as follows: REBRZESITOT -
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHBT FHET
(Re-presented)
(&=F:75)
Continuing operations IEREEK
Revenue from contracts with BB HREERZE 155
customers within HKFRS 15 AEFEE AWz
Sales of goods HEE M 683,557 890,568
Revenue from other sources E A AR B 2
Leasing income from investment KEMERERA
properties 33,101 37,907
716,658 928,475
Discontinued operations ERILSEET
Revenue from contracts with FEE BRI EERIFE 1559
customers within HKFRS 15 AEFE# W am
Sales of goods (note 35(a)) SHEE M (MiFE35()) 45,664 93,927
Total revenue N = 762,322 1,022,402
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& &)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EEBMBBREENFISHEAT
customers within HKFRS 15 Fa#tiWso 8
2023 2022
—E-=E T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Re-presented)
(&&E5)
Types of goods EmER
Continuing operations HERE XK
Printing and manufacturing of Efml| K BsE Ak m 8 &
paper packages and ElalER e
related materials
— Printing of cigarette packages  — EIRIEE % 607,056 683,123
— Manufacturing of paper — BLER B R R
packaging materials 71,883 204,912
— Other related products — HinEEE 4,618 2,511
Manufacturing of laminated papers &L & 4K - 22
683,557 890,568
Discontinued operations ERILAEEET
Sales of RFID products $HE BT R Bl = o 45,664 93,927
729,221 984,495
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EHZE —ZF —

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

5. W)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

(i)

ERERAUKREEANFEISHEAT

customers within HKFRS 15 (continued) FEHWELE(E)
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 22 7 R B
Manufacturing
Printing of of paper
cigarette packaging  Otherrelated  Sales of RFID
packages materials products products Total
Il HE Hfth HESHE
EEE% Einakpst REER BAER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEn Thn TEn TEn
Year ended Bz-EC-=
31 December 2023 +=A=t+-H
LEE
Continuing operations REREEE
At a point in time A (ERs 2 - 71,883 4,618 - 76,501
Over time R—BEERA 607,056 - - - 607,056
Total a5t 607,056 71,883 4,618 - 683,557
Discontinued operations 24/ &F& %k
At apoint in time i A - - - 45,664 45,664
Total @it 607,056 71,883 4,618 45,664 729,221
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& &)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EEBMBBREENFISHEAT
customers within HKFRS15 (continued) EEHWEsE (&)
Timing of revenue recognition (continued) WaRERRE(E)
Manufacturing
Printing of of paper Manufacturing
Clgarette packagng  Otherrelated  oflaminated  Sales of RFID
packages materials products papers products Total
Nl R A R HESTA
BEpR  HAEMH HBEm CEE #nlEm h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr Thr Thx Thx Thr T
Year ended Hz-s--f
31December2022  +=A=1-H
(re-presented) LEE (8E7)
Continuing operations ~ F#EE £
Atapoint in time i , 204912 2,511 - - 207,423
Over time R-ZRER 683,123 - - 22 - 683,145
683123 204912 2511 2 - 890568
Discontinued operations ~ F4F4F& 25
Atapointin time R (AR = = - - 93,927 93,927
Total ) 683,123 204912 2511 22 93,927 984,495
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —ZE —=F+_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W= &)

() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EEBMBBREENFISHEAT
customers within HKFRS15 (continued) BeWRosHE(4E)
Geographical market BT
Information about the Group’s revenue from external FEAEERBINDE P Y
customers is presented based on the location of ERTBREBEREFPFAEHMES] -
customers irrespective of the origin of goods. iR E B 2R M o

Manufacturing
Printing of of paper
cigarette packaging  Otherrelated  Sales of RFID
packages materials products products Total
Bl HE 2t HENR
EEag FRENH REER BRER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEx TEn TiEx TEn
Year ended BE-B-=F
31 December 2023 +=A=1+-H
2:3:5
Continuing operations REREEE
The PRC m 607,056 71,883 4,618 - 683,557
Discontinued operations ~ Z&ILEE£HK - - - 34,362 34,362
The PRC HE
Others (note) i (i) - - - 11,302 11,302
- - - 45,664 45,664
Total st 607,056 71,883 4,618 45,664 729,221
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& &)

() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EEBMBBREENFISHEAT
customers within HKFRS15 (continued) EEHWEsE (&)
Geographical market (continued) EmE (&)

Manufacturing
Printing of of paper Manufacturing
Clgarette packagng  Otherrelated  oflaminated  Sales of RFID
packages materials products papers products Total
ENF Rt At R HESTA
EERk  HAkH ERER gad HnlEm h

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER Tin TiEn TAL TR TER

Year ended BE-5-Cf
31December2022  +=A=1-AL%E
(re-presented) B (£E5)

Continuing operations ~ F#EE £
The PRC i 683,123 204,912 2,511 2 - 890,068

Discontinued operations ~ F4FAF& 25

The PRC mE - - - - 74,878 74,878
Qthers (note) £t (Fizt) - - - - 19,049 19,049
- - - - 93,927 93,927
Total Bt 683,123 204,912 251 22 93,927 984,495
Note: Others mainly included Federative Republic of Brazil, India, Mt Bt EBRIEE BB EME - B
the Republic of Tiirkiye, the Portuguese Republic and the - IEEHENE HEFEANR
Republic of Korea (2022: Federative Republic of Brazil, ERBRBR(ZZE-—F: DR
India, the Republic of Turkiye, the Portuguese Republic, AR - HIE - +HAFLHE
the Republic of the Marshall Islands and the Republic of BEFLFE - BAAREELAE
Korea). RAEZEE)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers within HKFRS15

Printing of cigarette packages

The Group’s contracts with customers for printing
of cigarette packages are tailor-made based on
customers’ specification with no alternative use to
the Group. Taking into account the contract terms,
the legal and regulatory environment in the PRC, all
contracts provide the Group’s enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date and
hence the revenue is recognised over time.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, the
customers have no right to return products except
those with quality flaw. The Group generally does
not require the customers to pay in advance. The
customers should settle the trade receivable within
60 to 90 days upon the issue of value added tax
invoice.

A contract asset is recognised over the period
based on the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation representing
the Group’s right to consideration because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in delivery of goods. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional. The Group typically
transfers the contract assets to trade receivables
when the goods are delivered to the customers.

5. W& (#)

(if)

EERBYMBREERNEISFERE
FEXBHER

R ZESH
REEREPITYMEERRE
BlEHTDIRBEPRISES - &
AEEVWEERAR KL RE
G PEMEEREEIR
R MBEHNHEE TAREE S
WITHREAWEZS BB DB
FIE - RS EE R R TR o

RIBARENTES DGR B
EEHHENREIN  BFERZR
BER AEE-—RIEREP
RANR - BFEEAEHEER
BEREGOZEVHANEEESE
WRIE -

BHREEELBRRERITE
MREER (RRAKE R
REWERN) #R REASEH
RFBURARARBARK RN E M
MRS - BHEEREN KR E
IR EREE 5 RIGRIA - &
SE-—RRERXNTEPRERK
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT— =

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers within HKFRS15 (continued)
Manufacturing of paper packaging materials
and other related products and sales of RFID
products

Revenue from the manufacturing of paper
packaging materials and other related products and
sales of RFID products is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being at the point the
goods are delivered to the customers. Delivery
occurs when the goods have been shipped to the
customer’s specific locations.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, the
customers have no right to return products except
those with quality flaw. The Group generally does
not require the customers to pay in advance. The
customers should settle the trade receivables within
60 to 90 days upon the issue of value added tax
invoice.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers within HKFRS15

All the Group’s contracts with customers are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 is not disclosed.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the CODM, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods delivered or service provided.
No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of
the Group.

During the second half year of 2022, the Group
reorganised its internal reporting structure for which the
previous printing and manufacturing of cigarette
packages and related materials business and
manufacturing of laminated papers business were
aggregated into one single operating and reportable
segment in view of the similarity of their economic
characteristics.

During the year, the CODM had decided to segregate the
leasing of investment properties segment from the
unallocated operations resulting from the increasing
importance of the leasing out of properties to the Group’s
total revenue and assets. Prior period segment
disclosures have been represented to conform with the
current year’s presentation.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments currently
are (i) printing and manufacturing of paper packages and
related materials; (ii) leasing of investment properties and
(iii) sales of RFID products. The CODM considered the
Group has three operating and reportable segments
which are based on the internal organisation and
reporting structure.

6.

7 ERE
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZEZ—ZE —=F+_F=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DIERE)
Segment revenues and results AR E R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AT ABAREEIZAIHRE S EEI D MUK
results by reportable segment. wmREEDHT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=5+=-A=+—HL#HF
E
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
RESEER BRIEREER
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages Leasing of
and related investment Sales of
materials properties Sub-total  RFID products Total
DR R RE
H#BER HEMR
HBE  RENERE Nt WHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén THT Thn TER TR
Segment revenue PG 683,557 33,101 716,658 45,664 762,322
Segment result PB%E 110,182 3,787 113,919 (891) 113,028
Unallocated other income RARERBA 23,146 4,064 27,210
Unalocated other net gains and losses AR R M R BB FE (167,493) (8,888) (176,381)
Unallocated expenses APERY (74,726) (2,783) (77,509)
Finance costs BERK (4,229 - (4,229)
Share of result of an associate M-BRELARER (30,401) - (30,401)
Loss before taxation REAER (139,784) (8,498) (148,262)
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e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —ZE —=F+_A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEERE)
Segment revenues and results (continued) M EREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (re-presented) e - —_F+-_A=+—HBIt#F
2 (& =51)
Discontinued
Continuing operations Operations
REREEH ERILEERH
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages Leasing of
and related investment Sales of
materials properties Sub-total  RFID products Total
e
Haxk HEMR
HEE  RAWFHEE Nt AhlEm Ch

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TiET TAR TiEn TEL T

Segment revenue DS 890,568 37,907 928,475 93927 1,022,402
Segment result NEEE 88,247 12,804 101,051 13,806 114,857
Unallocated other income RARERBA 32,743 2,205 34,948
Unallocated other net gains and losses AP REREREEFE 15,802 931 16,823
Unallocated expenses AARAL (133,940) (5,26) (139,166)
Finance costs RERK (10,006) (193) (10,199)
Share of result of an associate pox - YNTIE S 1573 = 1573
Share of result of a oint venture ME-HABLERE 38 - 3
Proft before taxation BHARR 7,31 11,523 18,874
The accounting policies of the operating segments are KED MR BB S M BHRE
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described M2 Frill A BRI 25T BURAER ©

in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE —Z —

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

Segment result represents the profit or loss generated by
each segment without allocation of corporate
management expenses, directors’ emoluments, share of
result of an associate and a joint venture, finance costs,
unallocated other income, unallocated other net gains
and losses, loss allowance on trade and other receivables
and contract assets, net, amortisation of intangible assets
relating to customer relationship and other unallocated
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from
external customers.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6.

By

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

6. oEER &)

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AT AAREEREE R REDEE
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: PHEERBESN :
Segment assets DEPEE
2023 2022
—E-=E T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
(Re-presented)
(F&&E7)
Printing and manufacturing of paper ENfRI & Bd3E 4R B 5%
packages and related materials N ARRAM L 841,164 1,079,466
Sales of RFID products $HE BT SR BRI 2 124,909 186,027
Leasing of investment properties KEMEHEE 169,038 154,362
Total segment assets NEPEEBE 1,135,111 1,419,855
Unallocated property, plant and RORYE - BE K&
equipment 259,769 151,508
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 71,273 86,100
Goodwill RS 615,939 728,704
Interest in an associate MR R A S - 335,495
Deferred tax assets BERIEE E 6,457 15,223
Prepayments and rental and other ENFIEAREMNEER
deposits paid Hiize 37,127 5,848
Other receivables, prepayments H e GRIE « TR
and refundable deposits MARER] £ 37,757 24,577
Tax recoverable BEEEE = 6,918
Structured deposits BTN = 2,629
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITER 21,832 104,512
Bank balances and cash RITRBR LS 345,798 313,292
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBIELENEE 182,464 -
Consolidated assets REEE 2,713,527 3,194,661
2023FFH HNEERBRAF
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZEZ—ZE —=F+_F=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oEER )
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) ITHEEREE(E)
Segment liabilities (continued) PEEE(E)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
(Re-presented)
(5&&E7)
Printing and manufacturing of paper ENfRl & B 4R B 5
packages and related materials rEEEM K 189,418 228,005
Sales of RFID products 55 5 pE R PIE fh 18,931 15,177
Total segment liabilities NEPREARE 208,349 243,182
Other payables and accruals H e I R ERTE 92,256 120,336
Deposit received for disposal a HE—FFBATMNERIEE
subsidiary 30,748 -
Amount due to a non-controlling FEfS — M B A SRR
interest of a subsidiary M IR - 4,233
Bank borrowings IRITIEE 131,550 266,633
Government grants ISRk 19,652 22,058
Lease liabilities HEaE 499
Income tax payable FEFTIS T 8,307 6,064
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE 41,398 57,018
Liabilities associated with assets B BRFEHEN
classified as held for sale EEMRENEE 24,113 =
Consolidated liabilities FEAaE 556,872 719,524

Segment assets represent certain property, plant and
equipment, trade receivables, contract assets and
inventories which are directly attributable to the relevant
operating and reportable segment. Segment liabilities
represent trade payables which are directly attributable to
the relevant operating and reportable segment. These are
the measures reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oEER )
Other segment information Hith o & H
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=+=-A=+—HL#HF
E
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FEREER BRIESELE
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages and Leasing of Sales of
related investment RFID Segment
materials properties products total  Unallocated Total
ORREE
HFagR HEMNR
HBME  REVNEEE BHER por AAE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR ThR ThT ThT ThT
Amounts included in the measurement of & BEE HWEER
seqment resuls or segment assets: TARSE
Addftions to non-current assets REETBEE 24,269 2,545 630 27,444 11,163 38,607
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 86,008 13,652 7,187 106,847 4,563 111,410
Reversal of loss allowance on trade B S REMEWTENR
and other recelvables and contract ANEEFRARBRD
assets, net B - - (56) (56) (1,135) (1,191)
Loss on disposal of property, HENZ « BRERRIER
plant and equipment Fi 11,343 - 300 11,643 2 11,645
Impaiment loss on goodwl EEHESE 77,133 7,500 8,060 92,693 - 92,693
Impaiiment loss on property, W% BERREHESR
plant and equipment 3,955 - - 3,955 - 3,955
Impairment loss on interest in an AEARELEN-HRE
associate classfied as held for sale NAERNAEEE - - - = 66,400 66,400
Provision for write-down on obsolete ~~ BEGZS A
inventories 4364 - - 4364 - 4,364
Amounts regulary provided to THREEEERRARL
the CODM but not included in the RS
measure of Seqment resuls: TARSE
Interest income FlEHA (1,212) (321) (35) (1,568) (4,115) (5,683)
Interest expenses MERR 2,583 466 - 3,049 1,180 4,029
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oEER#E)
Other segment information (continued) Hih 5 EER (42)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—E-_—_f+-A=+—HL*E
(re-presented) E(RE5)
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
REREXH BRIBERK
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages and Leasing of Sales of
related investment RAD Segment
materials properties products total Unallocated Total
HpI e
gexk HEAA
BBiE  REWFEE AhlER ARt AR h

HK8 000 HK8 000 HK8 000 HK8 000 HK8 000 HK8 000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn

Amounts included in the measurement of s EABEE HHEER

seqment results or segment assets: TARSE
Addtions to non-current assets REETBEE 58,492 80,300 4707 143499 153719 297,218
Depreciation and amortisation nEREE 115,175 6,834 12,166 134,175 3065 137,240

Reversal of loss allowance on trade BAREMERZEN R
and other receivables and contract ANEEEERRRD

assets, net it - = T = (74 (74)
Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, HENZ - BE RR{ER

plant and equipment B (ls) (4,8689) a 1 (4874) ) (4879
Gain on disposal of intanglle assets ~ HEEFAEHE - - T = (39) (39)
Provision for write-down on obsolete ~ BEFSHIAARE

inventories 5,784 - 253 6,087 - 6,087
Amounts regularly provided to THAEEREMRARE

the CODM but not includgd in [BYERNG EHBRER

the measure of segment results: TANEE:
Interest income FIBHA 2:239) = (12) 2.250) (1,690) (3.940)
Interest expenses EER 7,M - 193 7904 2,29 10,199
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Revenue from major products and services

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major
products and services is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and
the PRC (country of domicile).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical
market irrespective of the origin of goods. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based
on the geographical location of the assets.

7 ERE KR ()
FTEERRRB R

BRAASEEEEMm&REKmH D
ER 4R 6 IS MRS -

& & R
AEBREBNRPE(GEME) &3
%0

BRAAKERBIMNEEF WS EF -
TIREMIETIH 25 > M wEmE
KR - BEAAKRBIERDEENE
Bt DIREENMIBUEZS)

Revenue from external Non-current
customers assets (note a)
REMBEF W FREBEE (fista)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-= —E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT THET FET
(Re-
presented)
€=l
The PRC H 751,020 1,003,353 1,432,777 1,654,852
Hong Kong BB - - 201,116 227,575
Others (note b) H At (ffsEb) 11,302 19,049 - =
762,322 1,022,402 1,633,893 1,882,427
Notes: Mz :

(@) Non-current assets excluded those relating to deferred tax
assets and interest in an associate and a joint venture, in which
the operations of these associate and joint venture are mainly
carried out in the PRC.

(b)  Others mainly included Federative Republic of Brazil, India, the
Republic of Turkiye, the Portuguese Republic and the Republic
of Korea (2022: Federative Republic of Brazil, India, the Republic
of Turkiye, the Portuguese Republic, the Republic of the Marshall
Islands and the Republic of Korea).

(@ FFRBDEETEEREEHEEERR—
PR A ) R — P& B 0 RO A I
BE BESWEATRAELEIERG
M8 -

) HtXZeFEDEBALNE  NE - £
HEHAME @57 HAEEABRE (=
FT__F: BABBATE - HE +H
EHAFE - @& T K - FARESH
T RA L)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oEER )
Information about major customers EBRXTEEFNER
Details of the customers contributing 10% or more of AREERRZZ10% KA LT
total revenue of the Group are as follows: BIATR ¢
2023 2022
=F== T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue from printing and REORRBEXBER
manufacturing of paper BB W a=
packages and related materials
Customer A ZEA 367,488 353,170
Customer B ZFB —* 115,764
This customer individually contributed less than 10% of the total * ZRPERERBKEE10% AT »

revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HilA
2023 2022
—E—-= — g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
(Re-presented)
(Fe5&31)
Continuing operations bed Y E T
Interest income on bank deposits RITTF KT BUA 5,648 3,928
Sales of scrap materials SHERBER 7,563 4,602
Processing fee income MIEWA 1,263 254
Rental income from plant and W E ks E S A - HBREE
machineries, net of direct expenses X 28 349
Government grants (note) BNEE (M) 4,939 18,859
Write off of other payables Hf S8 EL A B < RIE - 1,245
Sundry income FMIBA 3,705 3,506
23,146 32,743
Discontinued operations BRI EEK
Interest income on bank deposits RITF R BUA 35 12
Sales of scrap materials SHE R 997 1,707
Government grants (note) B2 (M) 178 38
Sundry income FHEEWA 2,854 448
4,064 2,205
27,210 34,948
Note: Government grants were received from the government of the Mizk : MSFBE EREREBN T E A5
PRC mainly as incentives granted by local authority for D ASEEGRERAFME L IEE
encouragement of its business development and innovation % HERARKEYE  BERREMER
except for an amount of approximately HK$1,792,000 (2022: H) & 88 491,792,000 o ( = FE == 4F :
HK$1,882,000) which was granted for the acquisition of property, 1,882,000/% T ) B N (R & B 75 S 5% MY
plant and equipment (as detailed in note 32 to the consolidated FE325FM) - ZERBIE I ARINER K
financial statements). These grants are accounted for as financial &8 REATN S EEEAARKRABRBAA
support with no future related costs expected to be incurred nor BEEMEEDREEE -

related to any assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

8. OTHER NET GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HitlhaRKEEBZFEE
2023 2022
= et T F
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5T FHxT F&T
(Re-presented)
(#&E5)
Continuing operations FEAEER
Foreign exchange gains, net SN Y 55 5 RE 340 289
(Loss) Gain on disposal of HEME  BEMRED
property, plant and equipment  (#518) Uas (11,345) 4,890
Impairment loss on property, W - HE;ERERESE
plant and equipment (3,955) i
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 19 (84,633) -
Gain on disposal of intangible HEEFEEN KD
assets = 35
Loss on deregistration of xS NEI )
subsidiaries (1,367) u
Loss on deregistration of ajoint  FEH—fEA& Z R EE
venture - (801)
Gain from changes in fair value of & AR BEFT AIBZEH £ R
financial assets at FVPL BEAREBEEZS NS 13 784
Reversal of loss allowance on B 5 REMBERFIBUARE
trade and other receivables and A& E E BB RO E
contract assets, net 9 1,135 74
Impairment loss on interest in DEAEELEN —MEE
an associate classified as NaElE=A R EEE
held for sale 21 (66,400) -
Others Hth (1,281) 10,621
(167,493) 15,892
Discontinued operations BARILEE XK
Foreign exchange (losses) gains,  4ME (E518) Wz F 58
net (584) 942
Reversal of loss allowance on B 5N E b E R IEEE
trade and other receivables, net {5 [0 H %8 9 56 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BERZHED
plant and equipment Eia (300) (11)
Impairment losses on goodwill PR EEE 19 (8,060) 7
(8,888) 931
(176,381) 16,823
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9.

REVERSAL OF (PROVISION FOR) LOSS

E_T_=F+_A=1+—HILFE

ALLOWANCE ON TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS,

9. BEERHMEBBWREAUREN
EESRRERE (BB FH

NET
2023 2022
T a=S it = o
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
(Re-presented)
(#=&E7))
Continuing operations IFERE R
Net loss allowance reversed FAT B IE BB R E RO
(recognised) on: (HER) F58 -
— Trade receivables — B EWFA 1,172 46
— Contract assets — EBHEE 95 =
— Other receivables — Efh IR (132) 28
1,135 74
Discontinued operations BARILEEER
Net loss allowance reversed FLUAT B IH S B R HE RO
(recognised) on: (FER) F%58 -
Trade receivables 2 5 I8 134 =
Other receivables H th & W 308 (78) -
56 -
1,191 74

Details of loss allowance assessment for the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FREE—_T _=F+_A=+—H
HFEENEBRBRETIGFBIRGEA
BIFSRRMIFES9 o

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE —Z —

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BME KA
2023 2022
=F== g
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
€=l
Continuing operations BREREEYE
Interest expenses on bank RITEEREXHMEFEZ
borrowings and overdrafts 4,222 10,006
Imputed interest expenses on lease HEBEMHEF SRS
liabilities 7 -
4,229 10,006
Discontinued operations ERILCEER
Interest expenses on bank RITEERBEXNFERX
borrowings and overdrafts - 193
4,229 10,199
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

11. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 11. BRBAT (BE) =R
This is stated after charging: TS EMBR A T IS ED -
2023 2022
—E-= —ZF=-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE FERT FHIT
(Re-presented)
(&&E75)
Continuing operations FEREER
Staff costs, including directors’ 8 T AN » £ % 2% 2=l
remuneration
Salaries and other benefits e R HMEF 69,708 83,135
Contributions to retirement RIRERET 2R
benefits schemes 3,911 5,703
Contractual termination benefit & #94% |48 F| 4,734 27,378
Total staff costs BB TR 78,353 116,216
Auditor’s remuneration % S5 % B 1,800 1,800
Cost of inventories FERA (a) 452,558 596,720
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# Y (Gt AEE
(included in cost of sales and AN RITH B )
administrative expenses) 2,143 23,740
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — ¥ - &= &R & 85,957 92,020
— right-of-use assets — FHEEE 2,471 2,480
— investment properties — REME 13,652 6,834
Total depreciation and mEREHER
amortisation 104,223 125,074
Research expenses HEAX (FrABEEKAR)
(included in cost of sales) 25,247 38,146
Direct operating expenses arising & & & £ & WA B E
from investment properties that M B H ZER X
generated rental income GPNL %)
(included in cost of sales) 15,209 15,831
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

11. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

11. BRBIAT (B518) &R ()

(continued)
2023 2022
—E-=E T F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FET
(Re-presented)
(F&&E7)
Discontinued operations EARILAEEEE
Staff costs, including directors’ 8B A @ £ 5 = H
remuneration
Salaries and other benefits e MEMIEF| 5,363 9,737
Contributions to retirement RIREF B K
benefits schemes 1,058 iS008

Total staff costs a8 TR AR 6,421 11,040

Cost of inventories HFEKAR (b) 21,554 50,187

Depreciation on property, plant  #7% - #E &R EITE

and equipment 7,187 12,166

Research expenses MR (GTAEERA)

(included in cost of sales) 5,730 8,201

Note: PifeE -

@ Included in cost of inventories from continuing operations were @) HELEXBNEFERABEETIAA
staff costs, depreciation and amortisation and write-down on MERBHURRERE MRS B4
obsolete inventories of approximately HK$50,281,000 (2022: 50,281,000% t( = F = = 4F:
HK$74,609,000), HK$52,097,000 (2022: HK$95,192,000) and 74,609,000 ) ~ 52,007,000 7T (= F
HK$4,364,000 (2022: HK$6,037,000) respectively which are =4 :95,192,000/% T ) & 4,364,000 7%
recognised during the year. T(ZF = =4 :6,037,000%7) - ER

NEEHER -
(o)  Included in cost of inventories from discontinued operations were (b) ERIKEXBHFEERNEABEEINA

staff costs and depreciation and amortisation of approximately
HK$4,316,000 (2022: HK$6,152,000) and HK$6,531,000 (2022:
HK$11,477,000) respectively which are recognised during the
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BT _=F+_A=1+—HIEFE

12. TAXATION 12. H1\E
2023 2022
—E-= i
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B5E FHET FET
(Re-presented)
(&&ES)
Continuing operations FEREEK
Current tax ZREARLIE
The PRC ==
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) EFEH
(TEZERMEN ) 18,932 4,862
Overprovision of EIT in prior BEFEEDEMER
years FRRER - (124)
18,932 4,738
Deferred tax EAEHTE 33
Origination and reversal of EXREODERE=
temporary differences (9,062) 13,195
Utilisation of tax losses AT IAEE 6,489 -
Benefit of tax loss recognised B iR H THE 18 )35 - (9,292)
(2,573) 3,903
Income tax expenses from R TSR
continuing operations PRS2 16,359 8,641
Discontinued operations BARIAREERK
Current tax AHAB 18
The PRC =n
EIT EMBEEH 68 (1,371)
Overprovision of EIT in prior BEFELEMSH
years tBRER A (875) (800)
(807) (2,171)
Deferred tax BRI
Origination and reversal of EERBOERER
temporary differences 33 (135) 2,989
Income tax (credit) expenses T #& I AR 25 1 FrE 5K
from discontinued (&) X H
operations (942) 818
Total tax charge for the year & R#EX HA%E 15,417 9,459
2023FFH HEFRBERAA
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

12. TAXATION (continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group’s profits neither arose in, nor derived from, Hong
Kong.

The PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable prevailing tax
rates from 15% to 25% (2022: 15% to 25%) in the PRC.
Pursuant to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law for Foreign
Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises”, some
PRC subsidiaries, being a High-Tech Enterprise, were
entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% for three years from
the date of approval.

Upon the New Tax Law and Implementation Regulations
coming into effect, the PRC withholding income tax is
applicable to dividends payable to investors that are
“non-PRC tax resident enterprises”, which do not have
an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or
which have such establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or place of business, to the extent such
dividends have their sources within the PRC. Under such
circumstances, dividends distributed from the PRC
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture to non-PRC
tax resident group entities shall be subject to the
withholding income tax at 10% or lower tax rate, as
applicable. Under the relevant tax treaty, withholding tax
rate on distribution to Hong Kong resident companies is
5%. Deferred taxation has been provided on
undistributed earnings of all subsidiaries and an associate
(as detailed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements).
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

12, HIE(#)

RS E &S MW IERN BB ELEN
B - ML EEHR BRI GHEE -

PRI EMERIZTPEMNERERR
KA E25%( —FE - —F : 16% %
25%) 5t & - MEBE(RRAINEIRE D
MINEERBRIE) - BT WS
ARl (@R ) B 8t/4 B e
AEFAARBRECEMERME
15% B ©

AN BRI LML - FETEN
PISHER RN E [ I BfE RAHR
CEIREENRE  ZFHFTBEER
MAMEERNTRELERAEENER
W KERERBELE X MHER
FAWABER FEZBEBRER B E
B HEARERETIRERERR -
RZFERAT  FEMEAR - B
REAIRAEEFERN FHEIBEERS
MEEEEERNKREBRI0%MNTE
HABHRRERABER R (WER) &
B REBEBEBRKGE  ABEEER
NENRA I B RS A5 5% TR - i
FERLIEC LA A MY B 1 B e — B &
RAHAR DR BT REHE (N R A B
TR FE 33 FFAL) ©



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

12. TAXATION (continued) 12. BIE (&)
Reconciliation of income tax expenses from SEREERNMEBH T HNYR

continuing operations

2023 2022

—E-= —E-F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

BI5E FET FHET

(Re-presented)

(Fe=5))

(Loss) Profit before taxation BR& AT (E518) 5 A (139,784) 7,351
Income tax at applicable tax ZEAE25%

rate of 25% (2022: 25%) TE—4F 1 25%)

STEMAETEH (@) (34,946) 1,839

Share of result of an associate 5 — RIS N B ¥4 7,600 (393)

Share of result of a joint venture 1 —E1& L %45 - ©)

Non-deductible expenses AR B 2 44,622 2,842

Non-taxable income BAERBRBA (815) -

Unrecognised tax losses RIERIRIAEE 6,114 4,798

Additional tax benefit on research  iff 2% [ > I BAINR 75 Fl) 22

and development expenses (b) (6,312) (8,221)

Deferred tax on undistributed PRNE AT, HE QR

earnings of the PRC RO IREF §ELET E

subsidiaries/associates 9,395 11,057
Tax effect of undistributed RBBREFBENRDIK

earnings reinvested in BB E

the PRC not taxable - (290)

Income tax on concessionary rate IZE =R R+ E W FTEHE (9,299) (2,858)

Overprovision in prior years BAFEBREEE — (124)

Income tax expenses for the year & RFT1SH 3% H 16,359 8,641

Notes: F5E -

(@)  The applicable tax rate of 25% represents the applicable income @@  BEABE25% KL BRI - 28 -
tax rate of the subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Anhui, Jiangsu and TERNGHAL BB A R M@ B TSR
Hubei in the PRC which constitute the substantial part of the R MEHNBARGASEBHEZ
Group’s operations for the years ended 31 December 2023 and ZEFRZFIZFE+ZA=T—HIEF
2022. ERIRER D 5T

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, the Group (o) IBEEERERAKER RSB AES
could obtain additional tax benefit, which is a further 75% to BINRISF S - MERFI - 28 - T&
100% (2022: 75% to 100%) of certain qualified research and Fodb & s B R SR BT 608 T& B AR
development cost incurred endorsed by the Shenzhen, Anhui, B AR EEINTE% E100% (ZF==4F :
Jiangsu and Hubei Local Taxation Administrators. 76% Z 100%) °
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

13. EERITHARFHRAER&
BEFES

RAR B R B R R AR BIIR R B R F
REENMTHREHZFMAOT

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other  Performance benefits
Fees benefits bonus schemes Total
&R BIREF
he Hit A KB4 STEIf @t
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TAT FET AT
Year ended BHe-g-=F
31 December 2023 +ZA=1-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Huang Wanru (note b) EBWNLE (Hib) - 702 695 51 1,448
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu Brmts - 662 694 - 1,356
Non-executive director EHTES
Ms. LiLi EX 1) - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUEHTES
directors
Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy MEBE A 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lui Tin Nang BREEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EXRLE 240 - - - 240
720 1,364 1,389 51 3,524
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZ-ZE-—F
+ZA=1+-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Chen Xiao Liang (note &) B R A (fizta) = 157 = 6 163
Mr. Huang Wanru (note b) FEMALE (HiEb) - 725 282 52 1,059
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu Brmts - 685 485 - 1,170
Mr. Qin Song (note ¢) LA (FfsEc) = 148 862 1,019
Non-executive director HTES
Ms. Li Li TR L = — — = -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy MEB L 169 - - - 169
Mr. Lui Tin Nang BARES 169 - - - 169
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EXRLE 169 - - - 169
507 1,715 1,629 67 3,918
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

() Mr. Chen Xiao Liang has been re-designated as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 21 January
2022 and resigned from the position with effect from 22 April
2022.

(b) Mr. Huang Wanru has been re-designated as the chairman of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2022.

(c) Mr. Qin Song resigned from the position as an executive director
and chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 21
January 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2022: HK$nil).

13. EERTHARFHRAR&

aFES @)
GEE

@ BRELLECATAAARITHRAY A
ZEIZF A+ —HRBAENR WEH
Azl E-E-—FmNA=-+=-H
AR e

) EHBWNEEDATAARRERE BT
“ZENMAZF+—HBEMS -

© HREEDBIARRNITEERITHREA
B BT —F—A-+—B#E4

EXFRBTESOFMIESE
PR EANR A AR B S50 RS M
X e EXFIRBIYIFRITEETNH
MRS EERNRREFNREM
e

FALBESHTRAHBRRKRAE
HETAMEN L (—F-_—F : F
EIT) e
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

The five highest paid individuals included two (2022:
three) directors of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2022:
two) individuals during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

13. EERTHARFHR A R&

SRS ()

BE_F_=F+-HA=+—HLF
B hERSHFALEERE(ZF
ToF ZH)AREESR - HFHBE
BEREX -BT=R(ZF__F:
BE) NERANFERNFHBMOT

2023 2022
—E-= —E_—

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FETT

Salaries and other benefits e REAMET 2,139 1,328
Contributions to retirement benefits RIKE R0

schemes 66 18

2,205 1,346

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,
excluding two (2022: three) directors, were within the
following bands:

hEREHALT(TEERA(ZF
Z=F ZR)ER)NFIN &
B

2023 2022
e = T 2T T

No. of No. of

employees employees

BEAH BEAK

Nil to HK$1,000,000

£ % 1,000,000 % 7T

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company, the chief executive officer of
the Group, senior management, or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

14. (LOSSES) EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. B (F8) B
The calculation of the basic and diluted (losses) earnings RARHE NEBESRERKEE (&
per share attributable to owners of the Company is based 1B) B TIETINEIBE -

on the following data:

2023 2022
=== =
(Re-presented)
(&&E3)
(Losses) Earnings (E18) ZF
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable ~ FALAFT E &R E AR R AR 7

to owners of the Company 2N

for the purpose of basic earnings FE (B8R &M (FET)

per share (HK$’000)

— Continuing operations — B EE (156,143) (1,290)

— Discontinuing operations — BRIEEEER (7,738) 7,494
(163,881) 6,204

Number of shares R&OEA

Weighted average number of ordinary FLAFTE &R E A K&

shares in issue for the purpose of BSERFME BT LR

basic and diluted earnings per share  fn#E 158 (FR%)

('000) 1,567,885 1,667,885
Diluted (losses) earnings per share are same as the basic SR EEE (E i) BFE IR E AR (E518)
(losses) earnings per share as there are no dilutive BFER AABZ T _=FKk_—
potential ordinary shares in existence during the years E__F+_A=1T—HItFEITE

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. BEBE#RETEMNTER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15. R E
2023 2022
=F== g
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders & N#ER A7 K H) A 7
of the Company recognised as BB RS
distribution during the year:
2022 final dividend, paid at HK4.00 BHNZZT - —FKHAKE
cents per share T 4.007811 62,715 -
The directors of the Company do not recommend the ARAREZITEERBE_T_=F
payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December T AT —BUEFERNRE(=ZF
2023 (2022: The final dividend of HK4 cents per share in T EFERNEER T __F
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting +ZH=+—HIEFERMNKARE
to approximately HK$62,715,000 had been proposed by B 48N - & H#962,715,0008 7T -
the directors and was approved by the shareholders in WEREFR-F - =FNANAET
the annual general meeting held on 9 June 2023). BIRERBAFEAXE LHEHE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BERRE
Furniture
Leasehold Plant and and office Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BRE
BT BEHE HEREE  BOZRE AE EEIR @it

HK000  HK§000  HKEOOD  HKBOOO  HKSO000  HKBOO0  HKSO000
TER TER TET TER TET TET TER

Reconcliation of caryingamount ~ BREEHE - B#E=F-=F
— yearended 31 December 2022 +=A=t+-ALLEE

At the beginning of the reporting period 73 &1 350,146 16,620 326,418 8,975 4814 180,268 887,241
Additions RE 2,130 - 2,260 3,828 2,653 53,268 64,139
Additions — acquisition of a subsidiary & — WE—FEHBAR) 152,733 - - 4 - = 152,779
Transfer from construction in progress &R EERTR 163,016 (201) 56,327 7 - (219,188 -
Transfer to investment properies ~ EETRENE (W 18)

(note 18) (14,142 - - - - - (14,149)
Disposals i - - - (3,568) (291) (61) (3920)
Depreciation it (31,469) (3830) (63,780) (3,465) (1,648) - (10418)
Exchange differences EHER (30,700) 959) 25,237) (1) (345) (9.857) (67,515)
Attheend of hereporting pefiod  AEHR 591,720 1604 295988 5ATH 5,183 4430 91439

Reconciliation of carryingamount REEHER - BEZ-E-=F
- yearended 31 December 2023 +t=A=T-ALEE

At the beginning of the reporting period 78 54 501,720 11,604 295,988 5471 5,183 4,430 914,396
Additions RE 416 142 12,948 5,687 1,497 17,352 38,042
Transfer from construction in progress ERAERTR 2,844 - - - - (2.844) -
Transfer to investment properies ~ EERRENE (M 18)

note 18) (65,607) - - - - - (65,607)
Transfer from investment property ~ EEBRENE (I3 18)

(note 18) 36,811 - - - - - 36,811
Transfer to assets held for sale ERTRENENEE = = (33,139) (101) (13 (1,038) (34,291)
Disposdls e (462) - 131,009 851) (1.445) . 33761)
Depreciations Vil (26,425) (3729 (58,042) (3,361) (1,587) = (93,144)
Impairment loss HEER - - (3985) - - - (3,985)
Exchange differences Ey2E (14889) 25) 917 03 (125 9 (3480
Atthe end of the reporting period R HK 524,409 7,165 174,880 6,752 3510 17,691 735,007
At January 2023 R-E-=f-f-H
Cost A 806,012 16,530 803,572 16,685 17,069 4,430 1,664,298
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAEEE

impairment losses (214,292) (4,926) (607,584) (11,214) (11,886) - (749,902)
Net carrying amount REFE 591,720 11,604 295,988 5471 5,183 4430 914,396
At 31 December 2023 R=ZE-=%F+-A=1-H
Cost KA 765,126 16,280 740,506 21,009 16,646 17,691 1,577,258
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAEEE

impairment losses (240,717) (8,515) (565,626) (14,257) (13,136) - (842,251)
Net carying amount BEFE 524,409 776 174880 6752 3510 e 73007
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
The Group’s buildings are located in the PRC and Hong
Kong which are under lease terms of 50 years.

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of
property, plant and equipment which have been idled at
the end of the reporting period and determined that the
recoverable amount from the use or sale of certain of
these assets has significantly declined below their
carrying amount. Accordingly, the carrying value of these
assets has been reduced by HK$3,955,000 (2022:
HK$nil) to reflect this impairment loss. The recoverable
amount of these assets is determined by reference to the
fair value less costs of disposal by reference to the
market price of an active market.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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16. M1% - BWENRE (&)

AEBNEFMNRPELES  HH
B0 ©

BEECEHRBREHRBENDE -
BB M EAIRIREE - Wi EEA
FHEETHZSEENNRESRED
FEERERAAB - Bt ZFEE
/)RR B 28 £ 3,955,000 T (=&
ZZFF¥EL) WRBRZRES
B - ZEEEMNNHEBEENILR2E
AABERLEEXNARERTSH T
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FREEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HEL HEME @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHEL THEL
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEYHER - BE-F-=F

— year ended 31 December 2022 +TZA=1+—HILEE
At the beginning of the reporting period 73R & #1#]] 103,036 311 103,347
Transfer to investment properties EREREME (K3E18)

(note 18) (6,585) - (6,585)
Depreciation e (2,480) - (2,480)
Early termination of leases RELIULHEE - (311) (311)
Exchange differences fE N Z (7,871) - (7,871)
At the end of the reporting period RREHR 86,100 - 86,100
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEHE — BZ-E-=F

— year ended 31 December2023 +=-A=1+—HILEE
At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥R 2 #34) 86,100 - 86,100
Additions RE - 565 565
Transfer to investment properties R EE (H3E18)

(note 18) (10,603) - (10,603)
Depreciation e (2,361) (110) (2,471)
Exchange differences fEHERE 2,318) = 2,318)
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHK 70,818 455 71,273
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=%F—A—H
Cost B AR 108,114 - 108,114
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiE (22,014) - (22,014)
Net carrying amount REFE 86,100 = 86,100
At 31 December 2023 R=-®_=%+=-A=t-H
Cost BAR 94,750 565 95,315
Accumulated depreciation REtHE (23,932) (110) (24,042)
Net carrying amount REFE 70,818 455 71,273

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The leasehold land represents the land use rights situated
in the PRC. At the end of the reporting period, the
remaining lease term of the lands are within the range
from 29 to 45 years (2022 30 to 46 years).

Details of the interest expenses on lease liabilities and
lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 10 and 29 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
dormitories. As at 31 December 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases was similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed as below.

17. FRHEEE®)

FAE LI R B (e A -
REBEER - THba9sR THEEN T 29
FASE(ZF = —4F : 30F464E) ©

HEABEMNERYMEEAENHEE
EIH BRSO B o BIEHRERE VIR
KHIFE10 %29 o

BHE-_ZT__F+_-_A=+—HILHF
B AEBTHRETIEST L EH
ME RZZE-_—_F+=-A=1+—8"
RHEEACHEEHHEERIN TX
FENEHASEHESEE -

2023 2022
TR S T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Lease payments: MERK -
Short-term leases recognised RERERNEREE
in profit or loss = ke
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIS ERA X - il keh
Lease payments on lease liabilities HESEMWBEERNR 73 =
Total cash outflow for leases MERSMLERE 73 1,191

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless the
approval is obtained from the lessor, the properties can
only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited
from selling or pledging the underlying assets. For the
leased properties, the Group is required to keep those
properties in a good state of repair and return the
properties in their original or current condition at the end
of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE
2023 2022
—gE=-= T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHEIT
Reconciliation of carrying amount BRE{E ¥ AR
At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥R &5 HA 4] 145,148 55,780
Additions — acquisition of a subsidiary ~ ANE — WE—EHE R A - 80,300
Transfer from property, plant and EEAYE - BERE&E
equipment (note 16) (M5E16) 65,607 14,142
Transfer to property, plant and BRI - BE MK
equipment (note 16) (H5E16) (36,811) -
Transfer from right-of-use assets ERATRAEEE
(note 17) (fF3E17) 10,603 6,585
Depreciation e (13,652) (6,834)
Exchange differences MEHZ%E (2,296) (4,825)
At the end of the reporting period RI|BEHR 168,599 145,148
Cost B AR 343,024 231,179
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (174,425) (86,031)
Net carrying amount REFE 168,599 145,148

Investment properties with carrying amount of

8% ™ 18 9 Bl 965,607,000 T( = &F

approximately HK$65,607,000 (2022: HK$14,142,000)
and HK$10,603,000 (2022: HK$6,585,000) have been
transferred from buildings under property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets respectively due to
change in management’s intention for the use of
particular factory premises. These factory premises have
no longer been self-occupied by the Group since the
inception of lease agreements with third parties during
the year.

ZZ1F : 14,142,000,%7T) % 10,603,000
BIL(—F = —14F : 6,585,000, ) K
KREMECBYME  BEREZREUR
FTREEEETEFER ARAEE
BHRTMEMERAELENEREE -
ARAEEEF=HOEERZRE
% ZEBREMETBHRASEET
15A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 18.
Investment properties with carrying amount of
approximately HK$36,811,000 (2022: HK$nil) have been
transferred to property, plant and equipment due to
change in management’s intention for the use of
particular factory premises. These factory premises have
no longer been leased to third parties since the self-
occupation for administration purposes by the Group
during the year.

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The Group leases out warehouses, office properties and
factory premises under operating leases with fixed
monthly rental charges. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to 6 years) without
extension and termination options.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a
result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term. The
Group has purchased insurance to protect the investment
properties against any loss that may arise from accidents
or physical damages of the properties.

All the properties held for rental purposes have
committed lessees for coming years. Below is a maturity
analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received
from the leasing of investment properties.

BREWE &)

BR T 1B #936,811,000/8 T ( — F = =
F:EET)NEEVECERSY
¥ BELRZE BREEEHRETE

RERBITEHRETERRER  ZF
BEDEIBELETE=T -

HEZHE — FREEAA
AEEREAAETHEEHENE
BE - WAMERBEYE - HE—
BT B E3F (=T F 12
6F)  TRIERKKIEERE -

HRAEHESUNEEEEEBNY
REEFE HAKREYERNHEHER
BmARINERR - HEANHTES
FABEERE LABAREDRE
mEBEYENEERE - AEBER
BREAREREVERZBINKY
EYIERIR A GBI ER -

FIFHERENMEMECS SARKRE
BRIVEE - U N RERENEHEE
R AR IR E N KB AT -

2023 2022
= = =S

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Year 1 F1F 31,807 14,798

Year 2 FEoF 28,627 14,392

Year 3 EIF 3,565 13,542
Undiscounted lease payments to be TR B R AT IR E S

received 63,999 42,732
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 December 2023 was HK$766,247,000 (2022:
HK$413,948,000). The fair value has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting
and Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The following table gives information about how the fair
value of the investment properties at the end of the
reporting period is determined (in particular, the valuation
approaches and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.

18.

BEW=E (&)
AEBMBENENA AEENE

AEBREMER T _=ZF+=A4
= +T—HMAREEAT66,247,000%8
JL(—ZF = —4F : 413,948,000;%7T) °
RZEBEZ=FRZFZ=_F+=A
=t+—RH AAEBENIREBILIE]
BEEGHEMASBARTHERA
AEITREEMETE

TRIFEABNAEERENEN &
SHRNAABENEFR (K52
RETERBARE)  ARREAR
BEFEGABEBENAIBERE - K

ARBEFESRENRABEER -

Fair value
Investment properties hierarchy  Valuation technique Significant inputs
RENE AREEER HERM BEAWAE
Industrial property located  Level 3 Market comparable Recent transaction prices for
in Shenzhen approach similar properties
RIRRYIE T3 E=/ T35 Al L EUE BUMERTRR S (E
Industrial property located  Level 3 Depreciated replacement  Estimation of the market value
in Bengbu cost approach for the existing structures
less deductions for physical
deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and
optimisation
URERNTEME FE= FrEFBMKAER BB EBOMEHEREYE
RAERYHIBR A KR P B 1B
T HY B R E1E
Industrial property located  Level 3 Market comparable Recent transaction prices for
in Hong Kong approach similar properties
UREENTEME FE= 5 Al LLBOE BUMERIRRZ 5B
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

18.

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used in
prior year.

GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to six individual CGUs, comprising subsidiaries
engaged in printing and manufacturing of paper
packages and related materials, sales of RFID products
and property investment (2022: seven individual CGUSs,
comprising subsidiaries engaged in printing and
manufacturing of paper packages and related materials,
manufacturing of laminated paper business, sales of RFID
products and property investment).

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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—_—

19. GOODWILL (continued)

19.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of goodwill net of impairment losses recognised allocated

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

[k 4C D,

REPR - HEKREE(HIREER
MEBR) CEIEEZSTHRSELE

to these CGUs are as follows: fzgn T
Manufacturing Sales of
Printing and manufacturing of paper of laminated RFID Property
packages and related materials paper products investment
HESR
DRREEAERAEA HERAH BHER NERE
CGU-1 CoU-2 CGU-3 CGU-6 CGU-4 CGU-5 CGU-7 Total
ReEE REEE ReEE ReEE ReEE ReEE REEE
Bfi-1 Efi-2 Bfi-3 Efi-§ Bfi4 Efi-5 Efi7 @it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
AT FhL Tér T Thr T Fh T
Reconciliation of carying amount BHEAE - 82252
— year ended 31 December 2022 TZA=+-ALLEE
At the beginning of the reporting period A& EH) 600977 137,532 - 49565 = 9430 = 797 504
Reallocation BHAR (203,574) - = = . = 208574 =
Exchange differences EAEE (52.89%6) (10,821) - (3899 - (1,184) - (68,800)
At the end of the reporting period REEHR 344,507 126711 - 45,666 - 8246 203574 728,704
Reconciliation of carrying amount ~ REEHEK - HZ-F-=F
~ year ended 31 December 2023 TZR=t-ALEE
At the beginning of the reporting period A ER 5 547 4507 126,711 - 45,666 - 8,246 23574 728,704
Reallocation BHAR (311,240) = = = = = 311,240 =
Impairment loss HEER (32,500) - - (64633 - (8,060) (7,500 (92,699
Bxchange differences EiZE (767) (3584) - (1,033 - (186) (14502 (20,07
Atthe end of the reporting period REEDFK - 123127 - - - - 492812 615989
At 1 January 2023 R_E-=F-f-H
Cost A 539276 126711 42,800 45,666 37 11,086 318,666 1,084,572
Accumulated impaiment losses ZHAERR (194769 - (82.800) = (367) (2840) (115,099 (355,869)
Net carmying amount KEEE 344,507 126,711 - 45,666 - 8246 28,574 728,704
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+-A=1-A
Cost A 212783 123,127 41589 14374 - - 620892 1042765
Accumulated impaiment losses ZithERE (212,783 - 41589 (4,374 = = (128,080) (426,826)
Net carrying amount BEFE = 123,127 = = = - 192812 615,930

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (including allocation of corporate
assets) that generate cash flows together with the related
goodwill and opening net working capital balances which
are largely integrated with the cash flows from the CGU
under review are also included in the respective CGU for
the purpose of impairment assessment.

BREEN EERSRENYE W
EhRELEVEE (BREXEEN
DE)ERERRERRNEEEDF
B (ABy BREhnReELEN
BER) THUBENEASBRRS
ELEN -
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

The Group has engaged independent qualified
professional valuers, Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited (“Vincorn”) and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL") (2022: Flagship
Appraisals and Consulting Limited (“Flagship”) and JLL)
to perform appraisals of the recoverable amount of
several CGUs arising from printing and manufacturing of
paper packages and related materials and property
investment (2022: printing and manufacturing of paper
packages and related materials, manufacturing of
laminated papers, sales of RFID and property investment)
at the end of the reporting period. The recoverable
amounts of CGUs are the higher of their value in use and
their fair value less costs of disposal.

At the end of the reporting period and during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amounts of
CGU-7 (2022: CGU-1 and CGU-7) were determined
based on the fair value less costs of disposal, and the
remaining CGUs were determined based on the value in
use calculations. The recoverable amount of CGU-5
(2022: n/a) was determined based on the fair value less
costs of disposal at the end of reclassification as assets
held for sale.

The value in use calculations used discounted future cash
flow model based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 18.71% and 22.70% for CGU-2 and
CGU-6 respectively (2022: 18.37%, 13.82% and 18.51%
for CGU-2, CGU-5 and CGU-6 respectively). Cash flows
beyond five-year period is extrapolated using a steady
growth rate of 2.2% (2022: 3.0%). Cash flow projections
for the CGUs are based on the expected terminal growth
rate, gross margin and sales growth rate during the
budget period, which were determined based on past
performance of the Group and the management’s
expectations for the market development.
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19. BE (&)

RBER AEEZEBUSER
HEXAEMLEEARTEBERAF
(Mahz ) R EBITEEFHREH
BRAR([HE#T]) (ZFE==F :
A EFIGEER AR A A (18 )
RAFEHTT) ETENR & 2is 4K 8 5 &4
MBI ARMFERE (ZF=ZF - f
IR BEAR BRI F - BEE
B - SHE TS FIE A R R
B)EEETReEEEMMAIIKE
CHETTH BeELESEMNAHTYK
EleBEAFRAEBEREARBERBRE
RN EYSE

RBEHREEBEE-_T-_=F+_A8
=+—BIEFE - BEeEABN-7(=
FTo—F HeEFEN-1REDE
B -7) A RE S EREALEE
BEHEKAEERB THEEAEN
BEFRAEEAEET -REELSE
N-5(=F=—4F : T@EH)MIKE
CHEBBEFDEARELENEE
ERENAAEBERLERAETE -

ZERBEAESTNERAREERE
HERERAFHBENMBEENTER
ARBeRERAUERBRSELSE
-2 RIREEEBMN-69 RERRA
I8 R18.71% }22.70% ( — F — —
FpBEsELEN-2 HeELE
fi7-5 kB2 EE B -6 5E BB
W E18.37% ~ 13.82% % 18.51%) °
FFHRHENR S RERBEERE
22%(—F - —4 :30%)TBH - R
ELEBEVHNReRERABIEEERS
AREHRKERE  EREREE
BREEEBET AHLERBEASED
BERBREEESMSERENEE
M E °
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19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. HE (#)

The fair value less costs of disposal has been determined
by market comparable approach (2022: cost approach
based on adjusted net asset value method). The
significant inputs are observable market price of
investment properties (2022: market price of the assets
and liabilities) and the unobservable adjustments on the
fair value of these investment properties (2022: assets
and liabilities).

The impairment losses on goodwill have been included in
“Other net gains and losses” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

CGU-1 and CGU-7

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain
premises within CGU-1 area were leased out for earning
rental income, the Group reorganised its reporting
structure of a subsidiary in a way that changes the
composition of the CGU-1 to two CGUs, namely CGU-1,
printing of cigarette and related materials business, and
CGU-7, investment properties business, for which
goodwill of HK$203,574,000 had been reallocated from
CGU-1 to CGU-7 by using the proportionate of areas of
the premise occupied by CGU-1 and CGU-7.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in light of the
cessation of manufacturing activities in CGU-1, all of the
premises within CGU-1 area are leased out for earning
rental income. The Group reorganised its reporting
structure of a subsidiary in a way that changes the
remaining composition of the CGU-1 to CGU-7, for which
goodwill of HK$311,240,000 has been reallocated from
CGU-1 to CGU-7. At the end of the reporting period, the
management of the Group has determined goodwill
directly related to CGU-1 and CGU-7 amounting to
HK$nil and HK$492,812,000 (2022: HK$344,507,000
and HK$203,574,000) respectively.

ARBEREEXADSEATSAL
BOR(ZF-—F : FHRALRIERE
HEEEFEL)EE - EXNBARIE
REENEOABEME(ZF -
F:EERRENTE) RAERED
R(—FE_—F : BERREB)NRR
EBEMNTABRBE -

BEREBAEHALA RERER
) [H A RIS -

HeEXBEN-1RBRSEEEN-T7

HE_T-_—_F+-A=+—HL*F
B BEeEALBMN1SEBERNEIY
ELHEUBRRESKA - AEBEHR
HMBARNEMERE  BHEELE
B -1MEKERAMERCELS
iz - B e EABEN -1 (RIEZERE
AMRER) MREeEESEN-7(IRE
TS - H A28 208,574,000%
TEERRCELBEN-1RBECELSE
N-7TEHhXERELORREELS
N ABHOREREEEEMN-T °

HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HL*F
B ERREeELBEM-1HEIETEE
ik BEeELEENA1BEANAEA
MEHLAURDRESKA - AEE
BHEMBARMNEMERE  BREE
AEBEUANRGEARER AR SES
B-7 - P EE311,240,0008 TE
MECELEN 1EFIRERESE
EBEM-7 - RBEHR AEEERE
BEETHREELBN1RRSE
EBAN-TEEEBNEED R ATE
7T} 492,812,000 7T ( = F = =

344,507,000/ 7T % 203,574,000 7T ) °
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

CGU-1 and CGU-7 (continued)

The recoverable amount of CGU-1 and CGU-7 have
been determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation report prepared by Vincorn
(2022: Flagship). An impairment loss on goodwill of
HK$32,500,000 and HK$7,500,000 (2022: HK$nil and
HK$nil) directly related to CGU-1 and CGU-7 respectively
have been made during the year. The management of the
Group considers that no further impairment loss on other
tangible and intangible assets of CGU-1 and CGU-7 is
considered necessary.

The recoverable amount of CGU-7 of HK$647,664,000
(2022: CGU-1 and CGU-7 of HK$602,619,000 and
HK$261,688,000 respectively) were classified as level 3
under fair value hierarchy. Sales prices of comparable
properties in term of size, location, accessibility and other
relevant factors in close proximity adjusted for differences
in key valuation attributes, such as size, location and
accessibility were used to value the properties, which
were determined based on the management’s
expectations for the market performance and consistent
with external sources of information. One of the key
unobservable inputs used in this valuation approach is
price per square metre. A decrease in the price per
square metre would result in decrease in fair value
measurement of the properties by the same percentage
and vice versa.

If an adverse change of 5% in market price of the
properties of CGU-7 (2022: CGU-1 and CGU-7), while
other specific assumption remains constant, a further
impairment loss on goodwill of HK$24,702,000 (2022:
HK$19,006,000 and HK$15,429,000 respectively) would
be recognised. In reality, a change in one of the
aforementioned assumptions may accompany a change
in another assumption which may have an offsetting
impact. Action is also usually taken to respond to adverse
changes in economic assumptions that may mitigate the
impact of any such change.
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19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. HE (#)

CGU-2

Because the expansion of market share and the effect of
winning tenders, the management of the Group considers
that no impairment loss on goodwill of CGU-2 for both
years with reference to the value in use calculation of the
CGU-2 based on the valuation report issued by JLL.

The management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of CGU-2 to exceed its
aggregate recoverable amount at the end of the reporting
period.

CGU-5

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management decided to dispose of 70% equity interest
in Jiangsu HY Link Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (VT &
EEYFEBRAERRDQA) (Jangsu HY Link”) at a
consideration of RMB51,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$56,018,000) (note 35(a)), an
impairment loss on goodwill of CGU-5 of HK$8,060,000
(2022: HK$nil) was recognised as the carrying amount of
CGU-5 is higher than the consideration. The
management of the Group considers that no further
impairment loss on the other tangible assets of CGU-5 is
considered necessary.

REEEEN-2
HRTEHBEERIRTENZE - K
SEEEERAMEFENREESE
B2 EHMEREEE Eh2E
RIEFEBITELNGHERSENHRES
EABM-2EREEE -

EEERS  EAZXEFRINEME
EUREH I eREReESEM-2
B B T AR (BB ) HL 0 sl o B R O AT K

Ol S8 -

HEeEEEN-5
BHE-T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B EEEREURBARE
51,100,000 7t ( 48 & B £756,018,000,%
L) EEIHBEMFREBRA A
(MIEBEWT]) B70% % i (M &
35() ' HRIRESEEBMN-SMERAE
BRRE MERBRESELBN-5/
2R (B §518 8,060,000/ 8 T (—FE = —
F.EET) AEEERERE &
BEMBEELEMN SHEMEREE
fEH & — R ERE -
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

CGU-6

During the year ended 31 December 2023, because of
the environmental regulation implemented by the relevant
PRC authority, the principal operation location of CGU-6
has been relocated to another province in the PRC. The
relocation caused loss of tenders and decrease in
average selling price across various products tiers in
CGU-6, which adversely affected the value in use of
CGU-6 prepared by the management of the Group to
HK$33,984,000 (2022: HK$116,306,000) at the end of
the reporting period. An impairment loss on goodwill of
HK$44,633,000 (2022: HK$nil) directly related to CGU-6
has been fully made during the year.

If the pre-tax discount rate of CGU-6 increases by 1% to
23.70% (2022: n/a), while other parameters remain
constant, an impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$5,363,000 (2022: n/a)
would be recognised.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. ELEE

Customer Licenses and
relationship franchises Total
EFER MBRRESE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEYHER - BE-Z-=F
— year ended 31 December 2022 +T-A=+—HILEE
At the beginning of the reporting period 73 % Ei#]) 25,617 6,662 32,279
Amortisation B (23,608) (132) (23,740)
Disposal HE = (6,316) (6,316)
Exchange differences bE N Z 5 - 8 8
At the end of the reporting period RIFEIR 2,009 222 2,231
Reconciliation of carrying amount BREIEYR — HE-E=-=F
— year ended 31 December2023 +=-A=+—HILEE
At the beginning of the reporting period 73R & 21 #]] 2,009 222 2,231
Additions NE - 387 387
Amortisation 3] (2,009) (134) (2,143)
Exchange differences EHER - 8) )
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHK - 467 467
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—H—H
Cost B AN 393,011 274 393,285
Accumulated amortisation REtHH (391,002) (52) (391,054)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,009 222 2,231
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=fF+=-HA=+—H
Cost BN - 540 540
Accumulated amortisation REtE = (73) (73)
Net carrying amount RREFE — 467 467
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The customer relationship included in intangible assets
was arisen from business combinations in previous years.
The acquisition of the customer base has allowed the
Group to stabilise the revenue base from packaging and
printing business.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts

20.

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

BVEE#®)
AABTEENTFPBAERENBESF
EHRBEAH REEFPERBELAS
B E B 5K M ENRI 15 e Y as EAE -

RBERKR DEERSELEN-6

of customer relationship allocated to CGU-6 are as NEFPBERREENT
follows:
2023 2022
=Fe== TE—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Printing and manufacturing of paper EN I & SiE K @
packages and related materials: KA@M R -
CGU-6 WeELEEMN-O6 - 2,009
At 31 December R+=HA=+—H - 2,009

The customer relationship has finite useful lives. The
customer relationship of CGU-6 is amortised based on
the proportion of estimated revenue for each year to the
projected gross revenue from these existing customers.
The revenue and the consumption of economic benefits
of the customer relationship of CGU-6 are highly
correlated as the fair value of these customer relationship
as at acquisition date was determined based on
contracts and anticipated contracts with these
customers. The licenses and franchises are amortised on
a straight-line basis over 20 years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. R—EBE QTR

2023 2022
—gE=-= T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt aE FET FHEIT
Cost of investment, unlisted SEKA - JEET 289,304 289,304
Share of post-acquisition (losses) DU EEE (B18) =7
profits, net of dividends received (HBRE WA E) (22,042) 48,050
Impairment losses BBEEE (66,400) -
Exchange differences X =R (18,398) (1,859
182,464 335,495
Reclassified as assets held for sale  EFH D A AE{E 35(b)
HENEE (182,464) -
— 335,495
Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the RBEBRR - AEBBE QRS
reporting period is as follows: m

Principal place of

business and place Proportion of ownership

Name of associate of incorporation interest held by the Group Paid up capital  Principal activity
FTEEEBAR AEEREN
BENREH LA S it B RERELLA BRRE TEXH
2023 2022
—B-=F —E-F
% %

FESEOBERAR The PRC 31 31 RMB163,052,000  Provision for cigarette
Changde Gold Roc Printing Co., Ltd. printing package
(“Changde Gold Roc") services

F ARM163,052,0007T  REBEER 0% RE

X English translation of company name for identification purpose - RX AR BIBEMER]

only
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate upon
transfer to assets held for sale

As at 28 December 2023, the Group’s interest in an
associate was classified as assets held for sale with
carrying amount of HK$182,464,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$66,400,000) which was measured
at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell upon transfer. The fair value less costs to sell
has been determined by cost approach based on
adjusted net asset value method. The significant inputs
are observable market price of the assets mainly
including property, plant and equipment and liabilities
mainly including trade and other payables and the
unobservable adjustments on the fair value of these
assets and liabilities.

The fair value less costs to sell of approximately
HK$182,942,000 were classified as level 3 under fair
value hierarchy. Market value of comparable properties
held by Changde Gold Roc in term of size, location,
accessibility and other relevant factors in close proximity
adjusted for differences in key valuation attributes, such
as size, location and accessibility were used to value the
properties, which were determined based on the
management’s expectations for the market performance
and consistent with external sources of information. One
of the key unobservable inputs used in this valuation
approach is depreciated replacement cost per square
metre of factory premises held by Changde Gold Roc. A
decrease in the depreciated replacement cost per square
metre would result in decrease in fair value measurement
of the properties by the same percentage and vice versa.

If an adverse change of 5% in depreciated replacement
cost per square metre of the factory premise properties
held by Changde Gold Roc, while other specific
assumption remains constant, a further impairment loss
on interest in an associate classified as assets held for
sale of approximately HK$2,566,000 would be
recognised. In reality, a change in one of the
aforementioned assumptions may accompany a change
in another assumption which may have an offsetting
impact. Action is also usually taken to respond to adverse
changes in economic assumptions that may mitigate the
impact of any such change.
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21.

R—EBE R ARINER (&)
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T0)  MEREESEQAABEREEE
HNEEXRANREESE - AAEE
BHERATIRBEEAREEFEE
BRALIETFE BABABEREE
(TEBEYE BELERE) REE
(EEREESREMBERKIE) N
BRMENRZEEERBEANE
BRI BRAE -

NI EER SR A4 182,942,0007%8
TREARRBEEBRNE=-FK - &
EeBAMBERD B RATEERER
HhBBEAXAABE A LB aY
ENTEGAN HWERAEESE
DHEEREEZEERE)EARYEM
B BB EEEHMSRENE
HEEF REINBERRR — 5 - % fh
BEREAMANEZETERH A SIE
2 ARESBEEREMESERS
KOWEBBRKAE - BEFAKANFTE
BBRRATHREERMELNLBERT
ERRAEEDLTY®  RZIK -

WEEeBMEREMESTFH KD
WEBBEALIRS% TFEE)  mE
S EBREEFTE  BERSES
RELEEEN—HBEQRERD
H—RERTE#2,566,00087T c B
BRE P ER—RRZEH TN
BES —REHEE) - ATREENIKIER
Z.BENEHIITHUBRELCER
MR B - BRI RE BTN A
BIlLHR & -



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. A —EBE R RNER &)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate upon
transfer to assets held for sale (continued)

The amount of fair value less costs to sell of interest in an
associate upon transfer to assets held for sale have been
determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation report prepared by Flagship.

Fair value of investments

As at 31 December 2022, the associate was a private
company and there was no quoted market price available
for the investments.

Relationship with associate

Changde Gold Roc, which operates and has an
established customer base in Hunan province, the PRC,
is a strategic partner of the Group in developing the
provision for cigarette printing package services business
in the region. The operating period of Changde Gold Roc
was 29 years starting from April 1995. The management
of Changde Gold Roc is in the process of application of
the extension of the operational duration.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate of the
Group during the period from 1 January 2023 to 28
December 2023 and the financial year ended 31
December 2022 is set out below, which represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and adjusted by
the Group for equity accounting purposes including any
differences in accounting policies and fair value
adjustments.

HRERFLENEERR —BKRE
DNEWERBEEE(E)
HEERFLENEERN —BBZ
REAINERAREBERHEKRANE R
EHARREZKSEEEREN G
BERERETE -

REAAREE
RZFZZF+=ZA=+—H0 " B
RElBFILAR R RIGEE W EAI ST
g -

EBE NRINEER
FREBRPERREE KL REFEE
EREFPAR EAKERENERE
HEEENRI B R IRTE EB N REE R o
FREBNKEHRE - ANEFN
ARFARB_ThFE EReBER
BILEHRREREEHR -

BN RNMEER

REBBLERATA S _=F—H—
AERE-_T-_=F+=-_A=+\HL
HEARBZE_T-__F+=H
= t+—HILEVBRFENUBERBE
BT - EEREBERBM B mEE
AlRENEE ARV BRERATESE
FEAEENRESTRERAE &
ReBRNANEZEEZRAAEBES

o
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Financial information of associate (continued)

21. R—EBELATNERS (&)
B ARNBBER (&)

For the
period from For the year
1 January to ended
28 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-E-=F HE
—A—BEE TR —
+=BA=+N\B +=—A=+—H
LEHARE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Gross amount AEEE
Revenue Wz 716,575 1,091,427
(Loss) Profit for the period/year B, (B8 ) % A (98,068) 5,074
Other comprehensive loss for i, FEEMEE
the period/year [=gi=] (52,165) (112827 2)
Total comprehensive loss for B, FE R EER
the period/year B =g (150,233) (107,198)
Group’s ownership interests ANEBERREER 31% 31%
Group’s share of results REBD(REE (30,401) 1,573
Group’s share of other AEEMFEMEE
comprehensive loss [=gi=] (16,171) (34,805)
Dividend received from the associate HifE, & [ B4 A &)
during the period/year W ER B9 PE B 39,691 87,142
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —ZE —=F+_A=+—HILFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. R—REBEQATNER (&)
Financial information of associate (continued) MEQNTNMBEER (&)
As at
31 December
2022
RZE_—
+=—A=+—H
Gross amount AasE
Non-current assets EMBNEE 547,398
Current assets mENEE 799,553
Current liabilities mEEE (287,076)
Non-current liabilities EREBBE (2,775)
Equity i #E 1,057,100
Reconciliation E5p3
Gross amount of equity Ix 4R RE 1,057,100
Group’s ownership interests REEEGEER 31%
Group’s share of equity REE (5 R HE 327,701
Goodwill RS 7,794
Carrying amount of interests R AREE 335,495
Contingent liabilities of associate BE N TN AEE
At the end of the reporting period, there are no contingent RBERR NEERERER—HE
liabilities incurred by the Group in relation to its interest in B AR EREESRAE -

an associate.
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22. INVENTORIES 22 78
2023 2022
=F== g
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
Raw materials [RRTHE 47,247 72,336
Work-in-progress ERA 1,530 1,649
Finished goods RUAK 23,709 28,698
72,486 102,683
A write-down on obsolete inventories of HK$4,364,000 BN ERFERD  REFEMR
(2022: HK$6,037,000) due to the decrease of net 4,364,000/ 7T( =& = =4 : 6,037,000
realisable value has been recognised in cost of sales BT ERAFERHEKARER ©
during the year.
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EZEWRIE
2023 2022
A = i WL e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAET
Trade receivables from B 5 W IR
— third parties = Ei=05 245,037 345,437
— an associate — —[EEE QT - 24,808
245,037 370,245
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEERE (2,461) (6,353)
242,576 363,892
The Group allows a credit period of 60 days to 90 days AEEERTHESEFE60BE90HM
to its trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis FEEH - UTARBEHRREINE
of trade receivables presented based on the date of /B EAR(EAKSERAEE
goods delivery/invoice at the end of the reporting period, a EREREAMBREENE1S
which approximated revenue recognition dates except TEEREERODR S ER R IR
for receivables arising from printing of cigarette packages EE S BEYGRIER SN 258 SR
and manufacturing of laminated papers which are RIBHEREC D AT ©

recognised over time upon application of HKFRS 15.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

By

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (before allowance for credit losses) by

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

23.

g5 RWRIE#E)

RBEHPR - BHERPFKRRER
HIM R D17 (FHRIE BB IR ER)

invoice date is as follows: J(UI N

2023 2022
T a=S it = o

HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAETT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 220,795 341,279
91 to 180 days 912 180 H 10,092 19,415
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 9,504 5,275
Over 365 days BB 365 H 4,646 4,276
245,037 370,245

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) by

due date is as follows:

RBEHR - BHRKFIARZIHE
MERE DT (FIBREEEEEE) T

2023 2022
—E-= —ZF=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Neither past due nor impaired REHIINARIBE 219,399 318,851
0 to 90 days past due 0Z 90 H i Hf 9,912 32,504
91 to 180 days past due 91 % 180 H #1 51 9,190 10,252
181 to 365 days past due 181 =365 B A 4,075 2,157
Over 365 days past due {838 365 H @ 5 - 128
23,177 45,041
242,576 363,892
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in trade receivables
were bills receivables of approximately HK$11,578,000
(2022: HK$24,248,000), which are held by the Group for
future settlement of trade receivables due from third
parties. All bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year.

Other than bills receivables amounting to approximately
HK$11,578,000 (2022: HK$24,248,000), the Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit
loss experience of these debtors, including all available
forward-looking information and expected settlements,
the Group does not consider default has occurred
despite the contractual payments are overdue more than
90 days due to these customers are mainly state-owned
cigarette companies with strong financial positions. The
management of the Group considers default occurred
when the debtors get into financial difficulty or the
debtors do not repay any trade receivables though the
Group has pursuit for several times, which indicate the
Group may not collect these trade receivables.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and impairment of trade receivables is set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 EiZ — T —_=F +—_HA=+—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS 24, ENEE

2023 2022
—_EB-= T

HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Printing and manufacturing of paper  ENfI| & &l 4% 6 5
packages and related materials KABEEM & 50,944 34,007
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEE B (108) (208)
50,836 33,799

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in delivering the goods to the customers at
the reporting date on provision of printing of cigarette
packages and manufacturing of laminated papers. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional. The Group typically
transfers the contract assets to trade receivables when
the products are delivered to the customers. The
increase in contract assets is attributable to the increase
in the ongoing contracts as at 31 December 2023.

The consideration is payable on the earlier of the delivery
and acceptance of the finished goods by customers or
notice from the customer to cancel the order. If the
customer cancels the order, the Group is immediately
entitled to receive payment for work done to date.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and impairment of contract assets is set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BREETZRAKEWEE TKIM
AEETRERABRENEN RES
BRAENBAGFAEERHRE R HRA
BEPRMNRHEEEREIARKREEE
BRI REMOARKRME ° B
BRAEMNRSEGRIR  GHNEES
BREEFHREFA AEREBEER
INERTEPERANEEERE
BHERWFIE - AHNEEZ RN =
TE=F+ZA=+—BHETHE
#IIE AN

REERRFRIMNREKMERFPE
MAEPELBURR ERME AT
fWEFBURRT B - AN BB A Y
BE S RIEFTER TR IR ©

BRAAKERAZEERRRANE
EFENERENGE M RERM =
39 °
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract assets from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

24, EHNEE (&)

RAFE  BEMBREELE 165
NREEFEHNENEEZS (TR
IR B — 4 & M EE A /038 0 Ko s
)T

2023 2022
—=E—_= TEFT

HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FATT

At the beginning of the reporting RS B
period 34,007 144,796
Recognition of revenue AU R 53,829 34,916
Transferred to trade receivables P 2 B e g R TE (33,238) (136,973)
Exchange differences bE N ERE (3,654) (8,732)
At the end of the reporting period R EHEIR 50,944 34,007

There is an increase in the overall contract activities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
ongoing contracts at the end of the reporting period,
thereby increasing the amount arising from the
recognition of revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS 25 HWEWRIE AARERT
AND REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS EBEF®
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Rental and utility receivables TE &~ % he e W sk 8 — 8,397
Other tax receivables H fth U A 18 5,372 4,587
Prepayment for material purchase, EEMBRTER FUE
net of allowance for credit losses (MR =EEEEE) 6,899 7,143
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEE#%¥ - BE &L EN
plant and equipment TR IR 37,127 -
Receivables from sales of SH e EE Rl ey pE IR FhoE
scrap materials 9,297 4,900
Refundable deposits paid to YT HEEREEFR
suppliers and customers, AREF &
net of allowance for credit losses (MR =EEEEE) 3,591 1,626
Rental, utility and other deposits, He - 2RARE;EMZS
net of allowance for credit losses (MR =EEEEE) 4,041 7,176
Staff advances, net of impairment loss 8 T #2k (% EEEE) 624 1,475
Other receivables, net of allowance — H fth iU 18
for credit losses (MR EEEERE) 7,933 4,335
74,884 39,639
Analysed as: DR
Non-current JEENHA 42,608 5,848
Current ENER 32,276 33,791
74,884 39,639

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and impairment of other receivables, including rental and
utility receivables, receivables from sales of scrap
materials, refundable deposits to suppliers and
customers, staff advance, rental, utility and sundry
deposits and others is set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRASEMAZEERR &HEAME
YWk dE (B E K A R KR
R HERM R BKGIR  XHTH
ERALREFPHIRER S BTEHR
M AREMRREARED)RE
M ERE R AR A M SRR MEES9
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 2. CHEARTER RITEHE
BALANCES AND CASH B&

26(a) Pledged bank deposits 26(a) 2IEHRITER

The pledged bank deposits carried interests at
variable rates ranging from 0% to 1.5% (2022: 0%
to 1.56%) per annum. The pledged bank deposits will
be released upon the settlement of relevant bills

ERBRITERRZBENEN
F0%E15%( —F = —4F :0%
F1.5%)T 8 - EBIRITERK
R E BB IR 8 ARRR o

payables.
26(b) Bank balances and cash 26(b) SRITEEARE S
2023 2022
—E-= —E_—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAETT
Bank balances and cash RITEM KRS
Cash at bank and in hand RITER R FERS 201,944 313,292
Time deposits L EEEN 143,854 2
As stated in the consolidated WERE R e RERTH
statement of cash flows 345,798 313,292

Cash at bank carried interests at market rates
ranging from 0.2% to 0.875% (2022: 0.001% to

IRITEFIEMSFNENTF0.2%
F0.875%(ZF == : 0.001%

0.47%) per annum.

Short-term time deposits are made between two
months and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirement of the Group at the
prevailing short-term deposit rates ranging from
4.64% 10 4.96% (2022: n/a).
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 2. CEFRITER RITEHK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) A2,
The Group’s pledged bank deposits, bank balances and NEBEEERBNINEEEAIINNE
cash that were denominated in currencies other than the B ENASESEFRITER - R
functional currency of the respective group entities are TEHEHBREBRESVRAT -

stated below:

2023 2022

—EB-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT

Denominated in: IATRANE A

HK$ BT 83,070 83,122
Euro BX T - 396
United States Dollars (“US$”) E([%EmT)) 9,596 225
British Pound (“GBP”) EEE([3REE]) 115,116 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZEZ—ZE —=F+_F=+—HILFE

27. TRADE PAYABLES

27. EZENRIE

2023 2022
—g=-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade payables — third parties BoENZE — =5 189,418 243,182

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables
presented based on the date of goods receipt/invoice at
the end of the reporting period:

AT RERBERREERE ERAH
B 5 BN FRBR R DT :

2023 2022

SR == T —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 95,964 98,959
31 to 90 days 31E90H 71,733 113,218
91 to 180 days 91 =180 H 21,633 30,228
181 to 365 days 181%E365H = 478
Over 365 days i@ 365 H 88 299
189,418 243,182

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30
days to 180 days. The Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents sufficient to ensure
that all payables are within the credit time frame.

As at 31 December 2023, bills payables amounting to

HK$46,145,000 (2022: HK$54,723,000) were transferred
to suppliers for settling trade payables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HWENRERETER
2023 2022
—E-=F i
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FET

Construction payables FER TR 6,759 11,658

Contract liabilities aHAaE (@) 1,473 137

Deposits received from suppliers 2 EREET S 122 139

Government grants BB & 32 1,781 1,833

Loan payable FERTE K (b) - 11,665

Operating expenses payables — FEfHE &5 & st &

and accruals 5,787 9,646

Other tax payables H 518 13,101 25,083

Salary payable < 11,621 17,102

Sub-contracting fee payable ENSBER (c) 41,011 31,213

Others Hith 10,601 11,860

92,256 120,336

Notes: M E

(@  The movements (excluding those arising from increases and @ RAFE BEMBmMEERFEIS5R
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract NRBBEFPEHNNEHNAEBES (TR
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during IR —F R E LRGN R
the year are as follows: F)WOE

2023 2022

—ZB-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBxT FAT

At the beginning of the reporting period RIRE B 137 2,615

Recognised as revenue R (137) 2,615)

Receipt of advances W ER AR 1,473 137

At the end of the reporting period RIBEHBR 1,473 137
At the end of the reporting period, none of the contract liabilities RBER MESHAEERMKI2

were expected to be settled after 12 months. BR®EES -

(o) As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loan payable of ) RZZEZZF+—A=+—H  K~5£E
HK$11,665,000 due to a third party which was unsecured, BREMNE=FHEF11,665,000%7T -
interest bearing at 4.2% per annum and repayable within 1 year. ZE R AEEE - IRFFEL2%E0 8
The loan payable was fully settled during the year ended 31 WER—FAEE - BRNEREREBE
December 2023. TEC=F+A=T—HIEFEEH

85 o

(¢)  The credit period on sub-contracting fee payable ranges from 60 © EN>BRERANEESNT60HZEQD

days to 90 days. Elle
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 20, HEEE
Commitments and present value of lease liabilities: MEREARERRE
Present value Present value
Minimum  of minimum Minimum  of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
B BEHE &K REME
HEMRK NRERE MERR NHRE
2023 2023 2022 2022
—E-=fF CZB-=f —E-—F —E-—-#%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT FHET FHET
Amounts payable: LANE
Within one year —&FR 147 138 - -
In the second to fifth FE_EZHF
years inclusive (BHEEEMTE) 379 361 - -
526 499 - -
Less: future finance charges & : RAEFIER X (27) - - -
Total lease liabilities MERRAR 499 499 - -

As at 31 December 2023, the weighted average discount
rate applied at 3.55% (2022: n/a) per annum.

30. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING 30.

INTEREST OF A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2022, the amount due was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The
amount was fully settled during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

31. BANK BORROWINGS

31. SRITBE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET

Bank borrowings comprise: RITIEERIE
— Secured — B - 77,667
— Unsecured — IR 131,550 188,966
131,550 266,633

The bank borrowings represent unsecured bank loans
that were covered by several cross guarantee
arrangements amongst the Group’s entities. At the end
of the reporting period, bank borrowings with a clause in
their terms that gives the banks an overriding right to
demand for repayment are classified as current liabilities
even though the directors do not expect that the banks
would exercise their right to demand repayment.

The maturity terms of the bank borrowings based on
repayment schedule pursuant to the loan facility letters
(ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause)

RITEEEAREERRAILZAR
XERZHFRENBREFRITER
RBEHR RITEEWRE GR
KEESCER D EE TRITEE YK
B o BERRBAE  REES
PIEHIRITE 1T B SKIE SR F IR

REBEEFREE H i (BREMIRERE
RIEFOTE) NERKFER - RITHE
SRE BB T

are as follows:

2023 2022
=== —=E=-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHT
Carrying amount repayable based on RiE T8 F & 7 H HiZAR
scheduled repayment dates: ATREEENREE
Within one year —FER 131,550 220,033
In the second year o - 31,067
In the third to fifth years inclusive F-ERF(RREEEME) - 15,633
131,550 266,633
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 131,550 188,966
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE - 77,667
131,550 266,633
2023FFH HNEERBRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

31. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 31. R/ITBEHE)
At the end of the reporting period, the ranges of effective RIBEBR  REBRITEENER
interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest MZE(THEERETANE)BELT

rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

2023 2022

=FT== it =
Per annum Per annum
BF B
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 3.10% — 3.20% 3.50% — 3.85%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE N/A HIBOR plus 1.65%
TiE A BERITRIZE

HEI1.65%

All bank borrowings are denominated in the functional FIERITEENEHEEEE RN
currency of the relevant group entities. BEH¥EHE -
32. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 32. BSHEE
2023 2022
=t =453 T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FExT
Arising from government grants REBN#ESE
Current (included in other B (5t A EAth FE N Rk IE
payables and accruals) NEGER) 1,781 1,833
Non-current JEmED 19,652 22,058
21,433 23,891
The government subsidies received related to the EWBEmEEKBEPEDE - K
acquisition of property, plant and equipment in the PRC. BREEAB - ZRIBHERRIELTIR
The amount has been treated as deferred income and ARREBEBEENMEAIERF
amortised to income over the estimated useful lives of the HANERGMBHEHEWRA - FR-
related assets on a systematic basis. During the year, EIEWAA,792,0008 L (ZF=—4F :
deferred income of HK$1,792,000 (2022: HK$1,882,000) 1,882,000 7T ) 1A 18 2 T 3R /3 H Ath I
was recognised as other income in profit or loss. N
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33.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the components of deferred tax (assets)
liabilities recognised by the Group and movements

thereon during the year.

By

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

33. ELEBIH

ATFRRAERASEERIBNELT
HIR(BE) BEERE D R

o

Undiistributable Timing  Inventories
Intangible profits of difference  provisions  Accelerated
assetsand  subsidiaries Government ECL onrevenue  and salary tax
buildings and associate grants provision  recognition payable depreciation Tax loss Total
HEARR
EVEE BELAN BHGE UEEAN EEBAER ilf:d
REF RAWER BABHE  EERE 2 BEHEE EAEE  HERE  HEER Lh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th TAT Th TAT ThT TAR ThL TET ThL
At 1 January 2022 WZE_—F
—R-H 4,445 28,664 (4,188) (1,117) 5414 (590) 10477 - 43,106
Charge (Credit) to PMEEMBRGIA)
profit or loss (3,500) 11,073 530 (152) (3,959) (1,138) 13,330 (9,292) 6,892
Utilised upon payment 1 ZiEE - (5,019 - - - - - - (5,019
Exchange differences B ZE - (2,413) 316 ® (323) 74 (1,171) 242 (3,183)
At31 December2022 ~ RW-E-—F
and 1 January 2023 T ==
R-Z-=%
== 945 32,305 (3,342) (1,177) 1,132 (1,654) 22,636 (9,050) 41,795
Charge (Credit) to RMERMREA)
profit or loss (157) (12,411) 248 198 1,593 1,088 244 6,489 (2,708)
Transfer to assets ERERELER
held for sale BE - - - 361 - - (3,361) - (3,000)
Exchange differences ~ ERZ%H - (851) 93 29 (03)] 42 (636) 218 (1,146)
At31December 2028 R=B==%
+=ZA=1+-8 788 19,043 (3,001) (589) 2,684 (524) 18,883 (2,343) 34,941

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

33. EAEHIE (£)
PATS A A B 75 3R 45 T H BV IR AE AR R

for financial reporting purposes: KRR DT
2023 2022
—E-=E T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Deferred tax assets BT IR E BE (6,457) (15,223)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEBE 41,398 57,018
34,941 41,795

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$83,147,000 (2022:
HK$95,819,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$67,527,000 (2022: HK$41,914,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC that
can be offset against future taxation profits of the

REEBRR - NEBEREABIEE
18 4983,147,000 (= & = =
95,819,000 7T ) Al K S R A FI o
B R R R RORE|IETEOR - I
E5L67,527,0008 T( = FE = —F :
41,914,000% 7T ) ERIBELEF IR EE ©

RBEHR AEEBATRRHE
MARERHIAER A AAREESL
MEBBRFERFARESFNMNER

subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 years from the year in AIARRIELIE 5 ) -
which the tax loss was incurred:
2023 2022
il = o =g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHIT
Year of expiry BEE
2024 —E - - 1,416
2025 =2 =R es - 174
2026 == 75 12,677 14,207
2027 —EF 27,707 26,117
2028 —E-N\F 27,143 -
67,527 41,914
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. BRA
2023 2022
—EBC-=HF —E-CF
Number Number
of shares HK$’000 of shares HK$'000
BHEE TER BmEE AT
Ordinary shares of SIRMEE0.0058 T
HK$0.005 each Liak
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning and the end of FA3R & H34) [ 3R & H K
the reporting period 10,000,000,000 50,000 10,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
At the beginning and the end of 3R 234 & 8 & K
the reporting period 1,567,884,634 7,839 1,567,884,634 7,839

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

35. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 35. ERIEREXEBR I BEAEE
ASSETS (AND DISPOSAL GROUPS) HENWEE (REEAR)
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
35(a) Jiangsu HY Link 35(a) L& B EY T

On 29 May 2023, Right Tech (China) Limited, being
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement with a third party to dispose of
70% equity interest in Jiangsu HY Link at a
consideration of RMB51,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$56,018,000). Details of the
disposal have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement and circular dated 29 May 2023 and
26 July 2023 respectively. Upon completion of the
disposal, the Group will cease to have any interest
in Jiangsu HY Link. The disposal was not yet
complete up to the date of approving the
consolidated financial statements. A deposit of
approximately RMB28,048,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$30,748,000) was received as at
31 December 2023. The disposal is expected to be
completed in 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

35. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 3. CRIEREXEBRR 2P BAKFE
ASSETS (AND DISPOSAL GROUPS) HENEE(REEAR) ()
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

35(a) Jiangsu HY Link (continued) 35(a) S IEEMEN T (42)
The results and net cash flows of Jiangsu HY Link I#HBENFERE_T-_=FK
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 —E-HF+-_A=+—HIF
summarised as follows: EREERREREFE M0
I
2023 2022
—E:—-= —Zz-=
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B RE FET FHET
(Re-presented)
(Fe&E7)
Revenue g 5 45,664 93,927
Cost of sales SHER AR (44,842) (r7,711)
Gross profit EF 822 16,216
Other income EH g A 7 4,064 2,205
Other net gains and losses ~ EL U 25 & B 18 % 58 8 (8,888) 931
Selling and distribution HE kD HAX
expenses (1,713) (1,836)
Administrative expenses TR (2,783) (5,800)
Finance costs AR A 10 - (193)
(Loss) Profit before BRBLAT (B58) = Fl
taxation (8,498) 11,523
Taxation FiIE 12 942 (818)

(Loss) Profit for the year R IREEBNEE
from discontinued (E51]) &R
operations (7,556) 10,705

Net cash inflow (outflow) REUTKENBESHEA

from: GRdE) =%

— operating activities — RS (9,111) 14,792
— investing activities — B EE (465) (212)
— financing activities — BB EE) (8,870) (3,047)

(18,446) 11,533
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35. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
ASSETS (AND DISPOSAL GROUPS)
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)
35(a) Jiangsu HY Link (continued)

The assets and liabilities of Jiangsu HY Link were
classified as assets held for sale and liabilities
associated with assets classified as held for sale
respectively in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sales and Discontinued
Operations”. The major classes of assets and
liabilities of the disposal group held for sale are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell on the initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period as follows:

35 CRIEBEEBR D BEREFF
HENEE (RHEAR) @)

35(a) I & EEY F (22)

REF B GHREERESHR 15
1B ER)IFREB) B E R B AR ILAE
EXE| IHBEVTNEE
REBED RS BAFELENE
ENBSBAFELENEEMN
B B (E - RUAHERE RN
SR BEHEN L EARN
TREENABERIREEER
ARBERHEXARMEHHR
EEFEWT -

2023
ZE-=
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment (note 16)  ¥1%¥ - BiE L& (55 16) 34,291
Deferred tax assets BIEFIHE E 361
Inventories FE 66,472
Trade receivables Z 5 R EIE 16,609
Other receivables H fth fE W R IE 4,067
Tax recoverable EEEE 2,241
Bank balances IRITAEER 868
Total assets classified as held for IEBEYNF I ERIFE
sale of Jiangsu HY Link HENEERE 124,909
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNFIA 39,633
Tax payable P BiIE 50
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEE & 3,361
Total liabilities associated with ETHBENF o BRESE
assets classified as held for HENEERBRNEEEE
sale of Jiangsu HY Link 43,044
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35. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
ASSETS (AND DISPOSAL GROUPS)
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)
35(b) Changde Gold Roc

35 CRIEBEXRBR D BREF
HENEE (RHEAR) @)

35(b) % & = I

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Brilliant
Circle Development Limited, being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
framework agreement with a third party, being the
major shareholder of Changde Gold Roc (the
“Purchaser”), being effective on 28 December 2023
to dispose of its entire 31% equity interest in
Changde Gold Roc. Details of the disposal have
been disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 28 December 2023. Upon completion of the
disposal, the Group will cease to have any interest
in Changde Gold Roc. The disposal of Changde
Gold Roc is expected to be completed in 2024.

The management has engaged an independent
qualified professional valuer, Flagship to perform
appraisals of fair value less costs to sell of its
interest in Changde Gold Roc at the end of the
reporting period. An impairment loss on interest in
an associate of HK$66,400,000 have been made
upon initial classification as assets held for sale. The
impairment loss has been included in “Other net
gains and losses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Interest in an associate
amounting to HK$182,464,000 was classified as
assets held for sale in accordance HKFRS 5 and
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell at the end of the
reporting period.

BE_T-_-"F+-H=1T—H
LEFE  ARBINEENEB AR
EMBERERARARE—ZE=H
(BB EeBOEER*) (B
AR ER G KT =
F+_A-+NBE® UHE
HRNEESIEA 2 E031%MRHE
HEZSEFBERARGAEA
ZEZ=FF+ZAZ+N\HHA
MR NHESFHETKE - K
SERTBREESBESEM
Bxm o HERESEEHREN =
TTPOFETER o

EEECREBYAEREEM
EREENRERAREGERBE
SISO AR BEREEX
AETEE - R—RBEQF M
T 25 R 1B /518 66,400,000 8 7T 2
RIE D EARBIELENEER
1B - BEBEBEALAEZE
WEERHTHEM RS REERF
] RERBMBHRELLES
R —HBEAANES
182,464,000 7T o S B 1EH
EMEE  WHRREBRIZER
BHAABERLEKAMRE M
MERERE -
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36. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 36. HttIREREER
36(a) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From 36(a) BMEEBFTEL S ENEER
Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TERFAIWAKERREETDAELES
liabilities arising from financing activities, including BEMES BEAENIEReEE -
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising BB EIELBEAR S REN R
from financing activities are those for which cash REeREVNEASENGEREN
flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in EXRDERBEZTDMELERERE
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows HBafE-
as cash flows from financing activities.
Interest
Amount due payable
toanon- (included in
controlling other
interest of Bank Dividend Lease payables and
a subsidiary borrowings payables liabilities accruals) Total
B ERFE
WEAR (FEAH A
FERESR EAMER
HE RITEE ERRE HESRE EtER) Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAR TAR TAR
At 1 January 2022 RZE--%-f—H 2,552 342,428 - 333 173 345,486
Early termination RE&IE - - - (333) - (333)
Finance costs BB - - - - 10,199 10,199
Dividends declared EERKE 1,933 - - - - 1,933
Financing cash flows (note) ~ BEB 2R E (W) - (62,238 = - (10,872) (62,610)
Exchange differences ERER (252) (23,557) - = - (23,809)
At 31 December 2022and RZZE-—F+-A
1 January 2023 =+-Bk
“Z-=f—-f-H 4,233 266,633 - - - 270,866
New leases HHE - - - 565 - 565
Finance costs RERKA - - - 7 4,222 4,229
Dividends declared BEEREE - - 62,715 - - 62,715
Financing cash flows (note) ~ BEB &M E (i) (4,233) (44,587) (62,715) (79) (4,222) (115,830)
Settlement by pledged bank  EBE ERFTER
deposits o9 - (85,219) - - - (85,219)
Exchange differences ERER - (5,277) - - - (5,277)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=ZF
+=A=1+-H - 131,550 - 499 - 132,049

Note: The cash flows represent (i) the proceeds from and

(repayment of) bank borrowings and interest expenses; (ii)
payment of dividends; (i) repayment of amount due to a
non-controlling interest of a subsidiary; and (iv) repayments
of lease liabilities.
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36.

37.

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(continued)

36(b) Major non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group settled bank borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$85,219,000 (2022: HK$nil) by
the Group’s pledged bank deposits directly.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group participants a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group
contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or
HK$1,500 per person to the Scheme, which is matched
by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$4,969,000 (2022: HK$7,006,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these plans by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

36.

37.

HitREREBER (2)

36(b) TEFRERS
BE_T_=F+-HA=+—H
EFE - AR ERAEES R
RITEREEABROTEED
85,219,000/ 7T ( — F — —
BT) -

EBARBERGE
AEBABBMBGEREEZ MM
S ABETE - EIEERAEH
BESFAERE THESATENE
A AEEMFEEREAEH
FEXATHBIB5%1,500/8 7T @ &
EEELASFHERK -

AEERTHBENEE ST EBANE
REEENENGTEIHKE - NAF]
MEBARAERMFEETAOLER
REAMELE - ARREMNRERES - K
SEY M ENETERRRES
TR PR K

ERBR R 48 F 2 4,969,000 7T
(= & = = 4 :7,006,000% 7Tr ) 15
REBIRFT A AETAR L R ML E
ETEIE B S ZBIE L MBI HEER o
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net capital,
which includes amount due to due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary and bank borrowings, net of
structured deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio which is
calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings by the
total equity and adjusted gearing ratio which is calculated
by dividing the net debt by equity attributable to owners
of the Company respectively.
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38.

The adjusted gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

period were as follows:

EXRERERE)
RMERR KABEEAEBELEN
T:

2023 2022
—=E—= —ZF=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Assets BE
Structured deposits EE TR - 2,629
Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITIER 21,832 104,512
Bank balances and cash IRITEBMR NI S 345,798 313,292
367,630 420,433
Liabilities 8E
Loan payable (included in other FEREZ (5 AE A fER
payables and accruals) HERESER) = 11,665
Amount due to a non-controlling et — KT B AR
interest of a subsidiary JEPR AR e IR - 4,233
Bank borrowings RITEE 131,550 266,633
131,550 282,531
Equity xS
Equity attributable to owners of the  ZKA RIS AFE(LHER
Company 2,131,555 2,449,887
Non-controlling interests SRR A 25,100 25,250
2,156,655 2,475,137
Net cash REF (236,080) (137,902)
Adjusted gearing ratio KAREERELR (10.9)% (5.6)%

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issue of new shares as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

ARAREETHEREARE - ER
HEZN—FD  ARBEFEERE
BARRKA R ERE LSRRI E AN AR R o
AEBBREEEHER  BEXN
BB BITHRIA RBITHESHE
CIER A BB K PR LB E AN -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39. €M IHA

Categories of financial instruments SRITAMNER
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
At the end of the reporting period RIREEFR
Financial assets SEMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEFTABSNEREE - 2,629
Amortised cost B SRR 630,213 806,025
630,213 808,654
Financial liabilities = =R
Amortised cost B SRR 385,747 590,229

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade payables, other payables,
amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary
and bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. &M I A&

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk
and interest rate risk. Market risk exposures are further
measured by sensitivity analysis. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

The functional currency of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries is RMB. While most of the Group’s
operations are transacted in the functional currency of
the respective group entities, the Group undertakes
certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group currently does not have hedging policy in
respect of the foreign currency risk. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity at the end of the
reporting date are as follows:

MRREREEEERBE(E)

™S AR
AEENEBEETIBZAZEERR
R R @\ g o 35 B B A R — 2 A
FREDNFE - SEWIH AR
BET

B E R
AEETZMNBRARNMEEERA
RE - ARAKERIEAXBH AR E
BERBNNEERETRS  A&H
TETTE TUIMBETENR 5 - K&
B A A B SNE R B SRR -
A BEEEERIMNERE - I
R B B EARIMNERR -

R

RBEARR ARENEBNES
BAIMERHENEREER SR
BEREENT

2023 2022
—_EB-= T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Assets BE
HK$ BT 56,061 84,027
GBP HeE 115,116 =
Us$ =T 12,836 2,245
Liabilities B8fE
HK$ BIT 1,873 1,484
us$ EIT 546 764
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The Group’s entities are mainly exposed to the currency
of HK$, US$ and GBP.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 2%
on HK$ and US$ or 7% on GBP (2022: 8% on HK$ and
US$) increase and decrease in the RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies, respectively. The 2% (2022:
8%) on HK$ and US$ or 7% (2022: n/a) on GBP
sensitivity rate represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 2% (2022: 8%) on HK$ and US$ or 7% on GBP
(2022: n/a) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes bank balances, receivables or
payables and bank borrowings denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency. A positive
number below indicates increase in post-tax profit where
RMB strengthens against the relevant foreign currencies.
For a 2% (2022: 8%) on HK$ and US$ or 7% on GBP
(2022: n/a) weakening of RMB against the relevant
foreign currencies, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the results.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €T R %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies ERAREEEERBEK(E)
(continued)
Market risks (continued) miEEk (&)
Currency risk (continued) Em b (&
Sensitivity analysis BREDT

REENERBIEAZBT  ELK
REEERR -

TREFMARE DR S ABINESE T
N ETTFHEREE 2% st 3 R EEFHE S
AT (ZFE-—F : HETRET
AEREZESS)NBRT AEER
BREEDN - BLRETHSFKELL
K% (ZF =4 : 8%) K HFEHEH
RELR7% (ZFE-—F : THEH)R
REBRBHINEERTAEEHNEE
- RE D MERIENINESHE
MAEEE®IER  WHRBEHRIEZ
BILTRETN2H(ZF=—4F :8%)
KB T% (== =4F : THEH)HN
[EEREEHABREIBE - GUXE DT
BRERITES  BUWIERERNRIE
ARIRITIEE (ATNRE BB ASNY B
FTHE) o THIEHRRARE K HERIN
BAER  BREEEFESEIN - i
AR S AR INE S T RETTEZ B 2%
(ZFEZZ4F :8%) KA RFERETS
(ZE=——F: TEA) BEHEES
EHEARTE -

Loss for the Profit for the
year year
FEFE FIE A
2023 2022
=g =01 ZE=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THT
HK$ BT (905) 326
GBP g (6,044) -
Us$ EVit (184) 89

Note: This is mainly attributable to the net exposure to outstanding
bank balances, receivables, payables and bank borrowings in
HK$, GBP and US$ at the end of the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. €T R %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies ERAREEEERBEKR(E)
(continued)
Market risks (continued) HigEME (&)
Interest rate risk T 2 b

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and floating-rate borrowings. The Group
currently does not have interest rate risk hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposures and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate risk on floating-
rate borrowings. The sensitivity analysis is prepared
assuming the floating-rate borrowings outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole period. No sensitivity analysis is provided on
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances
as the management considers that the interest rate
fluctuation on variable-rate pledged bank deposits and
bank balances is minimal and the impact from the
exposure to interest rate risk sensitivity is considered
insignificant.

As at 31 December 2023, if interest rates had been 300
basis points (2022: 400 basis points) higher or lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
before tax (2022: profit before tax) would be increased or
decreased by approximately HK$708,000 (2022:
decreased or increased by approximately HK$2,594,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets, other receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with certain trade
receivables are backed by bills issued by reputable
financial institutions.

REE T A D ERRTERRES
REEL BT B RS H S R B A X
R o 5% B B A 3 4 F 5 L
K- R EREZRAEERR -
U BT BEE BB AN KA -

BURE DT

AT 8URE DA TIAR B F B A& B AT
XM EERMETE o SRS TS
RBEN W EHRAKEENEEERR
EEPEAREEMRE HNEERE
RAFBEEMBITHERIIRITER
BRI R B EOR - AR E R R E B
FTERARTEXR WUERFEE
ERRITE R R IRITHERIEHERE
DT

R-—ZT-=€+=-RA=+—H " HF
& ek RRES00EES (=& = —4F :
40018 £ 2 ) BB EMEHBRFT
g AAEBEHEE_T-_=F+_A
S+ —BUEFENRBAIBE(ZF
ZZF  BRRADEF) BIGNgOm &
708,000 70 ( —F = —4F : B ah1¥
JI#72,594,000%7T) °

FERR
FEEERREASENHFIERES
MBEBMERARBRZFHERRN
R - AEENEERREIZRAE
SHEWGRIA - B E - BRI
R BEERRTERRRITER - &
SEYERGEMERRIEMES
IR EAREE S REERBNE
ERfR - HEEEFERFNSBKE
FRETREXRNETE SR KFIA
BRANEERRERIN -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. &M I A&

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and contract assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limit, credit approval, and makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of receivables based on historical
settlement records, reasons for extended repayment
period and past experience. The Group only accepts bills
issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if trade
receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk
arising from the endorsed or discounted bills is
insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 33% (2022:
20%) and 63% (2022: 53%) of the total trade receivables
which are due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the printing and
manufacturing of cigarettes packages and related
materials segment.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on the trade receivables and contract
assets individually or collectively. Except for debtors with
internal credit ratings graded as P4, P5 and P6, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining
trade receivables and contract assets are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
repayment histories for recurring customers and current
past due exposure for the new customers.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances

In order to minimise the credit risk on other receivables,
the management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessments on the recoverability of receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience and
forward-looking information. The Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on other
receivables individually.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by PRC and
international credit rating agencies or state-owned banks
located in the PRC.

In determining the ECL for pledged bank deposits and
bank balances, the management of the Group has taken
into account the estimated default loss rates in reference
to the international credit rating agency and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The management of the Group has estimated the ECL
based on the carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits
and bank balances at the end of the reporting period
multiplying the estimated default loss rates. The Group
has considered the consistently low historical default rate
and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 66% (2022:
68%) of the total pledged bank deposits and bank
balances was due from the three largest banks.

39. &M I A&

MRREREEEERBE(E)

EERR (&)

H it W KB BB AIRIT N R
TTREER
SEEREEMEYGIENEERR
AEEEEERBELGELE B
A8 B N R BE 14 B L E B 3 W kR
B AT Y [B] 14 #E 1T (B Bl FF A o REEAR
BIRMEE B R E A E A R RR
EITERBERS

EEMRTEFRRRITEHRHNEER
RAER RASHFIHIEFTERE
REEFARBI A EEFRERD
RITHH BB ART -

EEEEERMRITERRIRITERA
EHEERARE  AKEEEECH
K2 ZBREEFHENATEEER
(ER) 2 BT BOBRAER - EER
B2 B ¥ HER AR AR E L A0 © X
SEEEBRENHE MRS EIFR
TERLRITESZ REERMGTE
WBERXRGAMEERR A&H
EZRFERENELENE  AB
hEmARAARERERD ERRT
FREBITEREGNEERRIL
BEXe

AEBEFEETNRR  RAAE
WIRIRIT TR R IBITHE BB TR 66%
(ZZF——4F :68%) KB =KERTT °
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances

(continued)

The Group is also exposed to the concentration on
geographic segment of the PRC. At the end of the
reporting period, approximately 99% (2022: 99%) of the
Group’s trade and other receivables are arising from
counterparties whose principal place of operations is the

PRC.

Collective assessment — internal credit rating
The Group’s internal credit risk grading comprises the
following categories:

Internal credit

£RTA#)
BSEMEEREREGE(E)

FERE (&)

H it W KB B AIRIT N R
TTREER ()

REBTAZMED BEREPED
Rk o RMEHR - AEEH99% (=
T :99%) NE 5 K H b UK
BEREAPERFELRMEHNETF
H o

LG — NESE R
AEENAFEERBRFRBEAT
$Hl

Trade receivables/

rating Description contract assets

AESER it ESRWRE SHEE

P1 The counterparty has a low risk of default, Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
refers to state-owned cigarette companies
and receivables backed by bank bills

P1 HFTEDRREIE  BEREEERFR >HFEEEEEE — RER
RITRIBE TR IR EERE

P2 Debtor frequently repays within due dates and  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
has no past due amounts or the length of
customer relationship is more than three
years with no default history

P2 BEBALEEINRARNER - WEBHAFKIE - THEHREEEE — RER
IEFARNREBRA=FATEELD EERE

P3 Debtor frequently repays after due dates and Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
has past due amounts

P3 BEBAREEI B REEL B BHE > HFEAEEEE — RHER
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. @I A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEBERBER (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERBHE — NEEEFAR (&)
Internal credit Trade receivables/
rating Description contract assets
WS EFR it ESEWRIE SRNEE
P4 Debtor with significant outstanding past due Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

balances which expects to be fully settled
within one year

P4 BN —FABBENERRSERH EHMEMEREEER — RHR
REERHVETS A EERE
25 Debtor with significant outstanding past due Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

balances which settles from time to time and
expect to be fully settled within two years

P5 N ERE TR R MERNEBERNEXR SHIEHEEREE — RER
RBEBBERNEBRA EERE
P6 There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired
P6 FEBBRTREELREERE HEHEEEE — 1R
EERE
P7 There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

P7 ERBRETNEBABIBRENHRNE - SRIE M EH
1 7 65 [ £ B R B 22 A 4 [ /) R
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. @I A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies HERREEEERBEK (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERRITH — NEFEEFAR (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TREFVEETEBEEBERF GEN
Group’s trade receivables, contract assets, other AEEBESRUHKIE - GHNEE - H
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances fih EYCKIE - EEBRITERRIRT
which are subject to ECL assessment: EREERE
Financial assets at External Internal
amortised cost and credit credit
contract assets rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBSHEATIRNEREE SN g
RENEE EEFR FEIE 12EA52BEBEERE REAE
2023 2022
—E-=f —ZT-_—fF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
ik TER FET
Trade receivables (note a) 23 n/a P Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 133,415 217,692
B RIFIE izt a) TER 2 HRHEEBRE (REREERE)
P2 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 91,516 109,399
2HBHEEHRECREREERE)
P3 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 19,547 39,358
2HEBEERRCREREERE)
P4 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) - -
2 HENEEER(RUREERAE)
P5 Lifetime EGL (not-credit-impaired) 113 i
FHEHEEHR(REREERAME)
P6 Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 446 3,785
2HEHEEHE(LREEHAE)
245,037 370,245
Contract assets (note a) 24 n/a P1 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 43,943 28,398
AREE (fiita) TER 2 HRHEEBE (REREERE)
p2 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 7,001 5,609
2HEBEERRCREREERE)
P3 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) - -
2HRHEEFRCREREERE)
50,944 34,007
Other receivables 25 n/a (note b) 12-month ECL 20,349 28,128
H i WA TER (H#b)  12@ABBEEEE
Pledged bank deposits 26 AAA* n/a 12-month ECL 21,832 104,512
BEARTER TEA 12EABHEEEE
Bank balances 26 AAA* n/a 12-month ECL 344,007 312,929
RITHEER TNEA 12 A EHEEEE
* The rating is originated from the PRC and international credit & FEARZR B P B % BB = B AT AR o

rating agencies.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. &M I A&

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. At 31 December
2023 and 2022, these amounts are not past due or they have no
fixed repayment terms.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed based on collective assessment as
at 31 December 2023 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). At the end of the reporting period, debtors with
significant outstanding and long aged balances or credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of approximately

MRREREEEERBE(E)

EERR (&)
ERVIE — NEBEEFFAR (B)

GEE

@ HEIRURFEREGHNEEMS  A5E
EEMEEVBRELNFORMBLT
EEEHRREEERNEERE

) BASFEERREEMS  ANEBEF AR
HEHTEEERBREVNSERARES
BEEM R-_E_=FR_T_—
+ZA=+—RH ZEeHAEHNER
TE 2 SR HAR -

EEAEBEERREEHEP—IH -
AEBEHEXFERASEETR -
TREZNZHHFEHEEEECGRY
REERE) ARE-_Z-_=F+—A4
=+ —HOEBTEMTHE S EY
REREHNEEFERBAER - B
WER - P REFRERWFIEREZ
B4 A559,0008 L (ZF=Z4F : 4
3,796,000/8 L) EBERKEERK

REERIHREERENEE AL
EITERIFS

HK$559,000 (2022: approximately HK$3,796,000) for
trade receivables were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

REAE
Average loss rate Trade receivables Contract assets

Internal creditrating ~ RAHBEEFTR EHEEE B 5 EWFE EHEE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC=E —E-—F ZB-=HF —E-— —EC=E —E-—F
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THET TERT TAT
P1 P1 0.06 0.26 133,415 217,692 43,943 28,398
P2 P2 1.39 1.26 91,516 109,399 7,001 5,609
P3 P3 2,97 2.67 19,547 39,358 - —

244,478 366,449 50,944 34,007
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical settlement records, internal credit rating, the
external credit rating data and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated. The contract assets have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded
that the loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

During the year, the Group recorded net provision for
loss allowance of HK$1,172,000 (2022: reversal of loss
allowance of HK$46,000) for trade receivables and net
loss allowance of HK$95,000 (2022: HK$nil) for contract
assets, based on the assessment by individually or
collectively for those credit-impaired debtors or those
debtors with significant outstanding and long aged
balances.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
on 12-month ECL basis. The management of the Group
considers the pledged bank deposits and bank balances
that are deposited with the financial institutions with high
credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets. The
management of the Group considers pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are short-term in nature and
the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.
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39.

€®WMITA#®)
MEEREEEENKRE (&)

FERR(E)
7& A2 n'y:fl_ﬂl_ W _L/Z {A_jgj n%fx‘& (£§)
EABRXDERELAELE A
MEEFELINBEEFREEMAE
Iﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁK%x&Ki%ﬂ%
Tﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%°%ﬁ
%%@‘@Eﬁuﬁ%ﬁiﬁ
WA%WW%M%ME% BHEE
AR HER— ﬁ@éﬂ%?%ﬁ%m
REER R BR R - Bt - A&E
RRBHRYFBENBEFTEGNE
ENEERAERE -

RAFEE  AEERBEHZELHEE
BEREMNEBASZSEEARER
&Ea%aq,m@%wwmgmlﬁmﬁé
BT 2R MESRRRESRSE
B FEE1,172,0008 T (—ZFE - —
F : EIB R ] 46,000 8 7T) ML A
& E SRS B B B 5 F50.95,000 8 7T
sl eSS

Zli‘il%z:”im{lﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%%“ fERT
mEM RN IR - BEWRITER
RITHERA IR - $§’éla$¥
RE - FHREEFLBR SN RHE
BRNCEMRTERARRTERBE
FERBRNEREE AKEERE
RADBERBITERMRITERER
HEE  MESEEMRBETANE
E’%Jzﬁfﬂic,\ﬁ”‘li’ﬁﬁ%? I 18
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. eRT R %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEBERBER (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERTE — NS BFFAR (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL THRETREBEBETERE S RUK
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the HEREHBHREEBENES -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HTEH TN

FEBR FEBE

(RHHE (H#E
=EERE) E8RE) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FAET FH&T
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—#F—HF—H 4,801 2,143 6,944
(Decrease) Increase in Bt O ) 15 0 588
allowance, net (1,856) 1,810 (46)
Exchange differences N =% (377) (168) (549)
At 31 December 2022 and MN-ZEBE__F
1 January 2023 +—A=+—H8K
—E-=f—H—H 2,568 3,785 6,353
(Decrease) Increase in BE CRi) 1B InFE&E
allowance, net 2,060 (3,232) (1,172)
Transfer to assets held for sale #E#EEFEH EMNEE (2,332) - (2,332)
Exchange differences [EHZ (281) (107) (388)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=%
=T 2,015 446 2,461
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is ERENBEREBRAERRBRENBR
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial B R B O A g (AEBSAHE
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, BB ETRERT)  AEEMEE
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation SREWKIE - NEBEEHERAFER
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. The Group YERITENAURE 45 K FRIE - BEEE
has taken legal action against the debtors to recover the HE Z NI BIBEITE o

amount due. None of the trade receivables that have
been written off is subject to enforcement activities.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. TR %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEBERBER (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) SRR (E)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERTE — NS EBTAR (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETREBEBEDERGHNEER
that has been recognised for contract assets under the REMEHEEBENES -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL

not credit-

impaired)

2 HITEHR

EEFE

(RHEE

EERE)

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 January 2022 W_ZT—_—_F—H—H 227
Exchange differences PEH =% (19)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 @ A-_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—HxK 208

—E-=%—H—H

Decrease in allowance, net BRI R (95)
Exchange differences bEH =% )
At 31 December 2023 R=-B-=F+=H=+—H 108
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued)
The following table shows the movement in 12-month TREREEMEWFIRRER12(E A
ECL that has been recognised for other receivables.

39. TMTA4)
MHEREEEERIE (4

EERK (&)

ERVIE — NEBEEFFAR (B)

BEMEEEENES -

12-month ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

1218 A 851

EEEER

(RHEE

=8RE)

HK$’000

FHT

At 1 January 2022 N-_ZE-_—_%—HF—H 268
Decrease in allowance, net BER A5 (28)
Exchange differences PEH =% (21)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 AT -_—F+_-_A=+—HK 219

—E-=%—H—H

Increase in allowance, net B INFEE 132
Exchange differences PEH =% (7)
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=%+=-A=+—H 344

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has available unutilised bank borrowings facilities
of approximately HK$404,372,000 (2022:
HK$362,049,000).

RBESRR
REERDESARE  ~RESE
TERY KR MRS FEERB B
EEEERB/TENKT  UAKRE
B ERHESURMERERER
BNFE EEESERRITEEREN
BABN - WHERETERIZE -

REBEBKBIRITEERTERDESD
TR - RIEBHR  AEEATRED
WMABARITEERELDN A
404,372,000% T( = £ = = F:
362,049,000 7T ) °
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities and
lease liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

39. &M I A&

BEREREEEERBER(E)

RBESRE(E)

TRFVAEEcHAREIEERE
MFERE AR - DRIBAREEA
EETRABNRFEHNEENTR
BEAMRRERERRK - HitE &
BELREEAENIHEDRERE

EEAHPETE -

RIFEENERAERERE © WA

=)

1SN
=]

A

MARZE AR -
R EARE R R E PTG -

AR R B

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orless than 1yearto undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years cash flows amounts
REX £z KRRE

MEFIFE H—FR mE RELH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx TAT THEL THT

At 31 December 2023 R-B-=#£+-A=t+-8H
Trade payables BoEMNTE - 189,418 - 189,418 189,418
Other payables EthEFE = 47,468 = 47,468 47,468
Bank borrowings RITEE 3.15 133,338 - 133,338 131,550
Lease liabilties HEAR 355 147 379 526 499
370,371 379 370,750 368,935

At 31 December 2022 WZE-_—F+-A=1—H
Trade payables B HENTE - 243,182 - 243,182 243,182
Other payables B ZIE - 76,181 - 76,181 76,181

Amount due to anon-controling e —FRHBARIFERR

interest of a subsidiary 2SR - 4,233 - 4,233 4,233
Bank borrowings BOEE 291 272,957 - 272,957 266,633
596,063 - 596,553 590,229
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LRI A #)

DREEE

A TARRBEAERNAREERLE
RZEFVHREANBEZEERAEBR
BEMHHRELNF 1R AABER
EFfREZARNBE=ZEHRZS M

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39.
Fair value measurements
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured
at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in these
financial statements on a recurring basis across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair

Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement ARBEFESEZERMEAZE
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input BHEBREASEEATEEEEY

that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of BoMMIATEZRIET -

inputs are defined as follows:

F—R(mRf)  AEEEFE
RESGHREEXAEEGRD
152 WECREHE)

o Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in o
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included e FIL:F—HABEIMEN
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or S BESBEEEIFEEE

liability, either directly or indirectly; BHzEAER

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the o ZFEZH(ZESL BEBRZE
asset or liability. EXBEZHAER o
(a) Assets measured at fair value (a) BAAREBEFENEE
Fair value Valuation technique and Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs unobservable input
SREE RAT RSN LEE MABEER HERGRIZAAUE EXTAERRAYE
2023 2022
“ECZE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
Financial assets at FVPL
BANBERABE
— Structured deposits - 2,629 Level3 Discounted cash flow — Future Estimated return (note)
— BENER F=R cash flow are estimated based {5t B3R (Fi5E)

Note: The higher the estimated returns, the higher the fair value,

vice versa.

on estimated retum, and

discounted at a rate that reflects

the credit risk of various
counterparties

FREERE - ARHERE
REEFEREE - WHERE
FHFHEERER
MERR

M« et EHE

Z IR o

= ARBERR R

i
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. TR %)
Fair value measurements (continued) RAREEE(E)
(a) Assets measured at fair value (continued) (a) BAREBEFEMEE(S)
Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements E-BALBHEIGENE

Financial assets at FVPL —
Structured deposits

RAREEFABEN
CRMEE - £BEER
2023 2022
—=E—_= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
At 1 January Rn—A—H 2,629 -
Purchase of structured deposits B A &1 14 17 3% 5,513 230,128
Fair value gain on realised EERAEB TR
structured deposits N EEKE 13 784
Redemption of structured deposits i [B] 45 & 1417 5% (8,096) (228,213)
Exchange differences bE 5, = 58 (59) (70)
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H - 2,629
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during BE-_T-_=-Fk=-_FT=-—
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. +TZA=+—RHLEFELREEA
HEHE=FE -
During the year, fair value gain on realised structured RAFEE - BZFBREB TR
deposits amounted to HK$13,000 (2022: NAEBEKZE18,0008T(=F
HK$784,000) are included in “other net gains and T 1 784,000 7T ) st AR A
losses” in the consolidated statement of FEHKREN [ Eals Rk EE
comprehensive income. JRER] oo
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)
Valuation processes of the Group

The management of the Group is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
will establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. Information about the
valuation techniques and inputs used in determining
the fair value of various assets are disclosed above.

Fair value of financial instruments that are
recorded at amortised cost

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values. Such fair values have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis,
with most significant inputs being the discount rate
that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

39. &M I A&

[REEFE(E)

(a)

(b)

BARBENEBHNEE(HE)

AL B BB
AEENEEERERTAEN
A BEFENGERMkEA
g - A EESBEBENAAE
Bl AREERAFHNTSA
BREUR - MEXERGE R
AT AEERETELENE
ARERT;BABE - E@A
REEREEAABEMNGER
i e 5 ABUREVE RN £ SR

BBERACHENETHMIAND
REE
ARAEZRRNEAMBRE
BRBHERATENEREENRS
MEENKREESEE QA EEE
o ZERARBEIREARE
BERARTBRERENINE
T REZENBABEBRENAR
MR FHEERRNITEE -

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EAREIE
2023 2022
=== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
Capital expenditure contracted but LA T &IBED T 4MER
not provided for in the consolidated R 4R& B # iRk B
financial statements in respect of: WEARFRX :
Acquisition of property, WHEWE - BE
plant and equipment &L 39,575 7,398
41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 4. ZAREE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has

provided a corporate guarantee to a bank for banking
facilities granted to a third party in the amount of
approximately HK$10,963,000 (2022: Nil).

RBERR AEBERKRTE=ZR
B4R 17 Bt & 49 10,963,000 7T ( = F
4 #) [ERITIRE A RIER o
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42. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTION ON ASSETS 42.

Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, the bank loan facilities
granted to the Group were secured by the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately HK$177,621,000 (2022: HK$147,249,000),
investment properties with carrying amount of
approximately HK$37,811,000 (2022: HK$77,394,000)

and corporate guarantee issued by the Company.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged its
bank deposits of approximately HK$21,832,000 (2022:
HK$104,512,000) as security for banking facilities of bills
payables granted to the Group.

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43.
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions
and balances with related parties:

(@) Transactions with related parties
The Group had the following significant transactions
with related party during the year:

BEEIKFDRS

BEEER

RIRERR - AEEERRITERE
E o RIAREERMEEL 177,621,000
I (= F = —4F : 147,249,000 7T )
W BERFZH- ﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁiﬁ
378110008 ©T( = T = = &
77,394,0008 7T ) K11% & W LA AR
a1 A A BERIEER o

RIBEBRR - REBEFERITHER
#921,832,000% T( = £ = = &F:
104572000/573)7%%*%$%IE’JFE
NEBRITREMNER o

RELRZ
Briz e MR mR E My ATk EES -
AEBERBEETNR S MAEHMT

() HREATANXS
RAFERN > AEBETTIIE
REABETRS -

2023 2022
e = T —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT
Company controlled by HEAAR—HRES
a director of the Company: EHNAT
Purchase of printing and packing & B E[ffll [z B 5 1 28
machineries - 622
Purchase of printing and packing & B ENfll [z B 241 %
materials 1,513 -
Disposal of printing and packing & ENfl & B 5 # 22
machineries 1,637 -
An associate —RgE AT :
Sales of printing and SHE R R BERER R
manufacturing cigarette NEEl R
packages and related materials 40,300 78,452
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties
Balances with related parties are disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position and in

Ft+ZA=+—HILFE

43. BEL X5 (4)

(b)

BEE S WA
HRE T WERNER A MR
REARA MG RARIMES0 W EE

note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. In ot RIREHR EHEMAR
addition, at the end of the reporting period trade IH174,0008 t(ZF = =
payables amounting to HK$174,000 (2022: 212,000 7T) B TRAR
HK$212,000) were due to related parties controlled EEHIRREET o
by a director of the Company.
Compensation of key management personnel (c) EEEBAEMNE
The remuneration of the directors of the Company RAFEE  KRARIESEMHEM=E
and other members of key management during the EEBAEBHMET ¢
year was as follows:
2023 2022
== -
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Short-term benefits p SRR 6,586 6,363
Post-employment benefits BERR 1212 A 162 195
6,748 6,558

The remuneration of key management is determined
by the remuneration committee of the Company
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

TEEERENMMNE B AR E
?E@”“%Jﬂl)\%%ﬁ&m%ﬁ%
LRETE

H’}*
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[T =

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

44. BHFEAROR R

2023 2022
= S st —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHETT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries M B A T AR 1,210,341 1,243,906

Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b pE Uk sh18 481 1,095
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUS [T B A &) 5 IE 811,827 897,955
Bank balances and cash RITHER KRR S 21,675 81,869
833,983 980,919
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables and accruals EMENZKIERETER 1,820 1,471
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI IENGIE e 100,728 100,761
Bank borrowings RITEE - 77,667
102,548 179,899
Net current assets REEEEE 731,435 801,020
NET ASSETS BEEFE 1,941,776 2,044,926

Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital A& 7R 34 7,839 7,839
Reserves (i 44(a) 1,933,937 2,037,087
TOTAL EQUITY EREmE 1,941,776 2,044,926

BHERARERER S _MFE=A
“tHN\BEESeHENREER
WHTINATRERESE :

This statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Huang Wanru Mr. Deng Wei Chao

EEWMGE WEEEE
Director Director
EF EE
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EHZE —ZF —

44.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

ZE+-AS+—RILEE

44, BRI T (&)

(@) F2FRENEH

Dividend Share Other ~ Exchange Retained
reserve premium reserve reserve profits Total
RERE  ROEE Efhfae  ERRE  REEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th TER TAL TARL TARL ThR
At1 January 2022 AZE-—4—-f-H - 4,936,913 (4,185,977) (22,238) 1,362,806 2,091,504
Loss for the year FEER - = = = (7.812) (r812)
Other comprehensive loss EEEMZEBE
for the year
— Bxchange differences arising  — BB E% A
from translation from EREEmES
functional currency to EHES
presentation currency - = = (46,605) i (46,605)
Total comprehensive loss EELEFRLE
for the year - - - (46,605) (7.812) (54,417)
Transactions with owners: HRFEANRS
Contributions and distributions ~ #Z R 7k
Final dividend for 2022 proposed  —ZE=ZFEZ Nk
distrioution (note 15) RERE (B2 15) 62,715 . = - (62,719) -
62,715 - - - (62715) -
At 31 December 2022 and RZZE--F
1 January 2023 TZR=+-Ak
—“2-=%-f-H 62,715 4,936,913  (4,185977) (68,843) 1,292,279 2,037,087
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - (6,869) (6,869)
Other comprehensive loss EEEMZEFE
for the year
— Bxchange diferences arisng~ — RHAEIR B A
from translation from SRERMmEE
functional currency to ERES
presentation currency - - - (33,566) - (33,566)
Total comprehensive loss FEPABELE
for the year - - - (33,566) (6,869) (40,435)
Transactions with owners: HBEEANRS
Contributions and distributions ~ FZRAF
Dividend recognised as distrioution #:2 /A7 R &
(note 15) (Fzx15) (62,715) o - - - (62,715)
(62,715) - - - - (62,715)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ%F
+-A=t+-AH - 4936913  (4,185,977) (102,409) 1,285,410 1,933,937

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

45. AR BB A AIFHE

RZB-_=ZFR_ZF-__F+_-A8
=+—H XRFHRBRARFEBWOT :

226

Place of Issued and fully paid
establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/
incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
HY/EREL/ BRTREHMR EAAREERRE/
WEARER EXnY LRRE/ERBA BRIRE/REBERREELH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-ZfF  ZE-C “g-=F -E--f
Briliant Circle Group Holdings Limited®  British Virgin Islands US$1 100% = 100% - Investment holding
EBEERRERARA EBRAAE 157 RERR
Briliant Circle Management Limitedl? British Virgin Islands US$200 100% 100% = = Investment holding
BHERARARA EBRAKS 200%TT RERR
Briliant Circle Printing & Packaging Limited” British Virgin Islands US$10,000 - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBHRIBREERRRA EBRAKS 10,000%7T RERR
Briliant Circle Development Limited” Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 = = 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERBRAA & 2,000,000770 REER
Eagle Swift Limited” British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% 100% - - Property holding
Hong Kong 157 BENE
RERLES/
HIERORERA! The PRC HK$9,600,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holing
(Shenzhen Guilian Printing Limited") H 9,600,00077T RAER
AR BEMHERAR* The PRC RMB28,350,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing of paper
(Shenzhen Jinshengcai Package H AR 28,350,000 70 packaging materials
Material Co., Ltd.) BEM BRI
MR IBERAT The PRC RMB194,720,000 = 7 100% 100%  Leasing of investment
(Shenzhen Kecai Printing Co., Ltd.) i ARHE194,720,0007C properties
RENZHE

*

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 — L —=F+-_H=+—HIEFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE = 45. KX R B RlFF1E (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid
establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/
incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
A/ BRTREHAR NG 2o F T
WEARER EXhy LERA/EMRA BRIRE/RAERRREELA TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-ZF  -E--f  CZBC=E -Z--f

ERSFWMREFAR AR The PRC US$12,461,000 - = 100% 100%  Printing of cigarette
(Bengbu Jinhuangshan i 12,461 000%7 packages, printing of
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd.") packages and decoration

matter, research and
development on printing
technology
BEAZIR  ERE
5Dl EDRI LA RN
RHERRE

EREREVEREERAR The PRC 1S$3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Printing of cigarette
(Xiangyang Jinfeihuan Color Package 3,000,005t packages
Co., Lid) HpERR S

RmeBERARNREERAD  ThePRC RMB10,000,000 - = - 100%  Sales of RFID products
(Shenzhen Jinlianda Inteligent H® AR%10,000,00070 HERRRIER
Packaging Technology Co., Ltd.")

Forever Youth fimited” British Virgin Islands US$100.00 100% 100% - = Investment holding

FEARARNA KERIHE 100.00%7T RERR

Right Tech (China) Limited” Hong Kong HK$1 - = 100% 100%  Investment holding

{BE(HE)FRARA & 1B RERR

KERRERERRAR" The PRC RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Zhuhai Baozhuangbao EF AR 50,000,00070 REHR
Investment Co., Ltd.")

IEBRENTREERAR The PRC RMB63,000,000 - - 70% 70%  Sales of RFID products
(diangsu HY Link Science & i AR 63,000,00070 HESEAAER
Technology Co., Ltd.")

THEMEMHEARAR The PRC 1S$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Sales of RFID products
(Jiangsu Jinxunda 10T Technology i 20,000,000% 7T HESTERAER

Co. Ltd)

2023FF#H HEEIRBRAF]

227



228

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B2 L =F+-_A=1T—HIEFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE = 45. & R B RlFF1E (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid
establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/
incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
A/ BRTREHAR NG 2T
WEARER EXhy EERA/EMRA BRIRE/REEERREELA TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2023 2022 2023 2022
“E--f  -"®--fF CZECZE —EoF
Emperor Great Investments Limited? British Virgin Islands US$100.00 100% 100% - - Investment holding
FRRERRARA EBRAAS 100.00%7 REER
(Giant Sino Investments Limited? British Virgin Islands US$100.00 60% 60% 40% 40%  Investment holding
FERERRAFA EBRAAS 100.00%7T REER
Fortune Chaser Limited? Hong Kong HK$100.00 = = 100% 100%  Investment holding
RIRERATA &b 100,007 RERR
BENEMBERAR! The PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Hefei Litu Technology Company Limited) % ARE5,000,0007C RAER
TP IENEERARAR
(Shenzhen Kecai Industrial Property The PRC Ni - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Management Limitec) H i TER
EEMSAYAENEERAR The PRC RMB30,000,000 - - 100% - Manufacturing of paper
(Bengbu Jinshengcai Packaging il AR 30,000,007 packaging materials
Material Co., Ltd.) BlE BEITR

*

English translation of company name for identification purpose * B AR ETBEMER)

only

46.

Kind of legal entity:

" Limited liability company

& Company established as foreign invested limited liability company
i Company incorporated as a sino-foreign equity

st Limited liability company established in the PRC

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during
the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The re-presentation of comparative information is
attributable to () the discontinued operations; and (i) the
reclassification of certain comparative figures, where
necessary, to conform to the basis of presentation and
the classification adopted in the current year.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Five year financial summary

hEHBERE

(A) RESULTS (A) 4

For the year ended 31 December
BET-A=1T-HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NE BT ZE--§ B IZEI=f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET THx THL TET TR
(Re- (Re- (Re- (Re-
presented)  presented)  presented)  presented)
(s &3) (e &31) (&3) (e &31)

Revenue g 1,412,009 1,263,278 1,054,555 928,475 716,658
Operating profit (loss) LERT (BR) 189,028 (15,002) (61,220) 5740  (109,383)
Share of result of associates D hBA AT %EE 41,751 59,304 70,126 1,573 (30,401)
Share of result of a joint PME—HRELE

venture E3 (930) 214 (83) 38 -
Profit (Loss) before taxation BR AR (ER) 229,849 44,516 8,823 7,351 (139,784)
Taxation B (56297)  (36,224) (4,847) (6,641  (16,359)
Profit (Loss) for the year HECEEBR

from continuing operations FERF (B8) 173,552 8,292 3,976 (1,290) (156,143)
Profit (Loss) for the year B IHEREKE

from discontinued operations &% (E518) 3,334 630 6,646 10,705 (7,556)
Profit (Loss) for the year FEHT (EB8E) 176,886 8,972 10,622 9,415 (163,699)
Attributable to: AT A LRSS :

Owners of the Company AREHEAA 175,886 8,915 8,628 6,204 (163,881)

Non-controlling interests FERER 1,000 57 1,994 3,211 182

176,886 8,972 10,622 9,415 (163,699)
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Five year financial summary

hEMBERE

(B) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (B) EEREE

At 31 December

Rt=A=t-H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NE BT T4 B IZEI=f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET THx TER TAT THET

TOTAL ASSETS EEAE 3,647,153 3,588,878 3494241 3,194,661 = 2,713,527
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE (720,977) (819,051) (820,661) (719,524) ~ (556,872)

2926176 2,769,827 2,673,580 2,475,137 2,156,655

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LA T A LHE{GHER :
Owners of the Company /NETEZZEUN 2,904,301 2,746,446 2,646,887 2,449,887 2,131,555
Non-controlling interests R RS 21,875 23,381 26,693 25,250 25,100

2,926,176 2,769,827 2,673,580 2,475,137 2,156,655

Note: The comparative figures are not restated on application of Mzt : BMEREE_Z-NF+-A=1+—H
HKFRS 16 for the first time in the year ended 31 December IFFEERERBBVHERELELZE 16
2019. RRESILLRET -
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Particulars of investment properties

REYEFE

Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at

AEER-_T_=F+_A=+—HBHEA®

31 December 2023 are as follows: KEMERNFBRAT -
Approximate
gross floor Effective %
Location area  Lease expiry Type held
FEBER
2% BARERR HEIHA EEil Bk
The PRC
HE
An Industrial Complex Held by Shenzhen Kecai 103,970.73 2052 Industrial 100%
Printing Co., Ltd., No. 3 Jinlan Road, Kecai Industrial Zone, square metre
Kengzi Town, Pingshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
REEREAITITLRFERY TRE S WK 35% 103,970.73 “TRCF T¥
BAIMMTEOBEERARFANIRGAER FhHA
An Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 11,681.07 2057 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 6252 Donghai Avenue, square metre
Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
PREZAEEETRERREAE62525 11,681.07 F 7K “TRtF I¥
HEEEEIIMRDIRERARNRENIEGEER
An Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 18,268.46 2045 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 935 Changzhang Road, square metre
Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
REZEEEET RS R R 355 18,268.46 T 71 K “ZMRE I¥
BEEEEIIMRDRERAARAENIEGEER
Portion of an Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 6,683.42 2063 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 1139 Yannan Road, square metre
Huadong Industrial Park, High-tech Research and Development
Zone, Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
REZBEHETRERRIRMEXRERERBZERSAR 668342 TFHK ZERZF ==

1139 mEFE L FZ L MRNRERARBEN T ERSREEN

35
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Particulars of investment properties

REYEFE

Approximate Effective %
Location saleable area  Lease expiry Type held
P aR
ok ERE® HEZHA oL BOl
Hong Kong
B
1st Floor, No. 38 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, 6,099.99 2047 Industrial 100%
New Territories, Hong Kong square feet with
ancillary area of
63.57
square feet
BAMANEL LI 385 112 6,099.99F 77 R TNt I¥
ERIM AR
6357 AR

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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